

# **Walden University ScholarWorks**

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

# Strategies Organizational Leaders Use to Engage Employees

Latisha Valencia Lewis Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Business Commons

# Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Latisha Valencia Lewis

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

**Review Committee** 

Dr. Inez Black, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Denise Land, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Brenda Jack, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2023

### Abstract

Strategies Organizational Leaders Use to Engage Employees

by

Latisha Valencia Lewis

MBA, Keller Graduate School of Management, 2007

BA, Mercer University, 2002

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

April 2023

#### Abstract

For many organizations, employee engagement is a major component that drives a business's productivity, performance, and profitability. Some healthcare leaders lack strategies to engage employees. Grounded in Kahn's employee engagement theory, the purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies healthcare leaders use to engage employees. The participants were eight healthcare leaders in a greater Atlanta, Georgia, healthcare facility who successfully implemented strategies to engage employees. Data were collected from Press Ganey quarterly engagement scores and semistructured interviews. Data were analyzed using Yin's five-phase process, from which three themes emerged: (a) mentorship, (b) leadership, and (c) teamwork. A key recommendation is for leaders to implement mentorship programs to promote employees and career growth. The implications for positive social change could include providing more quality healthcare through engaged employees resulting in satisfied patients and profitable organizations.

# Strategies Organizational Leaders Use to Engage Employees

by

# Latisha Valencia Lewis

MBA, Keller Graduate School of Management, 2007

BA, Mercer University, 2002

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

April 2023

# Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to my baby brother, Jeremy Deion Lewis, who was taken from us way too soon. You are truly missed, but I dedicate this to you. I will always and forever love you. I would also like to dedicate this study to my nephew, James Earlington Lewis, III. This is for you. I love you so very much.

## Acknowledgments

I would like to first and foremost thank the Lord above for providing me with the patience, strength, and knowledge to successfully achieve this goal. I would like to thank my parents James and Beverly Lewis, Sr., and my brother James Jr., for their endless words of encouragement, love, and support. I would next like to thank all my friends and coworkers who assisted me on this journey. Finally, I would like to thank Dr. Diane Dusick and Dr. Inez Black for the many phone calls, the emails, and the words of encouragement they provided to push me through this challenging process. I would like to thank Dr. Denise Land and Dr. Brenda Jack my committee members.

"For I know the plans I have for you, declares the Lord, "plans to prosper you and not to harm you, plans to give you hope and a future". Jeremiah 29:11.

# Table of Contents

List of Tables	iv
Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem Statement	3
Purpose Statement	3
Nature of the Study	3
Research Question	5
Interview Questions	5
Conceptual Framework	5
Operational Definitions	7
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	7
Assumptions	7
Limitations	8
Delimitations	8
Significance of the Study	8
Contribution to Business Practice	9
Implications for Social Change	. 10
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	10
Conceptual Framework: Employee Engagement Theory	. 12
Comparative and Supportive Theories	. 25
Leadership Styles	37

Employee Performance	50
Transition	56
Section 2: The Project	58
Purpose Statement	58
Role of the Researcher	58
Participants	60
Research Method and Design	62
Research Method	62
Research Design	64
Population and Sampling	66
Ethical Research	68
Data Collection Instruments	69
Data Collection Technique	72
Data Organization Techniques	75
Data Analysis	77
Reliability and Validity	79
Reliability	79
Validity	80
Transition and Summary	83
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	85
Introduction	85
Presentation of the Findings	85

Theme 3: Teamwork	94
Application to Professional Practice	98
Implications for Social Change	100
Recommendations for Action	101
Recommendations for Further Research	102
Reflections	103
Conclusion	103
References	105
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	171

# List of Tables

nes87
.158

#### Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Organizational leaders should comprehend the meaning of executing employee's engagement strategies to build productivity and profitability. One of the many critical components in the world of business is employee engagement, which effects a company's bottom line (Rafiq et al., 2019). The issue of poor employee engagement has grown, and many leaders have been challenged with what strategies to use with employees to ensure that the organization remained productive and profitable (Haque et al., 2021). Leaders should understand factors that cause engaged and disengaged employees and create strategies to address those factors (Joubert & Roodt, 2019). An organization's success derives from the positive involvement of a leader's willingness to motivate and engage employees (Riyanto et al., 2021). Complexity within organizations has grown and leaders should find strategies to manage the forces that drive employee motivation, trust, and high engagement (Lee et al., 2021). Therefore, for organizations to remain successful, leaders should accomplish increased productivity and profitability in a quickly changing business climate.

## **Background of the Problem**

In business, employee engagement and disengagement are issues of concern for organizations worldwide. Employees who experience conflicts that affect their emotional engagement, such as lack of appreciation, intimidation, micromanagement, and high demands will develop elevated levels of stress and are more likely to be emotionally disengaged (Li et al., 2019a). The characteristic of an engaged employee is an individual who is well-balanced and emotionally invested in the mission and vision of the

organization (Rasool et al., 2021). Emotional engagement positively impacts job satisfaction, while profound fatigue decreases productivity, job satisfaction, and organizational commitment (Lebron et al., 2019). According to the job demands-resources (JD-R) model, employee engagement has been low when job demands are high, causing exhaustion, leading to disengagement and job burnout (Falco et al., 2021). However, leaders continue to face challenges when creating strategies to engage employees.

Leaders encounter employee disengagement as a major issue for organizations worldwide. Disengaged employees in all business sectors experience an increase in employee turnover resulting in a reduction in profits, loss of production, and an increase in hiring and training new employees (Skelton et al., 2019). According to Waltz et al. (2020), there were over 70% Americans who were disengaged in their organization. In addition to the inflated cost to organizations, disengagement impacted employees' efficiency, changed their perspective, and created skepticism (Chawla, 2019). Organizations reported that having disengaged employees cost an average of over \$3,000 annually per employee in salaries (Schmidt et al., 2019). Companies allotted millions of dollars annually to hire, train, and retain employees, and when they encountered disengaged employees, the costs they lost severely crippled an organization (Hejjas et al., 2019). By contrast, organizations did thrive when their employees outperformed their competition (Kleine et al., 2019). Organizations consistently looked for new innovative ways to boost their productivity and performance in today's competitive market (Przytuła et al., 2020). Therefore, leaders need strategies to increase employee engagement.

#### **Problem Statement**

The healthcare work environment has been stressful, and health care employees have suffered health-related exhaustion (Kowalewski & Ruschoff, 2019, p. 384). In the United States, as of December 2021, organizations saw total separation at 4.1% of total employment due to employee turnover (U.S. Department of Labor, 2022). During the 2020 COVID-19 pandemic, researchers conducted studies and discovered that employees do not have a healthy work-life balance (Birimoglu Okuyan & Begen, 2022, p. 173). The general business problem is that employee disengagement negatively affects corporate profit. The specific business problem is that some health care leaders lacked strategies to engage employees.

### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies health care leaders use to engage employees. This study's targeted population consisted of eight health care leaders in a hospital in the greater Atlanta, Georgia, area who had successfully implemented strategies to engage employees. Health care employee engagement could contribute to social change by improving patient care, reducing medical costs, decreasing medical errors, improving patient experiences, and providing quality health care.

#### **Nature of the Study**

Researchers often consider three types of research methods: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed method (Yin, 2018). For this study, I used a qualitative method. In qualitative research, researchers conduct their study to explore the lived experiences of the participants (Neuman, 2014). The qualitative approach was appropriate for the study

because I explored strategies that health care leaders used to increase employee engagement through the semistructured interview process which used open-ended questions as the primary data source to ask *how* and *why* questions. A quantitative researcher uses numerical data to test hypotheses. In this study, I did not collect numerical data or test hypotheses; therefore, the quantitative method was not suitable. I did not choose a mixed method because a combination of objective (quantitative) and subjective (qualitative) data was not needed to address the research question.

Multiple qualitative designs were considered for this study. I considered phenomenology and ethnography, as well as single and multiple case study designs. Phenomenological researchers ask participants to describe their lived experiences (Moustakas, 1994). A phenomenological study was not appropriate because the participants' descriptions of their lived experiences were not relevant to addressing the problem under study. Ethnographers conduct research to observe the cultural experiences and behavioral patterns of participants (Taylor et al., 2021). An ethnographic study was not suitable for this study because I did not explore the language, beliefs, and behaviors of a culture. With a case study design, researchers investigate a concentrated occurrence top to bottom and within a real-life background in a particular setting (Halkias & Neubert, 2020). Individuals whose expertise in certain subject matters may utilize a case study design (Yin, 2018). A single case study is suitable for small groups, and researchers can explore a phenomenon in a unique environment (Yin, 2018). The case study approach can enhance credibility and validity of research results (Yin, 2018). Utilizing

the single case study design, I explored the strategies that health care leaders used to engage employees.

## **Research Question**

One central research question guided this study: What strategies do health care leaders use to engage employees?

### **Interview Questions**

- 1. How did you identify employees who tended to withdraw emotionally from work duties and other employees while at work?
- 2. How did you identify engaged employees?
- 3. How did you measure employee engagement?
- 4. What strategies did you use to help employees become engaged?
- 5. Which strategies have been most successful for engaging employees?
- 6. Which strategies have been least successful for engaging employees?
- 7. What training did you have access to on how to address employee engagement?
- 8. What strategies did you use to ensure you have the skills to identify and help disengaged employees?
- 9. What barriers or challenges did you experience in your use of strategies to engage employees?
- 10. What else could you add to help health care leaders engage employees?

#### **Conceptual Framework**

The conceptual framework for this study was employee engagement theory (EET). In 1990, Kahn introduced EET, which stated that employees physically,

intellectually, and emotionally expressed themselves during job performances (Kahn, 1990). Further development of Kahn's theory by Schaufeli et al. (2002) revealed that the idea of employee engagement highlighted an employee's positive feelings within the work environment. Researchers conducted studies in many business organizations and discovered that there was a positive relationship between employee engagement and employee performance (Siswanto et al., 2021). Business leaders used the positive effects and rewards of employee engagement to become highly competitive against other businesses (Saks, 2021). Therefore, involving the employee engagement theory as the structure for this study may direct leaders who may need strategies to connect with employees.

Employers are consistently looking for ways of understanding how employee engagement adds to employee commitment and grasp the drivers of employee engagement. Scholars often viewed employee engagement as the prerequisite to organizational success (Khalaf et al., 2019). Leaders used EET to illustrate how engaged employees contributed to their organizations by becoming cognitively, physically, and emotionally involved in their assigned tasks; this engagement contributed to increased productivity (Kahn, 1990). Engaged employees achieved workplace sustainability and demonstrated commitment to their leaders and the organization, when they felt the workplace was beneficial (Abid et al., 2019). Disengagement occurred when employees withdrew physically, cognitively, and emotionally from their work (Kahn, 1990). Employee engagement not only encompassed an employee's positive disposition towards their job, but an employee's passion, willingness to perform, and enthusiasm beyond an

employer's expectancies (Adisa et al., 2021). Therefore, I used EET to focus my data analysis to establish an understanding of participants' best engagement strategies.

## **Operational Definitions**

Cognitive awareness: Cognitive awareness occurred when employees saw work as meaningful and had the appropriate tools to complete the work (Hamilton Skurak et al., 2021).

*Emotional connection:* Emotional engagement was an employee's emotional connection toward the workplace (Hamilton Skurak et al., 2021).

Employee disengagement: Employee disengagement was an employee's withdrawal of cognitive, physical, and emotional abilities from work roles to protect oneself from threat (Kahn, 1990).

Employee engagement: Employee engagement was the commitment and perseverance an employee had to flourish within their work environment (Wieneke et al., 2019).

*Physical involvement*: The social or actual activities an employee performed on a job. Physical engagement includes emotional and cognitive commitment (Shuck & Reio, 2011).

#### **Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations**

### **Assumptions**

Assumptions are ideas researchers accepted as accurate without further investigation or interrogation (Leuz, 2022). There were three assumptions in this study. The first assumption was that organizational leaders would answer the interview

questions honestly and openly. The second assumption was that those organizational leaders would share sufficient details about their companies to address the research question. The third assumption was that the participants would allow sufficient time to provide detailed responses.

#### Limitations

Researchers denoted limitations to define the boundaries of research and enhanced the vigour of the method and theories relevant to the study (Munthe-Kaas et al., 2019). The first limitation was that the study outcomes would be limited by the patient access leader's awareness and application of adaptive leadership strategies. The second limitation was that the participants would provide supporting documents from the files or data sources to verify the interview data. The results of this study were limited by the openness and honesty of the participants in their responses.

#### **Delimitations**

Delimitations are the boundaries and parameters of the research (Yin, 2018). In this study, I focused on a health care facility in Atlanta, Georgia, with over 10,000 employees. Participants would include patient access leaders with at least 5 years of experience in management working in the health care facility.

#### **Significance of the Study**

Employee engagement continued to be one of the most popular topics in human resources and business literatures in the business sector, explaining the aspects on how organizations could enhance employee engagement in their jobs (Byrd, 2023). Therefore, it is in leaders' best interest to have strategies in place to have engaged employees on the

team (Ghazawy et al., 2021; Wagner & Koob, 2022). Conversely, when employees were disengaged, they were less satisfied and lacked loyalty and less interested in the effectiveness and productivity of the organization (Afrahi et al., 2022). Leaders should establish effective strategies to increase employee engagement, which boosted productivity (Khalaf et al., 2019). Furthermore, in many corporate sectors, employee engagement positively affected productivity, profitability, patient satisfaction, and patient safety.

#### **Contribution to Business Practice**

The study's findings assisted health care leaders with strategies to engage employees for increased organizational profitability. Health care organizations relied on the high performance of employees to build a compelling reputation and positively affected patient safety and improved patient care (Vaughn et al., 2019). Employee engagement increased patient satisfaction, which drove positive financial operations (Swensen et al., 2013). When an employee felt involved in the organization, there was a presumption that the employee would be more likely to invest one's capacities and competencies to benefit the employee and the organization (Aslam et al., 2022). Connecting with employees is basic to the progress of an organization because business leaders can create advantage in a profoundly competitive climate (Ewing et al., 2019). Therefore, enhancing employee engagement inside the working environment may encourage a more useful outcome and result in a more significant standard goal achievement, improving the local economy.

#### **Implications for Social Change**

For health care organizations, employee engagement is crucial to employee productivity and the quality of patient care. The challenges organizational leaders experienced when focused on the effects of employee performance and engagement, began with the implementation of strategies that would have a beneficial impact on an employee's productivity (Siraj et al., 2022). The quality of care was a prerequisite for: (a) excellent patient-centered care; (b) organization reputation; (c) the workforce of engagement; and (d) financial and organizational fitness, which resulted in a synergistic interrelationship between employees and their patients (Swensen et al., 2013). When employees experienced disengagement or burnout, this included: (a) diminished quality of care, (b) patient safety, (c) professional productivity, (d) patient satisfaction, (e) decreased staff retention, and (f) an increase of healthcare cost (Lown, et al., 2019; Patel et al., 2019). Porter and Lee (2013) stated that the overarching goal for providers and stakeholders improved the value of patient care in healthcare. Therefore, the contribution from social change improved patient care through: (a) the reduction of medical costs, (b) expanding the patient experiences, and (c) providing quality health care. The employees and leaders in this study also impacted: (a) the delivery of outstanding customer service and care, (b) for being a facility known for its patient-centered care, and (c) a health care organization that cared about the well-being of its employees.

#### A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies organizational leaders could use to engage employees. One central research question

guided this study: What strategies did health care leaders use to engage employees? In this literature review, I discussed employee engagement theory, the conceptual framework of this study. The comparative theories were: (a) Vroom's (1964) expectancy theory, which stated that motivation was the key concept in employee engagement; (b) Demerouti et al.'s job demands-resources model, which posited that job demands was the main predictors of negative job strain while job resources was the most important predictors of work engagement; and (c) Graen and Uhl-Bien's leader-member-exchange theory, which stated the quality of the exchange relationship between a leader and a particular member of a work unit, team or organization was the basic unit of analysis (dyad). Conversely, I discussed supporting theories of employee engagement theory: Thibaut and Kelly's social exchange theory, also known as the theory of reciprocity, and Herzberg's motivation theory. Herzberg et al. (1959) stated there were two factors influencing motivation at work: hygiene factors that demotivated when they were inappropriate and motivators that sustained the effort. In this qualitative study, I also discussed the importance of health care leadership and the factors that affected employee engagement in the health care sector. The literature review concluded with a discussion on employee performance and organizational profitability, and the positive effects employee engagement had on an employees' work performance and the success of organizations.

My strategy for searching the literature was Google Scholar, a database connected to Walden University's Library. I used Walden University's Library database to acquire literature through: (a) Business Source Complete/Premier, (b) EBSCO Primary, (c)

Academic Source Complete, (d) ABI/INFORM Global, (e) Psych ARTICLES, (f)
Emerald Management, (g) ProQuest Central, (h) Education Source, (i) EBSCO Open
Access Journals, (j) Sage Premier Annual Reviews, (k) SciDirect Subject Collections,
and (l) ScienceDirect. Keywords included: (a) cognitive awareness, (b) employee
disengagement, (c) employee engagement, (d) employee performance, (e) emotional
connection, (f) leadership, (g) organizational profitability, (h) personal engagement, (i)
physical involvement, and (j) productivity. I chose these keywords because they
supported identifying critical strategies, knowledge, and techniques patient access leaders
used to maintain high levels of employee engagement. This literature review incorporated
discussions of the following employee engagement: Kahn's engagement theory (1990),
Vroom's expectancy theory (1964), job demands-resources model, leader-member
exchange theory, social exchange theory, and Herzberg's motivation theory.

For this doctoral study I visited Ulrich's Web Global Serials Directory to confirm that the literature was peer-reviewed. I focused on articles published between 2019 and 2023. The 10% of documents referenced are non-peer-reviewed sources, specifically government sources and seminal works that were published no less than 5 years from the date of this study. The remaining percentage of documents referenced was a total of 355 sources or 85% that were peer-reviewed and served as sources for this literature review.

### **Conceptual Framework: Employee Engagement Theory**

Employee engagement theory (EET) was the conceptual framework for this study.

Kahn (1990) initially presented the concept of personal engagement as individuals

employing and articulating themselves, physically, cognitively, or emotionally during

character performances, which became the groundwork for defining what was known as employee engagement. Researchers focused on the impact of employee engagement and business outcomes, and found a positive relationship between employee engagement, customer satisfaction, productivity, profit, employee retention, and employee safety (Book et al., 2019). Employee engagement was an essential instrument to improve an organization's competitive advantage and financial profitability (Saks et al., 2022). Successful leaders strived to engage employees, because they knew when employees were engaged, organizations were productive, efficient, and profitable.

Leaders are liable for applying successful strategies to engage employees to meet business objectives. When the work atmosphere was favorable and valuable, employees were more suitable to exert discretionary effort to implant personal and professional characteristics into the role performance (Kahn, 1992). In the early 21st century, more employers focused on making employees feel like they belonged to the organization (Mani & Mishra, 2021). Moreover, employers who implemented employee engagement initiatives felt empowered and believed their voices mattered to their employees (Yue et al., 2019). The dedicated and engaged employees contributed to the organization's success and remained for long tenures (Li et al., 2019a). Therefore, when engaged employees created sustainability, organizations displayed an increase in their profits.

In any business, employee engagement drove an organizations performance and profitability margins. Bruning and Campion (2019) found a direct correlation between employee engagement and productivity. When employees were effectively committed to the workplace, they were less likely to leave and were more productive (Tarkang Mary &

Ozturen, 2019). Researchers have proven that when employees are highly engaged, they perform better, focused, and committed and wish to improve business performances (Ali, 2019). An organization became highly profitable and performed well when leaders ensured that employees were positively engaged. Therefore, the implementation of employee engagement allowed organizations to achieve profitability over their competitors.

Employee engagement has a positive connection with productivity, employee satisfaction and work performance. Improved organizational performance was also positively associated with employee engagement (Shen & Jiang, 2019). Jeanson and Michinov (2020) shared that engaged employees are involved, dedicated, and enthusiastic about their daily work and displayed a commitment to the organization's goals.

Organizational leaders understood that for an employee to become more engaged, their values and the organization's goals had to align (Rabourn et al., 2018). Employee engagement affected the practices in an organization, for example, increased productivity, profitability, and loyalty of employees (Budrienė & Diskienė, 2020).

Overall, the implementation of employee engagement allowed organizations to achieve profitability over their competitors.

In an everchanging market locally and globally, companies seek employee engagement strategies to keep employees engaged to stay competitive. Siddiqui and Sahar (2019) declared that employee engagement referred to rigorous regulations that managers used to improve employee engagement, which resulted in increased productivity. For organizational leaders to ensure they had productive employees, there

needed to be new methods implemented to engage and empower the employees in a highly demanding workforce (Moon et al., 2020). However, when organizations had engaged employees, they experienced higher profit margins, employee retention, and increased productivity (Ghosh et al., 2019). Organizational leaders who focused on the benefits of developing an engaged workforce, understood the essential aspect of their business and the improved performance to the organization that employees contributed to the bottom-line (Harandi & Abdolvand, 2018). Also, the leader's participation with the employees sets the atmosphere for employee engagement, accordingly, prompting organizational profitability (Feeney et al., 2020). Therefore, to further explore Kahn's employee engagement, I discussed three components (physical involvement, cognitive awareness, and emotional connection) to further understand the attitudes of employees in their work roles.

The introduction of the three components of Kahn's EET allowed leaders the opportunity to understand and develop strategies to engage employees. Kahn (1990) stated that employee engagement plays a role in employees' investment in their work roles through physical involvement, cognitive awareness, and emotional connection. According to Kahn, when individuals were engaged, they brought all parts of their physical, cognitive, and emotional connections to implementing their work role (Kahn, 1990; Saks & Gruman, 2014). Employee engagement promoted employees' physical and emotional experience and connected employees to their jobs (Bailey et al., 2017). The engaged employee showed up for work to improve their performance and the organization did not waste their time on anything else (Jensen, 2017). The success of an

organization contributed to the commitment and the passion of an engaged employee (Li et al., 2019b). Moreover, the level of physical involvement or the physical energy an employee contributed to their job or task was based upon the employee's engagement.

The first concept in Kahn's employee engagement theory was physical involvement. *Physical involvement* was the level of enthusiasm and physical energy an employee gave to their job or task. In Kahn's engagement model, physical involvement resulted from positive cognitive and emotional attachment to a work role. Joo et al. (2022) described physical engagement as a behavioral manifestation of a cognitive and emotional interpretation of a work-related environment. In a similar vein, Shuck and Reio (2011) suggested that employees' cognitive and emotional state influenced their decisions regarding the intensity and direction of physical energy towards a work-related task. For example, some managers related work engagement with an employee's physical presence in the workplace. Employee engagement encompassed physical, emotional, and cognitive attitudes towards their work (Joo et al., 2022). Furthermore, for employees to be responsive and aligned with business strategies, this relates to cognitive engagement.

In employee engagement, cognitive awareness was deep involvement in the work role. Employees' work cognition involved developing thought patterns, feelings, and ideas about past and present work experience (Joo et al., 2016). When employees observed the work and organizational resources as fulfilling and satisfying, they might be cognitively engaged. The cognitive dimension of employee engagement related to employees' appraisal of the organization, leadership, and working condition (Liao et al., 2022). Moreover, when employees experienced deep cognitive awareness, they became

emotionally engaged and might have difficulty detaching from work at the end of the workday.

To have an employee sincerely attached to their job roles displays elevated levels of employee engagement. Prior research indicated that an employee's emotional connection mediated a causal relationship between supervisor support and organizational outcome (Li et al., 2019b). Lebron et al. (2019) noted that emotional engagement positively influenced job satisfaction, while emotional exhaustion had adverse outcomes. Lebron et al. found that emotional exhaustion could reduce productivity, job satisfaction, and organizational commitment. Conversely, increased job demands, and low supervisor support could lead to emotional exhaustion and less connection to others and the organization (Lam et al., 2018). Employees who experienced conflicts that affected their emotional engagement, such as lack of appreciation, intimidation, micromanagement, and high demands resulted in high levels of stress, are more likely to be emotionally disengaged and result in turnover (Li et al., 2019a). Therefore, in Kahn's employee engagement, Kahn discussed that an employee could be cognitively engaged, which was how they thought about work. They could be emotionally engaged, how they felt about work, and finally physically engaged, the effort and energy while at work.

The employee engagement theory authors discussed how employees responded to work through cognitive, emotional, and physical connections. However, Kahn (1990) also discussed the psychological relationships an employee would have in the workplace. The three psychological relationships an employee might experience in the workplace was psychological meaningfulness, psychological safety, and psychological availability

(Kahn, 1990). In the day-to-day work environment, leaders desired employees to report to work with the attitude and behavior necessary to be productive (Manzoor et al., 2019). Therefore, Kahn explained the three psychological relationships (psychological availability, psychological meaningfulness, and psychological safety) were necessary in the development of employee engagement.

Psychological availability referred to the employees' ability to balance work and life (Kahn, 1990). Psychological availability is referred to as the sense of having physical, emotional, or cognitive resources to engage the self at work (Kahn, 1990). According to Feeney et al. (2020), individuals' beliefs and expectations influenced their levels of work-related behaviors. Work role insecurities, personal resources, and out-of-work activities were just a few elements that could inhibit psychological availability and employee engagement (Schaufeli, 2021). Emotionally engaged employees who experienced psychological availability committed to their work when they believed in the organization's vision and purpose (Feeney et al., 2020). Psychological availability involved subjective expectations and personal convictions (Feeney et al., 2020).

In the current work environment, organizations focused more on employees feeling that they were capable and ready to perform at any moment regardless of the events or situations that might distract them at work or at home. The reason for this concern related to the many issues that employees faced such as covid-19, price inflations on food, gas, and housing, and the loss of jobs. When there was an indication that the availability of resources and co-worker relations affected employee engagement indirectly through psychological availability and proved the existence of a strong

& Laney, 2017). Furthermore, the next psychological relationship was psychological meaningfulness which stated that when employees have a sense of meaningfulness, they were highly engaged and productive.

Psychological meaningfulness was the relationship between an employee's thoughts and values and the work environment (Kahn, 1990). Employee engagement occurred when an employee had the mindset and freedom to express themselves in the workplace (Lemon, 2019). Engaged employees looked forward to reporting to work and performed challenging duties because this made their work matter to them and the organization (Sun & Bunchapattanasakda, 2019). Psychological meaningfulness was a precursor to psychological readiness and availability (Chaudhary & Akhouri, 2019). There is a positive relationship between Kahn's emotional connection and psychological meaningfulness. When there was a lack of leader support for an employee, the employee would be less likely to have a connection emotionally to their work outcome; therefore, their psychological meaningfulness, or their feeling of being valued in the organization, decreased. In the end, the organization suffered, because the employee would have reduced productivity. By contrast, when an employee saw and felt that their leader supported them and valued them, they also felt valued and connected to the organization. The employee would then be more engaged and productive, and their psychological meaningfulness or level of feeling worthwhile was heightened.

The more an employee feels valuable and worthy, the more roles' employees might occupy to increase productivity. Meaningfulness positively influenced the

relationship between transformational leadership and employee job performance (Han et al., 2020). Employees felt that organizational leaders cared for their development within the business; this, in turn, made the loyalty of the employee meaningful (Ranji Jafroodi & Nasrollahi Moghaddam, 2020). Leaders could gain more from employees when they delegated meaningful roles that gave them the ability to contribute to the profitability and productivity of the business (Kahn, 1990). Even though employees might have a strong passion for the work they do, they could also feel an annoyance with the decisions made by the organization; therefore, this was an example of the positive correlation between employee engagement and psychological meaningfulness (Ugwu & Onyishi, 2018). When employees faced meaningfulness, they found themselves useful, valuable, and worthwhile to the organization and engaged in tasks that led to business productivity (Chaudhary & Akhouri, 2019). Thus, psychological meaningfulness happens when an employee has felt that they were valued and worthwhile, and as a result their level of engagement is elevated. Therefore, Kahn's final level of employee engagement the psychological safety, illustrated when employees felt comfortable working with each other, they were more open to discuss ways to improve a technique or process to make the work more efficient and effective.

Psychological safety occurred when an employee felt and showed themselves without the fear of negative consequences to self-image, status, or career (Kahn, 1990). When employees discussed with each other about shared results and departmental techniques, this was known as the final stage of psychological safety (Shrestha, 2019). In the workplace, one of the many factors that organizational leaders relied on for their

learning behavior and change is the representation of the cognitive state of psychological safety (Carmeli & Hoffer, 2009; Schein & Bennis, 1965). To elaborate, employees felt psychologically safe when they were able to speak up and express their feelings without fear of retribution. When organizational leaders have created this type of work environment, they were able to improve learning behaviors, which led to change within an organization. Lemon (2019) shared that psychological safety had a reliable connection with employee engagement. When an individual was free to express opinions and made decisions without the threat of negative consequences, the individual tended to feel safe in the work environment (Kahn, 1990). For leaders to gain buy-in from employees, they developed strategies that allowed them to feel comfortable expressing themselves and not worrying about the opinions of others (Kahn, 1990). The foundation of psychological safety came from trusting relationships between employees and their leaders. When the levels of trust were low, the impact on engagement resulted in low levels, too (Feeney et al., 2020). By contrast, Kahn (1990) contended that psychological safety, supported employees' freedom of opinions, was critical. In a positive and engaging work environment, employees were encouraged to express themselves without consequences. As a result of this behavior, employees would be more engaged and available to the organization (Majumdar & Kumar, 2021). Therefore, employees' passion for employee engagement allowed them to be more emotional in the workplace.

Work-related behavior fluctuated day-to-day and usually peaked when job demands were high, because employees looked for a role that included opportunities for challenge, growth, and engagement (Breevaart & Bakker, 2018; Kahn, 1990).

Organizational leaders helped employees feel safe and increased their levels of engagement and trust, when employees developed, new skills that were allowed to openly communicate their opinions and experiment with different ideas and solutions to improve the productivity of the department. Fischer et al. (2020) reported that leaders could improve the relationship with employees when there was open communication, and as a result an employee's impression of their leader and the information they provided was reliable and trustworthy. These leaders were responsible for making sure that managers and supervisors learned practical strategies and created guidelines that would assist employees in growing professionally and personally, which enhanced employee engagement (Huyghebaert et al., 2018). Additionally, cultivating a psychologically safe atmosphere through trust could help employees progress with new competencies, articulate their opinions openly, and inspired them to experiment with different solutions.

A shift in the workforce in a negative direction could be a contributing factor to disengagement. However, where deficiency in resources existed, individuals tended to withdraw (Sun & Bunchapattanasakda, 2019). In the many studies regarding employee engagement, the overall labor force reported that employees presented to work daily neither engaged nor actively engaged, which caused leaders to be challenged with how to reach these employees (Motyka, 2018). Managers spearheaded employee engagement, and therefore, when they lacked motivation strategies, they could lead to employee disengagement and underperformance (Afrahi et al., 2022). When employees were cognitively, physically, and emotionally detached from their work environment, leaders began to be exposed to disengagement within the organization (Kahn, 1990). Conversely,

knowing the reasons for disengagement could assist organizations with the creation of an answer to overcome it.

# Disengagement

Leaders strived to keep employees engaged daily; however, their jobs became challenging when disengaged employees were present. In many sectors of business, disengagement was one of the many factors leaders encountered often in the workforce. One of the challenges organizations experienced with employees, was the lack of employee engagement which negatively affected workplace environment, and thereby weakened the organization's effectiveness in the marketplace (Al-Tkhayneh et al., 2019). On average, disengaged employees made up 70% of the labor force, which caused a strain on an organization's bottom line (Eldor et al., 2020). Therefore, once a leader found a solution to decrease the disengagement of employees, organizations could become more productive and profitable.

Organizations spent billions in the development and recruiting of employees annually. However, because organizational leaders anticipated disengaged employees, they set aside funding to support employee turnover (Hejjas et al., 2019). The disengagement of employees' decreased productivity, and organizational leaders were the driving force of employee engagement. In all business sectors, when employees were disengaged, they affected productivity and profit margins negatively (Khodakarami & Dirani, 2020). In addition to the high cost to organizations, disengagement impacted employees' efficiency, changed their perspective, and created skepticism (Chawla, 2019).

Disengaged employees exhibited some counterproductive behaviors, which included intentionally working slowly, taking breaks beyond their allotted times, and using social media to present a negative public image of their organizations (Eldor et al., 2020). Thus, managers lacked motivation techniques which could lead to employees' disengagement and underperformance (Afrahi et al., 2022). According to Schroeder and Modaff (2018), the lack of employee engagement could lead to the loss of customers and profits due to the absence of an employee's attentive and absorbed performance.

Organizations were profitable by the work employees produced and when there were disengaged employees within the team, everyone experienced losses in profits, productivity, and the safety of the employees (Babakus et al., 2017).

When organizations have disengaged employees in their midst, the list was endless of issues that occurred, such as poor productivity, reporting to work late, calling off, and causing conflict with others. Thus, organizations reported that having disengaged employees cost an average of over \$3,000 annually per employee in salaries (Schmidt et al., 2019). Companies allotted millions of dollars annually to hire, train and retain employees, and when they encountered disengaged employees, the cost they lost could severely cripple an organization (Hejjas et al., 2019). Zak (2018) discussed the problems organizational leaders encountered with employee engagement and noted that leaders understood that low engagement could result in lost value. On the contrary, organizations thrived when their employees outperformed their competition (Kleine et al., 2019).

Disengaged employees who felt unsafe in their work environment to express their opinions reserved their voice for fear and repercussions and became withdrawn (Jha et

al., 2019). The employee presented at work but lost enthusiasm, drive, interest, pessimism, and complaints (Wolff, 2019). Managers looked at the root causes of disengagement, change to the organization's culture, and set a plan of action that included taking a close look at the employee's needs (Wolff, 2019). Wolff (2019) recommended addressing employee's needs by listening to and understanding employee's concerns, align employee's work tasks with the employee's capabilities, create a clear vision, and making employees accountable for their performance. To discourage negativity among employees, managers had the appropriate skills to manage the employees effectively, including internal communications that demonstrated respectful, sociable, responsible, empathetic, and proactive behavior toward employees (Rameshkumar, 2020). In business, understanding that employee disengagement was a negative experience for an organization, leaders took actions by accessing the necessary strategies to ease the influence on an organization's productivity, profitability, and performance. Therefore, leaders found solutions to employee disengagement through grasping the concepts of other theories that supported or contrasted Kahn's employee engagement theory.

### **Comparative and Supportive Theories**

Through employee engagement theory, Kahn (1990) presented the concept of personal engagement when individuals employed and articulated themselves, physically, cognitively, or emotionally during character performances. I considered three other theories for the conceptual framework. Expectancy theory by Vroom (1964) focused on an employee's belief that their ability to perform a job was for an equitable reward.

According to the job demands-resources (JD-R) model, employees experienced burnout

when job demands were high, causing exhaustion, and job resources were low, leading to disengagement and withdrawal (Demerouti et al., 2001). Lastly, leader-member exchange (LMX) theory centered on the relationship between leader and follower (Dansereau et al., 1975). However, all theories may either support or disagree with Kahn's EET and first I will discuss the theories that supported EET beginning with Victor Vroom's expectancy theory.

# Expectancy Theory

Vroom's (1964) expectancy theory (ET) focused on an employee's belief that their ability to perform a job was for an equitable reward. Vroom's ET emphasized how a person's drive to perform a task was obstructed by how they perceived their ability to perform the task and compensation. In ET, an adequate level of motivation had to be maintained by organizational leaders to improve employee relations and increase performance (Selvarajan et al., 2018). Expectancy theory concerned individuals making choices; those choices depended on potential positive gain employees hoped to achieve in work (Lloyd & Mertens, 2018). The theory has three foundational elements: (a) expectancy, (b) instrumentality, and (c) valence (Vroom, 1964). Employees performed in a way that resulted in wanted outcomes known as motivation (Vroom, 1964). Overall, Vroom recommended that employees complete their allotted assignment to work on their performance.

According to Vroom (1964), three factors were a part of the expectancy theory: instrumentality, expectancy, and valence. Instrumentality was an employee's performance that led to the attainment of a certain income. In the workplace, leaders desired to

empower their employees to have a say in how rewards were dispersed among themselves; however, when they no longer could direct the rewards, this increased instrumentality (Heisler & Bandow, 2018). Instrumentality referred to the perception of whether a person would get what he or she wanted (Vroom, 1964). Health care leaders comprehended what a patient would like and be able to provide for their wants.

Expectancy was an individuals' belief that a certain level of effort would lead to a given performance. Expectancy referred to the expectations a person had (Vroom, 1964).

Health care leaders with expectancy would need to focus on what is expected of them from the patients. Valence was the degree to which an individual preferred the outcome of the decision. To clarify, valence was the perception of anticipated satisfaction (Vroom, 1964). Employees appreciated and looked forwarded to leaders rewarding them for their hard work; this was known as valence in the expectancy theory. Valence referred to the emotional orientations that a person had to any outcomes (Vroom, 1964). Health care leaders understood what patients valued the best.

Many organizations evaluated employees based upon their performance, and an increased or no pay resulted from their performance. Therefore, employees determined the amount of effort they would or would not put forth in their work (McGinley et al., 2019; Vroom, 1964). Employees performed in a way that resulted in wanted outcomes known as motivation (Vroom, 1964). Empowering leaders through a shared decision-making process of open communication among leaders could enhance the employees' motivation and performance regarding products, services, and procedures (Hao et al., 2018).

Some of the disadvantages of expectancy theory were that managerial cognitive bias was faulty thinking and rational, which impeded leaders from making sound decisions that would drive productivity and growth within the organization (Roessler et al., 2019). Despite the theory's popularity, scholars criticized the theory, stating Vroom (1964) overlooked cognitive bias, which could influence individual behaviors and choices, which led to job dissatisfaction and high employee turnover (Lloyd & Mertens, 2018). I did not select expectancy theory for this study because not all employees had a passion for being motivated and engaged in the workplace (Nimri et al., 2015) and were more concerned with how they would benefit equally through their connection with their leader. I did not select expectancy theory for this study. According to ET, Vroom stated that individuals had different goals and could be motivated by certain expectations. Secondly, the reason for not selecting the expectancy theory was that the theory included the leaders' hopes of an outcome and not the strategies used to improve the outcome. I did not use the expectancy theory because I could not focus on the health care leaders' strategies to improve employee engagement.

## Job Demands-Resources Theory

Researchers have utilized the JD-R model to give a comprehension of the connection between job demands and job resources and how employees' workplace stress might be moderated. The job demands-resources (JD-R) model was a heuristic model that specified how two specific sets of working conditions achieved employee engagement and organizational commitment (Bakker et al., 2007). The job resources factor pertained to certain aspects of the job that were integral to achieving work goals, stimulated

personal growth and development, and reduced job demands and the associated psychological cost (Schneider et al., 2018). According to Schneider et al., the JD-R model applied to various business settings, regardless of the demands and resources. According to researchers, employee engagement and burnout were working conditions that were best explained by utilizing the JD-R model. Job satisfaction, organizational commitment, and employee engagement were factors that could affect employee burnout. Bakker et al. (2022) noted that work overload and increased emotional and physical job demands could lead to burnout. However, scholars have tested the effect resources have on workplace stress and engagement across businesses and different degrees of management inside the organizations.

By contrast, job resources such as social support, performance feedback, and autonomy could also trigger a motivational process leading to work engagement and organizational commitment. When employees' perception of the job aligned with job demands and job resources, employees were likely to experience less stress and more engagement (Lee et al., 2017). Researchers showed that JD-R, such as job autonomy, performance feedback, and work engagement, could profoundly impact employee wellbeing theory (Rai, 2018). Because of its utility, researchers used the JD-R theory to predict and understand employee well-being (e. g., burnout, health, motivation, work engagement) and job performance (Bakker et al., 2022). Researchers used the JD-R framework for understanding the impact of job demands and job resources on the wellbeing of employees (Pérez-Fuentes et al., 2019). Understanding job demands was essential to reduce stress and elevate engagement (Rai, 2018). However, a different

aspect of job demands, and job resources sometimes contradicted each other creating problems for employees (Kim & Beehr, 2020). Furthermore, the JD-R theory is only one of the many engagement theories that supported Kahn's EET, however, the leadermember exchange theory was also an alternative theory that supported EET.

## Leader-Member Exchange Theory

The leader-member exchange theory, also known as LMX is the dyadic interactions between the employee and leader. In 1975, Dansereau et al. introduced the LMX theory and defined leadership as a multistage process between leaders and employees (Lo et al., 2015). Organizational leaders need to foster the proper abilities to design methodologies on the best way to move supporters to improve organizational performance (Hameduddin & Engbers, 2022). Dansereau et al. (1975) observed that many organizational, managerial processes occurred on a dyad basis whereby the subordinate was the dyad member, and the direct supervisor was the dyad leader. While examining the relationship between the dyad leader and the dyad member, Dansereau et al. found that time constraints and limited resources forced leaders to invest in only a limited number of followers, creating differentiated dyads between leaders and followers. The dyadic relationship of the leaders and members of the organization was the central tenant of the LMX framework (Lee et al., 2019). Lee et al. (2019) found a positive relationship between LMX and work performance. LMX was an essential framework for studying organizational leadership and its effects on employee engagement (Herman et al., 2018). Xie et al. (2020) asserted that LMX relations were several contextual factors influencing employees' willingness to engage. LMX scholars argued that the dyadic

relationship quality significantly affected organizational outcomes such as in-role performance and enhanced employee engagement (Anand et al., 2018). Therefore, employees who receive quality interactions from the leader experience obtain a better assignment, hear quality correspondence, and feel a part of the team.

Chen et al. (2016) and Dienesch and Liden (1986) divided employees' roles into two basic categories: the in-group (categorized by high trust, interaction, and rewards) and the out-group (categorized by low trust, interaction, and support). Hence, the leadermember relationship is grasped as a vertical dyad, whereby staff either became part of the in-group or out-group, and this was dependent on the level of their performance, and how much they reported immediately to the leader and have directed contact with him or her at work (Graen & Uhl-Bien, 1995). In the leader-member relationship, in-group members received more feedback, trust, and information from leaders than out-group members (Mascareño et al., 2020). The in-group employees were those the leader trusted, who took work associated with high risk, but the leader gave opportunities to develop skills and abilities. These employees were also more likely to have additional career opportunities (Huyghebaert et al., 2018). Out-group employees received work of less importance and risk (Estel et al., 2019) because the leader felt they could not trust the employees with complex work. With this limitation, the supervisor did not present out-group employees with supervisor support, diminished the opportunities to develop skills and abilities and provided fewer career opportunities.

The quality of the LMX dyadic exchange contributed to employees' performance and turnover intention; therefore, both leaders and employees should build strong

relationships to be beneficial to the leader, employees, and organization (Uhl-Bien et al., 2022). Researchers have factored both leader and employee contributions into the LMX relationship and the reciprocation of contributions (Liao et al., 2019). Supportive and positive leadership-built trust, improved performance, and reduced employee turnover intention (Byun et al., 2017). Negative leadership broke the trust relationship between leaders and employees, damaged the employees' wellbeing and increased employee turnover intention (Chen & Liu, 2019). Therefore, with every theory discussed, the expectancy theory, the JD-R theory, and the LMX theory were not suitable for my study because they did not provide strategies organizational leaders utilize to engage employees.

### Social Exchange Theory

The social exchange theory has a positive correlation to Kahn's EET. Thibault and Kelley (1959) developed social exchange theory (SET) to explain how building relationships with employees helped leaders improve employees' organizational commitment, teamwork, cohesion, and engagement (Cooper-Thomas & Morrison, 2018). The relationship between two parties produced appreciation, trust, and personal obligation involved SET (Rather, 2019). The best relationship between managers and employees encouraged the employee to give more to the organization in their time, increased efficiency and enhanced the task, which created a strong bond and mutual reciprocity (Fletcher, 2019). The involvement and sense of power employees felt in the workplace resulted in the growth and development of the employee and increased productivity (Haddon, 2018). Kahn (1990) concluded that employees engaged in work

and connect with others when allowed to immerse personal proportions of themselves into their jobs. According to So et al. (2021), successful social exchanges provided a high return in value to participating individuals by increasing loyalty and engagement.

Researchers have also used SET as the framework to study the relationship between organizational justice and job engagement (Haynie et al., 2019). Moreover, of the positive leadership strategies utilized by leaders was empowering the employees.

The primary paradigm behind SET states that trust is the prominent attribute in positive social exchanges. Blau (1964) introduced the concept of trust into SET, postulating that trust increased among participants in a social exchange over time as relationships developed, deepening the ability of the participants to influence actions. In the manager-employee relationship, the employees' trust in their manager increased when they perceived the manager as capable, reliable, knowledgeable, dedicated, and able to access the situation when making decisions that might affect the employee (Morton et al., 2019). Employees' trust in their managers increased when they felt that the manager was reliable, dedicated, and could make sound decisions for the organization and the employees (Morton et al., 2019). Employees were empowered to make decisions and were energized by the flexibility and ability to contribute to their daily work and the organization's plans (Morton et al., 2019). A positive relationship between workers and their superiors-built trust and allowed the employees to be productive and contributed to their overall success (Zeidan & Itani, 2020). Social exchange resulted in an obligation to the employees to reciprocate their supervisor's trust for mutual benefits (Mostafa & Bottomley, 2020). Hence, when involved with social exchange the consideration of their

time and effort distributed to an exchange is more significant than the benefit from the exchange, results in party possibly terminating the relationship.

There were benefits to leaders who used SET. Employees displayed loyalty and commitment to the organization when an employee encountered positive interactions with their supervisor. According to SET, the transactional and relational framework enhanced employee engagement and influenced job performance (Eldor & Vigoda-Gadot, 2017). Employees who developed positive relationships with their managers were known to build a sense of trust. Employees performed well, leading to better job performance when employees experience trust in a supervisor (Yin, 2018). The perception of a high-quality relationship with the manager encouraged the employee to invest more time at work, find ways to improve the task, and increase efficiency, creating a strong bond and mutual reciprocity (Fletcher, 2019). As a result, trusting their leadership allowed employees to be more productive and contributed to their success.

SET's disadvantage was that the lack of stability in the relationship might cause employees to compare their work situation with other work members, resulting in a lack of engagement and an increased attrition rate (O'Connor & Crowley-Henry, 2019). The lack of stability in the relationship might cause employees to compare their work situation with other work members, resulted in a lack of engagement and an increased attrition rate (O'Connor & Crowley-Henry, 2019). Though SET supported the exchanges based on mutually beneficial relationships, the theory was not suitable to understand the degree of the reciprocal exchanges amongst individuals within the same organizational context (Yin, 2018).

## Herzberg's Motivation Theory

Herzberg's motivation theory originated from Frederick Herzberg et al. in 1959. The two factors of Herzberg's model were (a) hygiene (extrinsic factors) and (b) motivator (intrinsic factors; Bassett-Jones & Lloyd, 2005). The motivational factors led to job satisfaction because individuals sought self-growth and self-actualization (Alrawahi et al., 2020). Ozsoy (2019) stated that there was a positive correlation between motivation factors and employee motivation. Both hygiene and motivator factors promoted employee engagement, leading to increased productivity and corporate profits (Alrawahi et al., 2020). Herzberg's motivational theory shared similarities with Kahn's (1990) engagement theory, and both included assumptions that motivation impacted work engagement.

Herzberg's motivation-hygiene theory positively impacted employee job satisfaction, leadership style, and employee turnover (Amiri et al., 2017). Alrawahi et al. (2020) noted that in a work environment, there were components that were likely to influence an employee: achievement, advancement, the work itself, responsibility, and recognition. In Herzberg's motivation-hygiene theory, there were two distinct factors that was used to describe how employees would respond when they were engaged. These factors were the extrinsic motivation factors and the intrinsic motivation factors.

Extrinsic motivation factors could result in job satisfaction, whereas intrinsic motivational factors improved employees' work-related behavior and well-being (Olafsen et al., 2018). When employees experienced a positive relationship with managers, they engaged in their work and view their managers as motivational leaders (Darvishmotevali

et al., 2017). Organizational leaders have learned that salary was one of the many concepts that were likely to motivate employees and increase employee retention (Nasir & Mahmood, 2018). Leaders were successful when they recognized and promoted their employees, because the employees had a sense of belonging to the organization and the department (Alrawahi et al., 2020). Therefore, when leaders utilize Herzberg's motivation-hygiene theory, the purpose is to understand the tactics to improve employee motivation.

Contrary to the motivational attribute that promoted job satisfaction, there were hygiene factors that were apt to dissatisfy the employee, such as low salaries, negative interpersonal relationships, and disruptive organizational policies and practices. When leaders could comprehend and supervise the hygiene needs of employees, they were able to address deficient performance from dissatisfied employees as well as train leaders to alleviate employee disengagement (Herzberg et al., 1959). Alrawahi et al. (2020) further stated that Herzberg's motivation-hygiene theory explained when motivational factors and hygiene factors came together, there was an increase in job satisfaction and a decrease in job dissatisfaction.

The motivator-hygiene theory that Herzberg et al. (1959) promoted explained the factors that resulted in employee satisfaction and dissatisfaction and consequently contributed to employee retention. Because level of satisfaction varied from one employee to another, business managers should learn about the factors that resulted in these behaviors and designed and implemented remediation measures to ensure that employees remained engaged. Herzberg explored employees' attitudes toward their jobs

and the impact of their motivation to work by asking questions about their good and bad experiences with their job (Ann & Blum, 2020). Overall, leaders need to recognize motivational factors within the organization and strengthen those variables to keep employees motivated.

### **Leadership Styles**

In business, there are various leadership styles that could assist leaders with the necessary strategies to improve employee engagement. Different leadership styles impacted employees' behaviors and organizational outcomes. Hentrich et al. (2017) contended that leadership responsibilities extended to all aspects of the work, including employee engagement. Leadership style could have positive or negative implications for employee engagement, and managers needed to be aware of which leadership style enhanced or diminished employees' behavior. Culturally diverse workforces needed leadership skills capable of keeping employees engaged in increasing the organizations' profits, performance, and productivity (Brunow & Nijkamp, 2018). Efficient management could focus on enhancing the growth of employees while shifting workers' belief in management and the vision displayed with keen communication for long-term development (Jokisaari & Vuori, 2018). Encouraging positive and ethical behavior helped the employees understand the organization's vision and how managers concentrated on inspiring others while contributing to employee engagement (Bussin & Mouton, 2019). Leadership style had a positive and considerable influence on employee performance (Rifa'l et al., 2019). The following sections presented a discussion of

transformational, transactional, and laissez-faire leadership and their effects on employee engagement.

## Healthcare Leadership

Health care leadership practice was complex, and human behavior was the driving factor of successful leadership. In 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic threatened health care leadership on a national and international level (Abbara & Ekzayez, 2021). The focus of health care organizations was service provisions aimed at promoting human wellbeing through holistic and patient-centric care. Leaders in the health care sector had notable shifts towards becoming more consumer-centered in their service delivery (Edmunds, 2019). Appropriate levels of resourcing that was both affordable and accessible was necessary to meet the health care needs of patients and consumers. Goldstein et al. (2018) posited that when engaged health care employees felt valued, they translated their efforts into quality patient care by upholding beneficence, no maleficence, justice, and autonomy, which was at the core of quality health care. Employee engagement became an essential facet for health care managers to motivate employees to meet health care standards and consumer expectations and needs. As a result, engaged employees followed policies and procedures, provided quality care, and avoid potential errors that impacted health care organizations' bottom line.

Some undesirable outcomes associated with burnout among health care professionals included insomnia, poor decision making, hostility towards patients, medical errors, poor relationships with coworkers, depression, anxiety, fatigue, alcohol abuse, and cardiovascular disorders (Mikalauskas et al., 2018). Health care facility

leaders in this economy faced the reality of having to get more out of their administrators and employees with fewer resources (Leung et al., 2018). It had become the norm throughout health care that burnout, employee disengagement, and high turnover rates increased (Leung et al., 2018). If health care leadership training was not addressed, the trend of decreased employee engagement and thus decreased patient satisfaction could continue (Leung et al., 2018).

Considering that leadership was directly impacted by employee engagement, the development of engaged health care leaders increased employee retention (Saleh et al., 2018). Patient safety needed to remain at the forefront of health care leadership while creating a positive work environment (Alilyyani et al., 2018). The safety of all patients was the utmost importance in health care and to ensure that patient safety was executed health care leaders should ensure they had skilled health care staff to achieve the goal. However, health care leaders provided staff with a healthy working environment designed to prevent human errors (Kim & Park, 2018). Therefore, in many health care organizations, health care leaders were strongly encouraged to have a positive relationship with employees and adopted a transformational leadership style that was one way to complete this task.

#### Transformational Leadership

Transformational leadership has been utilized in the business world since the close of the 1970s. The transformational leadership concept began when Burns (1978) stated that transforming leaders were energetic, enthusiastic, and enthusiastic about what they believed in or conducted. Transformational leaders created an environment that

brought leaders and followers together to solve problems, managed change together, and created new ways of doing work (Asif et al., 2019). Leaders used this style in individual or group settings to implement an effective means of engaging employees and influence organizational change (Ennis et al., 2018). Burns also stated that transforming leaders was involved in the change process themselves, helping others succeed. Burns expressed those transforming leaders inspired followers to align their personal goals with organizational ones through vision and behaviors. From the birth of Burns' transformational leadership concept, Bass developed his transformational leadership theory. Bass (1985) defined four main dimensions of transformational leadership: idealized influence, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individualized attention. Hence, the foundational elements of transformational leadership are thought about by business scholars a fundamental present-day practice.

The first characteristic of transformational leadership is *idealized influence*. Idealized influence referred to the emotional appeal to followers when leaders displayed trust and respect (Park & Pierce, 2020). The ideal leader possessed the characteristics of an accurate moral and ethical compass, their principles were positive, and their attitudes set the tone for a progressive work environment (Langat et al., 2019). The optimistic behaviors and confident drive created a dedicated team and any challenges that employees faced ensured they would have the support of their leader (Chang-E et al., 2019). As a leader, discussing and deciding on performance expectations with employees also displayed the idealized influence of an engaged leader (Chang-E et al., 2019).

confidence, enthusiasm, and pride (Giddens, 2018). Therefore, in a transformational leadership, leaders may display the behavior of idealized influence by encouraging, trusting, and respecting their employees.

A transformational leader's qualities were to have inspirational motivation. In the workplace, confident and stimulating leaders could influence an employee to have a cheerful outlook about their job and the culture of the organization (Paolucci et al., 2018). Transformational leaders implemented inspirational motivation by challenging and instilling a sense of work purpose in followers (Groves, 2020). Employees who worked with encouraging and supportive leaders was willing to grow and develop professionally and personally and not criticize any mistakes or failures of themselves or others (Megheirkouni et al., 2018). The ideal goal for leaders and organizations was to decrease employee turnover and encourage employees to remain with the organization (Yamin, 2020). Inspirational motivation was manifested in leaders who (a) articulated reasonable visions that inspired their followers in envisioning attractive future states, (b) challenged followers with ambitious standards in enhancing performance, (c) communicated optimism about future goals, and (d) provided meaning to followers' works and aroused team spirit (Banks et al., 2018). Additionally, inspirational leaders expanded the responsibility of team members through support and motivating them to cooperate.

Teams worked better and was successful when their leaders set attainable daily goals (Langat et al., 2019). An organization had a competitive advantage over their competitors when they had leaders that were critical thinkers and were willing to take a risk to promote high levels of employee engagement. Intellectual stimulation occurred

when employees were encouraged by transformational leaders to engage in the process of decision-making, which cultivated skill development, critical thinking, and knowledge (Boamah et al., 2018). Therefore, managers who demonstrated intellectual stimulation behavior saw employee engagement levels improve throughout the organization.

Intellectual stimulation involved leaders encouraging followers to challenge the status quo and be open to change and innovative ideas (Park & Pierce, 2020). When employees made an error performing a task, an intellectually stimulating leader would not address the employee in public but in private as to not embarrass and disengage the employee (Northouse, 2018). Hence, through intellectual stimulation, leaders could inspire innovation and transformation in the organization.

Leaders promoted individualized consideration when they delegated tasks that aligned with the employees' existing skills and abilities. In many organizations, a transformational leader developed the ability to engage employees, and as a result, the organization earned a reputation as an effective and efficient operation (Sahu et al., 2018). The individualized consideration behavior gave the leader the chance to delegate, supplying followers with growth opportunities (Bass, 1999). To be influential, leaders with individualized consideration influenced employees to grow professionally (Getachew & Zhou, 2018). Under individual consideration, the leader celebrated, recognized, and appreciated each follower's contributions, giving each follower a sense of value (Giddens, 2018). Moreover, the improvement of employees is fundamental to an employees' organizational success, and leaders should arrange growth opportunities to their employees.

There was a significant positive relationship between transformational leadership and employee job satisfaction in all service industries, and employees performed better with leaders who use a transformational leadership style (Ohunakin et al., 2019).

Transformational leaders created feelings of confidence and an attractive vision of the future among employees, making them engaged in new way of accomplishing their work tasks (Amankwaa et al., 2019). Engaged employees had more to contribute to an organization when they felt supported by their managers (Edelbroek et al., 2019).

Transformational leaders exuded an effective influence on followers by acting as role models who displayed ethical behavior and cared more about the organization than selfgain (Moon & Park, 2019).

In some cases, transformational leadership was faced with many challenges from others that was old-fashioned and unproductive in their management methods. Caniëls et al. (2018) examined employees' mindset and proactive personalities towards work engagement and suggested that transformational leadership style might not stimulate engagement or workforce productivity. Transformational leadership was not taught but was inherited in a leader (Warrick, 2018). Moreover, according to Zhang et al. (2020), if organizations had goals set to be better than their competitors, having transformational leadership was more effective than transactional leaders.

In conclusion, transformational leaders motivated people strategically and comprehended what made people thrive, thereby moving organizations forward (Krisnanda & Surya, 2019). Transformational leaders pursued plans to achieve individual and operational objectives (Navia et al., 2019). Therefore, exploring Bass's (1990)

transformational leadership theory helped the leaders to improve the development and efficiency of employees in the organization. Conversely, a transactional leadership style was contingent upon the exchange of benefits and rewards between a leader and an employee.

### Transactional Leadership

The interchange of benefits and rewards between leaders and followers was the foundation of the transactional leadership theory (Burns, 1978). Transactional leadership theory was based on leaders who incorporated incentives to drive employee efforts (Saeed & Mughal, 2019; Xu & Wang, 2019). Raj and Srivastava (2017) maintained that transactional leadership provided a vision and a mission and encouraged problem solving and rationality among followers. An employee who collaborated with a transactional leader did not have a sense of self because the leader used rewards to motivate their attempts to complete their task (Zhang et al., 2020). The focus of transactional leadership was also on the self-interest of individuals from the provision of rewards for meeting established objectives (Jensen et al., 2019). Hannah et al. (2020) stated that transactional leadership was based on economic exchanges between leaders and followers in which the leader established the goals and objectives for the follower to achieve. Transactional leadership involved managers using corporate values and organizational control system monitoring and a strict chain of command to manage followers (Kanwal et al., 2019). Thus, the achievement of organizational goals by a transactional leader is different than a transformational leader.

Transactional leaders did not promote personal development and commitment (Jensen et al., 2019). Jiang et al. (2019) stated that a transactional leader had a *give and take* relationship with employees. Saeed and Mughal (2019) stated that the purpose of transactional leadership and contingent rewards was to maintain high performance and control quality. Donkor and Zhou (2020) stated that transactional leaders rewarded employees for completing tasks and maintained or increased organizational performance.

With each leadership style, there was disadvantages and advantages. Under transactional leaders, Pishgooie et al. (2019) found a negative relationship between job stress and staff anticipated turnover and a positive relationship between quality health care and patient health outcomes and quality health care. Transactional leaders exhibited a robotic behavior, and like transformational leaders, impacted productivity and goal achievement through clearly defined rules and goals (Harber & McMaster, 2018).

Transactional leadership had disadvantages. These leaders lacked a leader-follower relationship and therefore was unable to help foster organizational cultural change (Saleh et al., 2018). Another disadvantage arose from transactional leaders who were too goal-driven because they did not allow employees to be creative or innovative (Alavi et al., 2021). Overall, transactional leaders were more likely to produce negative outcomes that would adversely affect an organization (Al Khajeh, 2018).

By contrast, the first advantage of a transactional leadership style, would be that the leader is highly motivated, and the leader would motivate the employees to ensure the goal was achieved. Next, the vision and mission of the organization was clearly defined and easy to follow, which allowed the leader to explain to the employees to prevent any errors. Another advantage of transactional leadership was for the leader to communicate a planned deadline to ensure that the assignment would be completed in a timely manner and without any delays (Alavi et al., 2021).

Saeed and Mughal (2019) stated that the purpose of transactional leadership and contingent rewards was to maintain high performance and control quality. Saeed and Mughal indicated that this style was *management by exception*, in which the manager maintained an active role and intervened in any potential problem that arose. Donkor and Zhou (2020) stated that transactional leaders rewarded employees for completing tasks and maintained or increased organizational performance. The manager was shown as applicable when the employee could achieve or exceed the organization's performance. Hannah et al. (2020) stated that transactional leadership was based on economic exchanges between leaders and followers in which the leader established the goals and objectives for the follower to achieve.

In summary, there were no similarities between the transactional leadership theory and the transformational leadership theory. Transactional leadership theory focused on leaders using rewards to encourage employee productivity, while transformational leaders encouraged and motivated followers (Abelha et al., 2018; Bass, 1990; Bian et al., 2019); The attributes of a transactional leader emphasized how an employee performed (Megheirkouni et al., 2018). In a transactional leadership style, employees could lose who they were as a person because of how leaders led with a short-term focus and the tangible rewards to get the job done (Zhang et al., 2020). Diebig and Bormann (2020) indicated that laissez-faire leaders tended to avoid decisions, neglected

workplace problems, and did not model the appropriate behaviors. Moreover, transactional leadership style equips leaders with reputable organizational tools to manage the relationship between leaders and employees to accomplish organizational targets.

### Laisse-Faire Leadership

Kurt Lewin (Lewin et al., 1939) developed a laissez-faire leadership theory in which a manager delegated the authority to make decisions to the employee without consulting with the manager. Laissez-faire leadership was characterized by an absence of leadership, in which the leader avoided exercising authority and was not easily accessible by employees (Skogstad et al., 2014). In a study conducted by Haque et al. (2019), when under laissez-faire leadership, most of the participants experienced low levels of supervision and oversight. Studies linked the laissez-faire style to various occupational stressors such as role conflict and role ambiguity; these stressors led to employee depression, job strain, and reduced performance (Akgunduz, 2015; Skogstad et al., 2014). Therefore, leaders permit the employee to decide the most ideal way to accomplish organizational goals on their own.

In addition, researchers suggested disengagement of employees was not merely the result of ineffective leaders but was promoted by the presence of laissez-faire leadership (Puni et al., 2021). Asrar-ul-Haq and Kuchinke (2016) stated that leaders with a laissez-faire tendency deliberately avoided situations that exposed them to the need to decide. Puni et al. (2021) indicated that laissez-faire leadership was not conducive to high levels of engagement among employees in organizations.

The lack of an attempt to motivate followers was consistent with laissez-faire leaders' lack of effective communication with employees. Laissez-faire leaders were not effective at leading their employees to success (Ribeiro et al., 2018). Laissez-faire leaders did not attempt to motivate followers (Eken et al., 2014). The laissez-faire leadership style resulted in team conflicts, and the style impeded employees' health (Parveen & Adeinat, 2019). However, the laissez-faire leadership style was suitable for employees who could be productive with minimal leader guidance (Segun-Adeniran, 2015).

The benefit of an active or inactive leadership style remained contextual, hinging on the followers' perception who determined the level of input from their leader that was necessary to inspire performance. In a laissez-faire leadership style, the leader avoided communication and did not play an active role in encouraging or motivating the employees and was not attached to development (Wong & Giessner, 2018). Robert and Vandenberghe (2021) argued that the laissez-faire leadership style was not a form of leadership but the antithesis and promoted destructive behaviors within organizations. Wong and Giessner (2018) submitted that the laissez-faire leader consciously dismissed the needs of the subordinates when adopting the passive or avoidant approach.

Laissez-faire leadership was an unproductive style of leadership that negatively impacted followers (Breevaart & Zacher, 2019). Samanta and Lamprakis (2018) stated that the laissez-faire leadership style constituted the absence and nonexistence of leadership. Worthy et al. (2020) reported a weak negative correlation or relationship between laissez-faire leadership style and job satisfaction, staff intent to stay, and patient health outcomes. Furthermore, Gemeda and Lee (2020) stated that laissez-faire leaders

were characterized by noninvolvement and being absent when needed. Gemeda and Lee (2020) indicated that a laissez-faire leader would overlook the achievements and problems of employees.

Conversely, Zareen et al. (2015) posited that the laissez-faire leadership style, much like the transformational and transactional styles, positively impacted employee motivation. Lee et al. (2018) stated that the laissez-faire style facilitated the development of self-determination, self-control, and greater autonomy among subordinates. The laissez-faire style consisted of leaders giving followers the power to make decisions (Kanwal et al., 2019). Pahi and Hamid (2016) suggested that a laissez-faire leadership style positively related to employee commitment. A laissez-faire leader instilled confidence and motivated employees to meet a goal or objective because of the leader's allowing employees to work independently. Pahi and Hamid (2016) stated that a selfmotivated, highly skilled, experienced, and educated employee could thrive and successfully worked for a laissez-faire leader. These employees had the complete freedom to make decisions regarding achieved performance. This type of leadership would enable employees the space to accomplish performance goals. However, the employee would have to specifically ask the manager for guidance and support to achieve performance goals. Otherwise, the manager was entirely hands-off.

Even though laissez-faire or delegating leaders was not known to concern themselves with employee performance or the employees, however, some organizations had laissez-faire leaders who boosted productivity and morale (Khuwaja et al., 2020). Laissez-faire leadership usually resulted in an absent leader who did not guide his

employees (Samanta & Lamprakis, 2018). With laissez-faire leadership, the leader did not offer his followers feedback (Zaech & Baldegger, 2017). Therefore, each leadership style, transformational, transactional, and laissez-faire, all effected employee performance in a positive or negative way.

### **Employee Performance**

In many organizations, leaders set the tone for employees to achieve high employee performance by encouraging company allegiance, approved long work hours, and thereby increased productivity. In business, managers used organizational performance to predict competitive advantage and employee retention (Yamin, 2020). Employees performed well, leading to better job performance when employees experienced trust in a supervisor (Yin, 2018). Improved organizational performance happened when employees were engaged and continued to outperform and excel in their duties, increasing employee engagement (Borah & Barua, 2018). According to Bianchi et al. (2019), when managers made a concerted effort to improve employee engagement, the results enhanced employee performance. When employees engaged, they performed their roles, assisted coworkers in their tasks, and acclimated new employees to their roles (Pradhan et al., 2018).

The way employees engaged in work tasks determined their overall performance, reduced absenteeism, and influenced turnover intentions (Mackay et al., 2017). When engaged, employees expected diversity in their work tasks; as a result, the leader saw improved performance in the workplace (Sekhar et al., 2018). Additionally, in most cases, engaged employees signed up for long hours and highly intense work assignments

without giving a second thought (Gupta & Shukla, 2018). Therefore, when employees were engaged, they continuously strived for excellence in their organization (Seymour & Geldenhuys, 2018).

Zeidan and Itani (2020) posited that when employees were disengaged, there was a significant level of disconnect between the organization's objectives and the performance of employees in their level of involvement and satisfaction. John and Chadha (2018) discovered that 24% of actively disengaged employees was unhappy and unproductive, resulting in 340 million employees actively disengaged worldwide. Anitha (2014) stated that the configuration of organizational goals, failed to meet performance expectations, and discouraged employees who desired to excel within the organization influenced employee disengagement. Dhanpat et al. (2018) analyzed strategies to increase retention and began with compensation as the leading concept. Low compensation usually resulted in job dissatisfaction, absenteeism, and employee turnover (Dhanpat et al., 2018). Moreover, the relationship between disengaged workers and their performance affected organizations in a hostile arena.

Organizations needed to have effective and efficient employee performance to be successful (Rifa'l et al., 2019). The overall growth of a business could be explained by many factors; however, organizational leaders relied on engagement to enhance employee performance (Yadav et al., 2020). Othman et al. (2019) concluded that employee engagement drove individual performance through human resource management. In organizational success and direct reports, employees were not limited to a single field or type of organization. Instead, performance tied leadership behavior

where the leader articulated a vision and demonstrated that performance was about more than just individual goals and the greater good (Avolio et al., 1999; Bass, 1998). Thus, employee satisfaction and work performance are extraordinarily influenced by the leadership style utilized in an organization.

### Patient Care and Safety

A hospital's performance was driven by leadership. Patient care contributed to hospital performance (Park et al., 2019), and hence, was sought after by leadership.

While in the hospital and after discharge, patient safety was related to patient-centered care. A hospital's business performance was influenced by patients' overall safety before, during, and after discharge. Using St. Onge and Parnell's (2015) research as a foundation, the researchers created a patient-centered care model that integrated patient safety, evidence-based practice, teamwork, and informatics.

Dello Russo et al. (2018) reported that human resource capabilities were significantly related to the manager-perceived quality of patient care when employees demonstrated proactive work behaviors such as providing outstanding customer service and obtaining correct patient information to ensure accurate billing practices. The work behavior could negatively influence safety (Zolot, 2017). If more attention was given to each patient, then patient safety and overall care could increase. Health care leaders tracked patient care and safety through various hospital administrative protocols such as wait times.

Patient experiences encompassed multiple interactions with health care professionals and was an integral part of delivering quality healthcare. Bastemeijer et al.

(2019) described the patient experience as the patient's journey when considering the clinical and emotional interactions with the health care service. Understanding patient experiences supported health care objectives to achieve positive health outcomes through a holistic and patient-centered care approach. Castro et al. (2016) highlighted compassionate, respectful, and responsive care as key determinants of how patients assessed the delivery of quality health care based on their expectations.

The more the organization's employees understood those individualistic needs and expectations of the patient, the better employees could tailor their care based on those needs. Campos-García and Zúñiga-Vicente (2019) identified a link between employee engagement and patient satisfaction and posited that satisfied employees provided quality care to patients. Improved patient experience had an inherent value to patients and families and was an important outcome, as it resulted in positive health outcomes.

Organizational managers influenced patient experiences by valuing employee engagement and equipping employees with the right skills and knowledge to improve organizational culture. Bellows et al. (2015) highlighted how engaged physicians, nurses, and other healthcare professionals were proud of their organization, took time to understand patient needs and provided quality care and services. Committed and competent employees helped the organization improve patient satisfaction scores through the provision of quality service. With the introduction of standardized services in the healthcare industry, the key differentiator among service providers was the quality of patient experience in delivering care. Håkansson Eklund et al. (2019) posited a direct correlation between employee satisfaction and patient satisfaction, as they contributed to

the financial performance and viability of the healthcare organization. Therefore, organizations needed to invest in human capital to improve patient experiences and care through their services.

### Quality Health care

Factors such as the availability of resources, level of knowledge and skills, and the accessibility of services affected the delivery of holistic quality health care. Appropriate levels of resourcing that were both affordable and accessible were necessary to meet the health care needs of patients and consumers. Employee engagement became an essential facet for health care managers to motivate employees to meet health care standards and consumer expectations and needs. Engaged employees provided high quality patient care when they were held accountable (Becker's Hospital Review, 2016). Employees delivered quality patient care when organizational leaders focused on the following: hiring engaged employees, creating a right work culture, implementing effective leadership, and using efficient systems (Vazquez, 2019). In the health care industries, leaders strived to ensure that employees were providing quality health care, guaranteed patient safety and accountability (Gishu et al., 2019). As a result, engaged employees were willing to follow policies and procedures, provide quality care, and avoid potential errors that would impact health care organizations' bottom line. Therefore, according to Kwame and Petrucka (2021) there was a direct correlation to high patient satisfaction which increased the profitability in hospitals.

Health care managers used key performance measures and indicators to identify priority areas that influenced the organization's performance and outlook. Wang et al.

(2018) identified examples of performance measured and indicators in health care, such as infection rates, injuries while in care, and accepted standards of treatment for specific clinical conditions. Wang et al. emphasized how performance indicators helped organizations monitor and reported on quality care to create acceptable levels of care that coincided with benchmarked standards within the health care industry. The benchmarks were then necessary to standardize care and guided incentivized funding models directly correlated to patient outcomes. Joudaki et al. (2014) highlighted that by standardizing quality care, organizational leaders identified the overuse or misuse of resources, potentially eradicating waste, and ineffective treatment options within the health care organization. Therefore, employees understood, and upheld standards of care set out by their organization to avoid financial penalties that inhibited their growth or performance. Quality service provision stemmed from the delivery of care from engaged employees that facilitated positive patient health outcomes. In health care, when organizations had a positive response to quality service and patient experience and safety, there in return is an increase in organizational profitability and productivity.

In business, employee engagement had a positive relationship with employee performance. Organizational leaders in the health care sector acknowledged that when leaders succeeded and expanded employee engagement levels, they identified strategies to improve error rates and increased employee performance. Leaders and employees strived to achieve organizational goals both contributed to enhanced performance for the organization (Osborne & Hammoud, 2017). In health care, when employees experienced positive change and job satisfaction, the reduction of clinical errors and the establishment

of a safe working environment is the result of positive employee engagement (Seljemo et al., 2020). When leaders promoted employee engagement and focused on patient care, patient outcomes, patient satisfaction, and organizational profitability all improve.

#### **Transition**

In Section 1, the purpose of this qualitative single case study was identified as exploration of strategies organizational leaders used to engage employees. The conceptual framework for this study was employee engagement theory (EET), and the literature was grounded in current, relevant peer-reviewed articles. The business significance to this study might assist healthcare leaders with the necessary strategies to engage employees for organizational profitability. The social change significance of this study might improve patient care through (a) the reduction of medical costs, (b) expanding the patient experiences, and (c) provide quality healthcare.

Most of Section 1 focused on the extant literature related to the study topic. In addition to a thorough discussion of employee engagement theory, I reviewed comparative and supportive theories. I presented the tenets of Vroom's (1964) expectancy theory, job demands-resources theory, leader-member exchange theory, social exchange theory, and Herzberg's motivation theory. I concluded the literature review with a discussion of leadership styles, particularly in relationship to health care leadership. I concluded the literature review with a discussion of employee performance, particularly in relationship to patient care and safety.

In Section 2, I provide the research project and method. I will discuss a detailed explanation of the research process and the selection of the participants. Also, there will

be a discussion of ethical research including the population, sampling, and data collection sections. The final components involved the data collection, data analysis techniques and the reliability and validity of the data. The discussion included how I ensured participant protections, including storing, and ultimate destruction, of study data.

Within Section 3, I will present the findings, discuss the applications to professional practice, and discuss the implications for social change. Section 3 includes the recommendations for action and for further research. The document is completed with my reflections on my experience with the study process and the summary and study conclusions.

#### Section 2: The Project

The objective of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies health care leaders used to engage employees. In this section, I included the Purpose Statement, the Role of the Researcher, Participant selection, Research Method and Design, and Population and Sampling. Other topics in Section 2 contained Ethical Research, Data Collection Instrument, Data Organization, Data Analysis, and Reliability, and Validity.

#### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies health care leaders use to engage employees. This study's targeted population consisted of eight health care leaders in a hospital in the greater Atlanta, Georgia area who had successfully implemented strategies to engage employees. Health care employee engagement could contribute to social change by improving patient care, reducing medical costs, decreasing medical errors, improving patient experiences, and providing quality health care.

#### Role of the Researcher

I was the primary instrument for the data collection and researcher for this study. In a qualitative research study, the researcher serves as the primary instrument and collected the data (Roller, 2019). My role as the researcher included designing the study and selecting participants, as well as collecting and analyzing data. The researcher's responsibilities are to recruit participants, then collect, organize, and analyze data (Yin, 2018). As a leader in the workforce, I had 20 years of professional experience with employee engagement. Furthermore, my position required interviewing, observing, and

active listening skills that are instrumental to my role as a researcher. I did not have a personal or professional relationship with the participants.

Researchers followed the ethical principles outlined in the Belmont Report when conducting research with human subjects. The three principles of the Belmont Report were respecting persons, beneficence, and justice (U.S. National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). I adhered to the Belmont Report protocol and completed the Protecting Human Research Participants were trained by the Collaborative Institutional Training Initiative (Certification Number: 47391570).

In qualitative studies, researchers introduced bias based on assumptions or perceived expectations to participants through nonverbal expressions during the interview process (Hansen, 2018). To prevent personal biases from interfering with the research and collect data successfully, I kept a reflective journal and took notes of the thoughts and feelings of my participants. The researcher needs to ensure the rigor and trustworthiness of data as part of the research process to limit potential biases in the research study (Roulston & Shelton, 2015). To enhance trustworthiness, researchers utilized member checking and triangulation as an evidence-based technique to improve the interview data quality (Yeong et al., 2018). To ensure that bias was mitigated in my study, I selected participants whom I had no personal or professional relationships with.

I followed the interview protocol (Appendix A) and only interviewed participants with whom I did not have a personal or professional relationship. To ensure that the information obtained was free from bias, a researcher's beliefs, experiences, and

interpretations was known as research integrity (Shaw & Satalkar, 2018). I did not project bias from the data I collected and remained open to discoveries contrary to set ideas regarding the research problem following an interview protocol.

As the primary researcher, I adhered to an interview protocol (see Appendix A) as an instrument for: (a) collecting participants' data, (b) asking the same questions to each respondent to mitigate bias, (c) assisting in providing directions in the interview format, and (d) allowing the researcher to pursue developing themes. Using an interview protocol is a technique that researchers follow to ensure the data obtained relates to the research question (Yin, 2018). One of the primary purposes for the interview protocol is to include the interview techniques, a draft of the introduction and the conclusion, and prompted for extending the conversation (Merlo et al., 2020). Lastly, an interview protocol also helps to improve data quality (Cairns-Lee et al., 2022). In this study, I treated participants with respect and made ethical judgments in data analysis.

#### **Participants**

The participants for this study consisted of at least eight patient access health care leaders from a hospital located in the greater Atlanta, Georgia, area. The eligibility criteria for the patient access leaders were that they had at least 5 years of leadership experience and used successful strategies to engage employees. According to Yin (2018), developing participant-criteria is helpful for the researcher because it made it easier to validate the study and increased compelling data accumulation. Researchers select and reach out to specific individuals who met eligibility criteria (Hu & Qin, 2018). Yin

(2018) suggested that the participants should be individuals who experienced with the phenomenon and can convey their experience for a case study.

The strategy for gaining access to healthcare leaders was through the National Association Healthcare Access Management (NAHAM), an official health care public group database consisted of patient access leaders. I contacted NAHAM to obtain a list of individuals who were authorized members. Once the first authorized patient access leader responded, I used snowball sampling to ask the leader to recommend other participants. I forwarded the study invitation letter to all existing patient access leaders who met the study criteria. In qualitative research, when researchers invite potential participants interested in the said study, and the participants can refer other participants who match the study criteria, this was known as snowball sampling (Lopez & Torres-Fernandez, 2019). When the invitation letter was emailed, I requested that the participants contact me directly. For the participants who confirmed their intent to participate in this study, I emailed them an informed consent form and scheduled a Zoom meeting with the participant.

Establishing a strong working relationship with participants was essential. As a researcher, collecting accurate data established trust with participants (Nunan, 2020). The foundation of a working relationship with participants was through open and honest communication about the study (Vaswani, 2018; Yin, 2018). When researchers establish a healthy rapport, participants were at ease and willing to participate during the interview (Bell et al., 2018). To build rapport with each participant, I communicated my

involvement with the patient access department to allow the study topic conversation to flow naturally.

# **Research Method and Design**

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies patient access health care leaders used to promote employee engagement. In this component, I will provide an explanation of the research method and design, the foundation for selecting the qualitative research method and single case study design. This section contains a summary of why I decided not to select a quantitative or mixed methods research technique. Lastly, I will provide reasoning for why a qualitative method and single case study approach was the appropriate methodology to explore strategies for patient access leaders to engage employees.

#### Research Method

In qualitative research, the researcher's objective is to give an audience the ability to explore the contemporary phenomenon in real-life settings (Runfola et al., 2017). In a qualitative methodology, the researcher's responsibility is to build patterns, themes, and gaps in the literature from the collection of words and observations to investigate and formulate meanings (Ospina et al., 2018). In a qualitative study, researchers utilize openended questions to interview the participants who related to the phenomenon (Yin, 2018). Therefore, the qualitative method allowed the researcher to explore contemporary phenomena within real-life contexts, utilizing how or why questions (Yin, 2018). I chose a qualitative method for this study because I conducted interviews and gathered data to explore the participants' natural experiences.

When conducting a research study, the researcher must be able to know the many distinctions between quantitative and qualitative research methods. The facts and phenomena were provided objectively in a quantitative research method, whereas a qualitative research method used a participant's account of the phenomena (Singh et al., 2021). In a quantitative research method, the researcher asks additional questions as they searched for evidence from the hypotheses generated (Noyes et al., 2019). Singh et al. (2021) stated that the testing theory, guided by a common question helps develop an understanding of the phenomenon in a collected experience between participants and the researcher. A quantitative approach was not suitable for this study because I did not use numerical data to test a hypothesis.

When using a mixed method approach, researchers utilize both qualitative and quantitative techniques, methods, and data within a single study to address the research problem from multiple perspectives (McKim, 2017). The analysis and collection of data from qualitative and quantitative paradigms give researchers implementation challenges and limitations from the complexities of a mixed method approach (Johnson, 2019). A mixed method approach could occur when a researcher's study required more than one process or worldview (Thiele et al., 2018). When a researcher uses large data sets, mixed methods research integrated both quantitative and qualitative features for research (Smith, 2018). The mixed method approach was not appropriate for this study because I did not combine participants' experiences and empirical statistical data to expand the understanding of my research problem.

### **Research Design**

In this qualitative research design, I considered three research designs: ethnography, phenomenology, and case study. I chose a single case study design to employ an insightful understanding of the problem. Researchers us case study design to collect data from several different sources, including interviews, and archival documents (Yin, 2018). Researchers used a case study design to explore a studied phenomenon thoroughly in a real-life setting (Halkias & Neubert, 2020). Triangulation was one of the many strategies case study researchers used to cultivate a detailed case description (Halkias & Neubert, 2020). According to Yin (2018), when a case study researcher uses multiple sources of information to reach a point of convergence to strengthen case study findings, this is triangulation. A case study was appropriate for this study because I collected data from multiple sources to explore strategies patient access leaders needed to engage employees.

The ethnographic study design is used by researchers who explored the behaviors of chosen cultural groups (Fetterman, 2019). Wolcott (1987) stated that the purpose of ethnographic research is to describe and interpret social behavior. When researchers apply an ethnographic study design, their goal is to study a culture to get an insight into the research topic (Patton et al., 2018). The ethnographic design was not suitable for this study because immersing myself in culture would not help me to address the research question.

In a phenomenological approach, researchers explore lived experiences to understand the phenomenon from the participants' perspectives in a general setting (So et

al., 2021). Moustakas (1994) asserted that through a phenomenological design, researchers focused on the actual lived experienced instead of the explanation or analysis of experiences. Moreover, to gain knowledge from a participant's lived experience, a researcher seeks the participants' information first-hand (Mohajan, 2018). A phenomenological design was not suitable for this study because the purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies healthcare leaders needed to engage employees. Therefore, the focus of the study was on an explanation and analysis of the participants' experiences.

A single case study was the research design I chose to use for my research study. Yin (2018) explained that researchers must decide whether to have a single case or multiple cases in their studies. Case study research consists of exploring complex issues to understand the content within a limited set of conditions (Leão & Santos, 2021; Mishra & Dey, 2021; Yin, 2018). The qualitative case study design promotes the exploration of a phenomenon within its natural setting using data collected from multiple sources, which allows for a detailed description of the event to be captured by the researcher (Mostert, 2018). I used a single case study design because of the rich contextual and in-depth data provided to explore the strategies patient access leaders used to engage employees.

To achieve data saturation, I continued to interview participants until no new data emerged. Data saturation is a key principle that researchers use in a qualitative study in which the researcher collects data based on interviews and achieves saturation when additional interviews do not reveal any new data and produced redundant data (Guest et al., 2020). Hennink et al. (2017) stated that the achievement of data saturation occurred

when no new information emerged from participants' responses. The quality of the data rather than the quantity of the data obtained should be the researcher's focus in data saturation (Sim et al., 2018). In qualitative research, a researcher needed to reach data saturation to derive conclusive findings (Moser & Korstjens, 2018). Therefore, I continued to interview additional participants until no new information arose and the statements were redundant.

### **Population and Sampling**

The participants for this study consisted of eight patient access leaders from a hospital located in the greater Atlanta, Georgia, area. The eligibility criteria for the patient access leaders were that they had at least 5 years of leadership experience and used successful strategies to engage employees. Purposeful sampling increases the reliability and credibility of the results (Majid & Vanstone, 2018). To ensure that all participants possessed the knowledge, skills, or experience to answer interview questions in a significant way, researchers used purposeful sampling (Sharma, 2017). Purposeful sampling is beneficial because researchers can then adjust the sampling method, if needed, throughout the process (Majid & Vanstone, 2018; Tyrer & Heyman, 2016).

For this study, I used purposeful sampling and snowball sampling to recruit and select study participants. In qualitative research, the process of an initial participant recruiting another participant with the same criteria was known as snowball sampling (Palinkas et al., 2019). The purpose of snowball sampling is to assist the researcher with networking with other potential participants, who possessed the same criteria and to increase the sampling participation (Etikan, 2016). The strategy for gaining access to

healthcare leaders was through the National Association Healthcare Access Management (NAHAM), an official healthcare public group database consisted of patient access leaders. I contacted NAHAM to obtain a list of individuals who were authorized members. Once the first authorized patient access leader responded, I asked the leader to recommend other participants.

Data saturation occurs when gathering of materials until redundancy or the information repeated or when the researcher was unable to develop new codes or themes from the data (Hennink et al., 2017). When sample sizes are small, they can be credible, reliable, and transferable, if the researcher obtains data saturation (Fagerholm et al., 2021). Boddy (2016) indicated that in case studies, data saturation can be achieved with a small sample size. I achieved data saturation by interviewing additional participants until there were no new themes or information appeared and the data was repetitive.

Due to the COVID 19 pandemic, interviewing guidelines had been updated to ensure the safety of the participants and researchers; therefore, I conducted interviews via Zoom sessions. Companies rely on teleconferencing tools to provide a safe mode of conducting interviews (Archibald et al., 2019). The interview setting may set a calm and friendly environment to ensure the participant fills content enough to share their encounters about the phenomena (Heath et al., 2018). The researcher ensures that the interview accommodation may not present a place of anxiety and that the participant is relaxed during the interviews (Webb et al., 2020). Conducting successful interviews relies on the researcher to ensure that the interviews were planned with the right location, dates, and times, so the participants feel safe and open when interviewing with the

researcher (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Therefore, the main goal for the researcher during interviews would be for the interview settings to be convenient, comfortable, and private (see Webb et al., 2020).

#### **Ethical Research**

In research studies, the purpose of informed consent is for the researcher to ensure that the participants provided information voluntarily (MacInnis et al., 2020). Participants sign informed consent to indicate that they were participating in the research willingly (Sil & Das, 2017). When researchers enroll participants in their study, they also convey their rights, the research question, the study's methodology, and the potential harms and benefits (Pietrzykowski & Smilowska, 2021). Researchers who adhere to ethical research practices allow potential study participants to confirm their decision to participate by signing an informed consent document before beginning any study activity (Gupta, 2013). Before the interview began, the participants signed an informed consent to acknowledge their participation in the study. Participants were allowed to request a withdrawal from this study at any time prior to CAO approval by sending a request to me using any form of communication (i.e., email, phone call, or text message). Incentives can be considered motives for participants or considered as coercion to participate (Grady, 2019). No incentives were offered for participation.

As a researcher, I strived to protect the rights, privacy, dignity, and well-being of those that participated in my study. Segura Anaya et al. (2018) stated that the researcher treated the personal information of the participants with confidentiality. The name and location of the organization participating in my study remain confidential. The filing of

the subject names used pseudonyms and certified privacy. Using pseudonyms to mask participants' identities is common in research (McDermid et al., 2014). The use of unique identifiers is a strategy the investigator used to ensure the confidentiality of the participants (Gibson et al., 2013). I used the unique identifiers: P stood for patient access leader and H stood for the hospital and a number representing the interview's order.

I complied with all the requirements for research per the Walden University's Institution Review Board (IRB). The IRB is liable for guaranteeing that all Walden University research consent to the university's ethical guidelines as well as U.S. federal guidelines (Walden University, 2022). Vanclay (2020) stated that participants 'privacy is a fundamental model to ethical research. All manuscripts, audio recordings, and files was stored on an external hard drive secured in a fireproof filing cabinet, where I had exclusive access for 5 years. After 5 years, all data will be destroyed. After receiving Walden University's IRB approval number 11-29-22-0259706, I conducted this study. To ensure privacy protection, all participant and organizational information remained confidential.

#### **Data Collection Instruments**

I served as the primary data collection instrument in this study. As the primary instrument, the researcher used personal and professional skills, training, and knowledge to analyze, interpret, and collect information (Muturi, 2016). According to Denzin and Lincoln (2011), the researcher is the primary instrument in a qualitative case study. The researcher became an infused part of the data collections process in a qualitative study by being the primary instrument (Aspers & Corte, 2019). Further, if the researcher is the

data collection instrument, they must have an unbiased and display experience in the study topic. Therefore, as the primary instrument in a qualitative study, I used semistructured interviews with open-ended questions.

The primary types of data collected for qualitative studies included observations, interviews/surveys, documents, and audiovisual materials. When conducting interviews, I asked my participants to share supporting documentation such as their press ganey scores. A combination of member-checking, archived data, semistructured interviews, or focus groups are used by researchers to manage qualitative studies (Hammarberg et al., 2016). Although, in qualitative research, interviewing was the primary data collection method (Gutland, 2018). The data for this study included semistructured interviews with eight participants and organizational Press Ganey engagement scores.

I conducted semistructured interviews. The use of semistructured interviews with open-ended questions is beneficial in exploring phenomena in a health care setting (Riera et al., 2015). The objective of conducting semistructured interviews is to allow a researcher to ask follow-up interview questions, which can lead to interpretive context (Granot et al., 2012; Reuben & Bobat, 2014). When conducting semistructured interviews, in qualitative research, the researcher can utilize information from other sources to acquire additional knowledge on the research topic (see Bleiker et al., 2019). In this study, I will conduct semistructred interviews to obtain knowledge from my participants on strategies leaders can utilize to engage employees. Furthermore, the constitution of in-depth semistructured interview data is the empirical backbone of much

qualitative research in the social sciences (Campbell et al., 2013). I completed 8 semistructed interviews as part of the data gathering for this study.

I used an interview protocol to confirm reliability and validity in the research process, (Appendix A). The interview protocol is vital to qualitative research, particularly semistructured interviews (Yin, 2018). Yin (2018) explained that an interview protocol helps the researcher follow a line of inquiry and ensured reliability. Cairns-Lee et al. (2022) asserted how researchers who used interview protocols built a framework to explore the phenomena under study while providing guided conversations to achieve a consistent and in-depth understanding of the participants' views and experiences.

As the primary data collector, to validate that the data was correct, I analyzed the data and once I completed this step, I then contacted the participants to verify, and this process was known as member checking to enhance reliability. Member checking is used to ensure the accuracy, credibility, validity, and transferability of information (Brear, 2018). Member checking is also used to identify incorrect interpretations of data and provided authenticity of information (Madill & Sullivan, 2018). Member checking has five unique steps that a researcher completes (Marshall & Rossman, 2016): (a) following completion of the interviews, review each interview transcript and interpret in their own words what the participant said; (b) summarize the data for each interview question into one paragraph; (c) print a copy of the summaries and presented them to each participant; (d) ask each participant to review the summaries to ensure that the data collected was accurate; and (e) conduct the process of member checking until no new information was disclosed. I used audio recordings during each interview and member checking after each

interview to increase reliability and validity. I recorded notes and wrote a synopsis of my conclusions in my interview process.

### **Data Collection Technique**

Data collection for this study included semistructured interviews and Press Ganey engagement scores the participants shared during the interview. Researcher data collection is a systematic, detailed process in which the researcher collects adequate information to fulfill the research question (Ahmad et al., 2020). Researchers used interviews as the primary data collection technique researchers used for qualitative research data collection. According to Houghton et al. (2013), various qualitative research interview styles are available. Tavory (2020) stated that interviews are the least biased, and the participant's experience is documented as a more natural phenomenon. Furthermore, using interviews as a data collection technique allows the researcher to retrieve in-depth information from the participants in their own words (Dehghan-Nayeri et al., 2017). Pascoe Leahy (2022) added that researchers add value and practicality to the interview when developing a relationship and respected what the participant brought to the study. Therefore, the primary data collection technique I will use is semistructured interviews.

As a core technique in qualitative research, semistructured interviews allow participants to provide a descriptive account of their experiences with a social phenomenon by collecting information-rich data (Campbell et al., 2013; Vogl, 2013). Researchers who use semistructured interviews allow participants to be flexible when describing experiences (Rajgopal, 2021). Irvine et al. (2013) suggested that because of

the flexibility in semistructured interviews, researchers explore ideas that emerge throughout the interview, which can generate valuable data. DeJonckheere and Vaughn (2019) indicated that researchers use the qualitative research method to conduct semistructured interviews to gather rich data on participants' experiences in a research study.

The semistructured interviews for this study included open-ended questions. The purpose of open-ended questions is not to suggest answers but to allow participants to answer in their way (Popping, 2015). Open-ended questions allow participants the opportunity to explore additional information if it arose (Cairney & St Denny, 2015). Open-ended interview questions minimize researcher bias (Doody & Noonan, 2013; Petty et al., 2012). The use of open-ended questions provides the researcher an insight into the participants' thoughts (Pietsch & Lessmann, 2018). In qualitative research, open-ended questions are often used to take a holistic and comprehensive look at the studied issues. Researchers utilize open-ended questions to acquire further understanding and accumulate detailed information (Vromen, 2018). Therefore, open-ended questions were helpful in my study because the participant was able to relax, be flexible, and readily willing to share information.

Due to the obstacles of the COVID-19 pandemic, interviews were conducted via Zoom. Interviewing participants via Zoom had advantages and disadvantages. A few advantages were (a) the participant was interviewed in a location where they felt comfortable. A comfortable setting allowed the participants to be relaxed and honest with their answers to the interview questions, (b) there was no travel time for the participant or

the data collector, and (c) researchers were able to capture accurate data by listening to the recordings permitted the researcher to hear the participant's true thoughts (see Shawver et al., 2016). Researchers record interviews to have full uninterrupted record of the interviews (Williams, 2020). Disadvantages for conducting interviews online include the (a) participant's personal information exposed because the researcher's computer files were hacked, (b) the wi-fi connection is weak and intermittent causing the call to break (Archibald et al., 2019), and (c) the interviewer and participant losing focus when there was video disruption.

There were advantages and disadvantages when accessing company documentation. Morgan (2022) stated that documentation analysis is less time-consuming and more efficient than other research methods. However, a disadvantage of this research method would be that documentation does not provide the necessary information for the researcher to answer the research question. It can be difficult to obtain company documents because the information was not accessible to the public because of the sensitive nature of the information (Li et al., 2019b; Lin et al., 2018). An advantage of obtaining company documents is to assist the researcher to analyze and compare the data received (Carollo & Solari, 2019). By obtaining company documents, I did have access to background information, and understood the historical background of the research topic. Lastly, obtaining access to company documents allows the researcher to support the data, validate the data, and improve data saturation (Mohajan, 2018; Yin, 2018). Each organization had a department that collected employee engagement surveys quarterly, as well as surveyed from patients to understand how the organization was performed. As the

primary researcher, I obtained company documentation by accessing Press Ganey engagement surveys from the Patient Experience department.

Madill and Sullivan (2018) stated that the member checking process is a consultative process whereby the researcher clarifies the participants' interpretations and gained further insights and knowledge of the participant's perspectives. Through the application of member checking, interviewers have an opportunity to confirm the authenticity and accuracy of transcribed data with interviewees (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). I achieved member checking by reviewing the interview transcripts, summarizing data analyses for each interview questions, providing a readable copy of the synthesis to the participants and asking the participant to confirm the accuracy of the interpretation. This process continued until no new themes was present.

# **Data Organization Techniques**

For this doctoral study, I used NVivo® 14 qualitative data analysis software (QDAS) to organize the interview transcripts and documentation. I maintained a reflective journal, including regular entries during the research process. Cengiz et al. (2015) found that keeping a research journal helped a researcher constructed essential knowledge, organized thoughts, solved problems, and increased analytical skills. Noble and Smith (2015) suggested that transferring data to an electronic device supported data preservation. I used an EVISTR digital voice recorder for all oral communication. I stored all data on an external drive.

Transcriptions of the data collected from the interviews matched what participants said in their interview. I took notes at each interview. Taking notes assists with data

analysis and enriched the interview details (Tabassum et al., 2018). Therefore, I utilized (a) data checking, (b) reflective journaling, (c) transcribing interview responses into a Word document, and (d) entered data into the qualitative software NVivo 14 Plus<sup>®</sup>.

NVivo was a data analysis software that researchers used to analyze qualitative research by managing data, revealing themes, querying ideas, graphically modeling ideas, and concepts, and reporting the data (Woods et al., 2016). The purpose of the NVivo software in qualitative studies is to allow researchers to accommodate large quantities of data because of their efficiency and transparency (Muliati et al., 2022). Gibson et al. (2014) suggested that scholars utilized software to organize and track respondents' data. Therefore, many researchers use NVivo software to compile, manage, organize, and code raw qualitative data (Munn & Branch, 2018).

When utilized by researchers, reflective journaling inspires and stimulates critical thinking. I took notes at each interview. Taking reflective notes assists with data analysis and enriched the interview details (Tabassum et al., 2018). Muswazi and Nhamo (2013) stated that notetaking during the interview process helped facilitate analysis. In notetaking, the researcher notes phrases or words participants use that add detail to the interview (Tabassum et al., 2018). During the interviews, I took notes to ensure that my thoughts and ideas remained organized and wrote down items that needed further clarification from the participant. Lastly, I utilized a password-protected external hard drive and retained all data in a locked fireproof safe. I have sole access for 5 years. After 5 years, all raw data will be destroyed. For the confidentiality and protection of the participants, researchers assigned unique identifiers (Roberts, 2020). Data classification

aided in final interpretation (Brennan & Bakken, 2015). I labeled participants and the hospital as PH1, PH2, etc. for the participants for Hospital 1. I continued to conduct interviews, and add additional participants, if necessary, until data saturation was reached (i.e., no new information is evident from additional interviews).

# **Data Analysis**

I used methodological triangulation as a primary data analysis activity. Lindgren et al. (2020) suggested that methodological triangulation in case studies is appropriate because the use of different sources and the participants' and other sources' descriptions supported the same concept. Triangulation is the use of multiple measures to capture construct (Renz et al., 2018). Noble and Smith (2015) suggested that triangulation of data from two or three resources reduces bias in a study. Denzin (2012) posited triangulation was a multi-method process that researchers used to analyze various data sources to gain a more in-depth understanding of a study topic. Triangulation is an important research aspect for identifying themes in data analogy across multiple sources (Johnson, 2015). Moreover, Yin (2018) suggested that investigators apply data triangulation to corroborate a phenomenon using multiple data sources such as interviews and physical records. I accomplished triangulation by analyzing the Press Ganey engagement scores the participants shared to support the interviews.

According to Yin (2018), using the appropriate form of analysis and multiple sources of data ensured the accuracy of the study results. Marshall and Rossman (2016) also described data analysis as a process of transforming collected data into themes and categories for better understanding. Yin provided researchers a process for data analysis:

(a) compile, (b) disassemble, (c) reassemble, (d) interpret, and conclude. I used Yin's 5-step process. The compiling stage was the first step I performed by collecting the data from the interviews and archival documents.

The next level in the process was to disassemble the data. The disassembling of data consisted of myself dividing the data into portions, shares, or sections and labeled each item. Houghton et al. (2015) found that data disassembly consisted of coding the data as relevant themes and as concepts emerged. Theron (2015) explained that coding was a process of collecting major thematic ideas and labeling sections of ideas with codes that correlated to the research questions. Woods et al. (2016) revealed that coding organized data into themes that related to the topic. As a result, disassembling, also known as coding, was important to the research process when analyzing data.

Reassembling was the third step, and I conducted this process by reorganizing the data into groups and orders using substantive themes. The fourth step was to interpret the data. I interpreted the data using NVivo 14 software to create the narratives from the sequences and groups. During the interpreting phase, the researcher created narratives from the sequencing and grouping of data (Thomas, 2015). The next step in the data analysis process was data conclusion. Bishop and Kuula-Luumi (2017) suggested that the findings from data conclusions included analysis and discussion of relevant details and information related to the research. The last step drew conclusions from the interpreted data. In analytical terms, this was the process of moving data, to codes, to clusters, to meaningful themes. The process of thematic analysis exposes themes that answer the central research question (Yin, 2018). As the researcher, I addressed the research

question by interpreting the data using the information I obtained from Yin's 5-step process.

## Reliability and Validity

## **Reliability**

In qualitative research, there were four research criteria that researchers use to achieve trustworthiness and accuracy, and they were credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Reliability was a tool researchers use to validate trustworthiness (Koch et al., 2014). A study is reliable when another researcher can replicate the findings of the original study by following the documented process (Hadi & José Closs, 2015). Furthermore, reliability is obtained from the accuracy of interview transcripts, theme coding, and remarks (Nandi & Platt, 2017). Detailed and concise documentation helps the researcher establish reliability (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). McIntosh and Morse (2015) stated that reliability in research revealed dependability and corresponded with reliability in a study, which allowed for the same outcome when other researchers explored the same phenomenon.

Anney (2014) described dependability in research as the resilience of the data when imposed on specific conditions and time progression. Researchers use member checking as a reliable and credible means to validate information (Iivari, 2018). When researchers use member checking to increase dependability measurements, they simultaneously improved the reliability of the findings (Harvey, 2015). I enhanced the dependability of my data results by using member checking. To conduct member checking, I achieved member checking by reviewing the interview transcripts,

summarizing data analyses for each interview questions, providing a readable copy of the synthesis to the participants, asking the participant to confirm the accuracy of the interpretation and continued this process until no new themes was present.

Member checking of a researcher's interpretations added to the overall reliability of the findings. Member checking is the preferred data validation method for qualitative interviewers (Morse, 2015). Morse (2015) suggested three steps in the member checking process ensured reliability: (a) performing the initial interview, (b) interpreting the data from the participant, and (c) sharing the interpretation with the participant for validation. Therefore, I planned to use member checking to ensure the information given during the interviews was authentic by confirming my interpretations as the researcher.

# Validity

To help ensure research validity, I worked to achieve credibility, transferability, confirmability, and data saturation. According to Morse (2015), validity in qualitative research is assessed based on the trustworthiness, rigor, and credibility of the research. Dwork et al. (2015) suggested that qualitative researchers increase their study's quality by ensuring validity. Validity reflected the accuracy of the data collection and analysis process among the participants' perspectives on the research topic (Noble & Smith, 2015). The use of clear and concise language in interviewing increase validity (Yin, 2018). Member checking is the preferred data validation method for qualitative interviewers (Morse, 2015). Moreover, member checking allows participants to confirm, clarify, or augment the accuracy of the interview data (Caretta, 2016). To address validity, I utilized member checking to avoid inconsistencies and to ensure transparency.

## Credibility

I achieved credibility by performing member checking of the data interpretation and methodological triangulation. Lincoln and Guba (1985) indicated that credibility in a study is the confidence that the conclusions are representative of the feedback provided by participants. Credibility in qualitative research is the believability of the study (Elo et al., 2014). Noble and Smith (2015) noted that member checking allowed each study participant to review the collected data from the interview to confirm the interpreted data reaffirmed by the participant.

Researcher member checking helps the researcher establish the credibility of research findings (Petty et al., 2012). Member checking is a process in which participants verify the meaning of researchers' interpretations and elaborate on any details that was unclear (Loh, 2015). Harvey (2015) asserted that researchers who conduct member checking verify the participants' perspectives with the participants, which strengthens credibility. Therefore, to perform member checking, I emailed the participants' individual interpretation summaries to each participant to authenticate and guarantee data accuracy.

# **Transferability**

Transferability in qualitative research is the ability to allocate the findings from one study to another setting, people, and situations (Harvey, 2015). Transferability occurs by providing enough details about the research so that other scholars determined the applicability of the findings to a related research problem (Matamonasa-Bennett, 2015). Researchers achieve transferability by using an interview protocol and probing for detailed, thick descriptions of a phenomenon during semistructured interviews (Yin,

2018). According to Marshall and Rossman (2016), by providing a detailed description of the research context, researchers achieved transferability. When researchers give fluent descriptions, they position readers with the necessary tools to determine whether the study was transferable (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The depth and level of the detail in the background and the context of the findings assists the reader in making decisions on transferability (Yin, 2018). I incorporated significant, rich descriptions in my findings to allow readers the ability to assess the potential transferability appropriateness.

## **Confirmability**

Confirmability was only present after credibility, transferability, and dependability was established, and the evidence and results of a study was reproducible by another researcher (Cope, 2014). Confirmability within a research study involves a degree of neutrality regarding the range to which the respondents shaped the conclusions of a study and not researcher bias (Whittemore et al., 2001). To achieve confirmability, researchers demonstrate precise results that connected to the conclusions in a manner that followed through a process and eventually replicated (Moon et al., 2016). However, I established confirmability by clearly explaining to the participants the purpose of the research study, asking probing questions to ensure their responses were detailed, recording, and transcribing interviews, and administering member checking to give the contributors the ability to authenticate my insight of their interview responses.

#### **Data Saturation**

I ensured data saturation through interviews and methodological triangulation. I accomplished triangulation by analyzing the documentation the participants provided and

described. There is a higher probability of accomplishing data saturation if the data collection was focused (Van der Merwe, 2015). Data saturation is the point in data collection in which no new or relevant information was possible (Dworkin, 2012). Etikan (2016) revealed that data saturation is attained when the participant's responses was repetitive to the researcher. Researchers who reevaluate the data ensures the collection of rich data that supported credible research findings (Leung et al., 2018). To achieve data saturation, I continued to interview patient access leaders in the healthcare industry until no new data emerged, and no additional coding was attainable.

## **Transition and Summary**

As described in Section 2, I was the primary researcher who explored strategies patient access leaders used to engage employees by using a qualitative single case study. I collected data from 8 health care leaders via Zoom in the greater Atlanta, Georgia area. Data collection included semistructured interviews and the use of Press Ganey engagement scores. My goal was to achieve member checking by reviewing and summarizing the interviews, providing the participants with a copy for them to review and confirm the accuracy of the data. I accomplished data saturation after interviewing 8 health care leaders until there were no new themes, and I used Yin's 5 step process to analyze my data.

Within Section 3, I will present the findings, discuss the applications to professional practice, and discuss the implications for social change. Section 3 includes the recommendations for action and for further research. The document is completed with

my reflections on my experience with the study process and the summary and study conclusions.

# Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

#### Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies health care leaders use to engage employees. As the primary researcher, I collected data from eight patient access leaders from a health care facility in the greater Atlanta, George area via Zoom. The semistructured interviews that were conducted consisted of 10 interview questions in which the organizational leaders discussed strategies, they used to increase employee engagement. During the interview process, I utilized eight semistructured interviews and the shared Press Ganey engagement scores. In this study, the data collection process consisted of methodological triangulation of the data assembled via member checking. As measures of reliability and validity. Three themes developed from the data analysis: (a) mentorship, (b) leadership, and (c) teamwork. Therefore, the results of this study provided strategies patient access leaders used to increase employee engagement where engaged employees felt empowered, respected, and passionate about the vision of the department and organization. The findings of this study were grounded in Kahn's employee engagement theory (1990) that was verified and consistent with the literature review.

## **Presentation of the Findings**

The overarching research question for this doctoral study was: What strategies did health care leaders use to engage employees? I conducted semistructured interviews and reviewed Press Ganey engagement scores shared by the participants. I conducted and transcribed 8 interviews using NVivo to code and organize the interview transcripts to

discover themes. Participants were labeled as PH1, PH2, PH3...and PH8 for their identity to remain anonymous. I used an interview protocol to ensure stability of the questions asked of all participants. Each interview was recorded using a recorder and downloaded into NVivo. Once downloaded, NVivo transcribed and coded all interviews. After the interview transcription was completed, I shared a summary of my interpretation of the data for member checking with each participant to confirm the accuracy of their responses to each interview question.

My conceptual framework was EET. Kahn stated that with EET employees physically, intellectually, and emotionally expressed themselves during job performances (Kahn, 1990). From the findings of the interviews there were strategies the participants mentioned that were used by patient access leaders to increase employee engagement. The first theme that the leaders mentioned was that having the necessary skills as a leader is an important strategy necessary to increase employee engagement. The reason being was because the skills would allow the leaders to recognize employees that were engaged and employees that were not engaged. Mentoring their employees was another important strategy that participants used to implement strategies to increase employee engagement. When leaders mentor employees, the employee has a sense of belonging and in turn, the leader will be able to ensure that the departmental and organizational visions and goals are successfully met. Lastly, promoting positive teamwork was an effective strategy patient access leaders utilized to increase employee engagement. Leaders are able to produce a highly productive team when they build relationships, meaning they sincerely take time to learn, encourage, and empower employees. As a result, a positive work

environment is created and employees are less stressed, they are focused, they work well with others, and they produce more, this then will increase profitability and provide the organization with a competitive advantage. An assessment of data from the interviews produced the three primary emerging themes listed in Table 1.

Table 1

Themes

Themes			
Themes	Number of Participants	Mentions	
Mentorship	8	19	
Leadership	8	15	
Teamwork	8	12	

# **Theme 1: Mentorship**

The first theme that appeared from the data analysis was mentorship. Throughout the interviews with the various participants, each leader stressed how important mentorship is when engaging employees. PH1 said, "I'm one that likes to mentor employees and other people, and when you are able to sit down and show concern as an engaged leader, that energy transcends to the employees." PH3 said, "One on one conversations are an effective way to identify engaged and disengaged employees. As the leader, I can do or make comments to help my employees to become engaged or even more engaged." Other participants echoed each other under the belief that when leaders take the time and interest of the employee's needs, ideas, and goals to create or encourage their paths, mentorship and employee engagement are achieved. Another way leaders can mentor engaged employees would be to get to learn the employees and their goals to

promote them within the department and possibly through the organization. In many organizations, engaged employees are searching for ways to grow within their departments therefore, leaders can assist employees by providing career preparation through mentorship programs, which in turn indorses resiliency and team support (Colon et al., 2020). As a result of mentorship, leaders are also able to create a positive work environment, as Ree and Wiig (2020) identified similar findings as Montano et al. (2017) discussed how transformational leadership significantly impacts work engagement and patient safety culture. The conceptual framework for this study is EET. Employees are engaged when they feel an emotional and mental connection to their work (Turner, 2020). One of the strategies leaders can utilize to engage employees would be to develop a mentorship program. The mentorship program will allow employees the ability to learn what their true strengths and weaknesses are and exhibit them in various assignments assigned by their leader. Through this mentorship program, the employee will work closely with their leader and other employees while developing relationships. The purpose of the mentorship will also provide opportunities for the employee to grow within the organization. Through the mentorship program the employee will be engaged and show loyalty and commitment to their work, their leader, and the organization. Therefore, when employees are empowered, they are motivated to achieve outstanding performance levels and leaders are successful with reaching their organizational goals through a positive work environment which is conducive to employee engagement (Vu, 2020). The use of mentorship as an employee engagement strategy, leaders can encourage, arouse, and boost their team.

Furthermore, leaders can use mentorship to empower employees and instill the organization's goals and visions to ensure that others will carry out the plans of the department. In the health care setting, mentoring programs focus on all employees to orient them to the industry expectations besides instilling specific organizational values (Diehn & Tomey-Welsh, 2018). Mentoring could also build self-confidence and career development while supporting effective role modeling (Roberts et al., 2019). PH2 said:

Oh, I love telling them about career opportunities and roles within health care. That's one of the things that's been asked about. I get asked on almost every interview, so they always want to know if being a Patient Access Rep is the last stop? I am like, No. With you, you could move around to go to different, hospitals, clinics, whatever you like.

Zhenyuan et al. (2018) showed the importance of establishing a mentoring process, especially for employees new to the organization. PH1 said:

Suggesting to the employee like hey, you have thoughts and ideas about workflow changes that you're not speaking up about and you are only bringing up suggestions behind closed doors. The employee will share with me what they think, but in front of other people and being open with other people, they are just deathly quiet. And so, I think giving them a goal does work and helps them to become more engaged.

Through mentoring, the mentee could gain self-awareness in understanding what they are capable of and where growth opportunities exist (Ghosh et al., 2019). Overall, mentoring

employees tenured or new, is a positive business strategy leaders could utilize to engage employees.

Mentorship positively correlates with employee engagement and leaders can see an increase in productivity. Organizations create mentoring programs to encourage employees to develop self-confidence and learn more about themselves, and as a result employees will be able to advance in their careers. Engagement can affect an employee's frame of mind, and organizations should work hard to grow and encourage engagement in the connection linking the employee and employer (Ghosh et al., 2019). When leaders recognize employees that are eager to advance and grow within the organization, they must show them the way and in return the employee and the organization benefits from mentorship. Therefore, mentorship is one of the many strategies organizational leaders can apply to increase employee engagement.

# Alignment to Company Documents

For this study, I utilized the organization's Press Ganey engagement scores. The Press Ganey engagement scores are given to employees via email every quarter, and when the results are calculated, each department is now able to see physically how they are doing in the eyes of their employees. The Press Ganey scores are also a good way for leaders to see how many engaged versus disengaged employees are in the department. In the group of questions that are asked, there was only one question that supported mentorship. The question states, "This organization provides career development opportunities." From this question, leaders can learn and know how employees feel about opportunities of growth within the department and organization. The participants that

were able to share this information during the interview showed that more employees in the department felt that the organization did provide opportunities of growth. Therefore, leaders are doing their part with encouraging, motivating, and inspiring employees as well as developing a connection with employees to take risk or develop specific skills. Mentoring depicts itself as a relationship in which a more accomplished individual helps the less experienced one (Foster & Hill, 2019). Moreover, in EET, engaged employees thrive on the connection between them and their leader making mentorship a leader strategy that may increase employee engagement.

## Theme 2: Leadership

The second theme I recognized in this study was leadership. When, managers provide a positive work environment and a supportive workplace this encourages employee engagement (Madan, 2017). Research has also found a significant relationship between leadership and the level of employee engagement (Mulievi & Tsuma, 2021). Implementing employee engagement measures in a leadership style directly impacts employee engagement and employee productivity (Williams et al., 2019). Organizational leaders who promote employee engagement increase motivation and morale (Turner & Turner, 2020). The participants for this study shared that there are many characteristics that a leader should possess to engage employees. Ismail et al. (2021) defined leadership as the personal qualities of a person who can set direction and influence followers by their skills and character in a positive manner that contributes to achieving the goals of an organization. PH4 said,

Being open-minded, fair, and transparent are all traits that a leader should have to

engage employees. Employees trust and respect you as a leader when you take time out of your day and come in dressed like them and work side by side.

Having an inclusive leadership style positively promotes employee engagement in the workplace (Mansoor et al., 2021). PH3 said,

I rely heavily on a one on one with my team individually, not only at their evaluations, but also amid evaluation. Sometimes we try to throw in a quarterly impact meeting with the team. When they come, we ask the staff to come with goals in mind.

Employees who felt valued, empowered, and supported by the leader regarding their personal well-being were highly engaged and better performers than those who did not feel that same relationship (Obuobisa-Darko, 2020). PH5 said, "When employees are self-aware, and they see leaders being transparent, treating everyone equally, feeling like they belong and are contributing to a successful team, engagement instantly increases". Therefore, leadership strategies that increase employee engagement include gaining employee trust by implementing self-awareness, transparency, and incorporating honesty, fairness, and accountability (Yue et al., 2019). Furthermore, from EET, a positive relationship developed by a leader is one of the many factors that drives an engaged employee.

When discussing Kahn's EET, the effects of leadership will either increase engagement or decrease engagement. Leaders are the key factor organizations utilize when engaging employees. Leadership is a critical driver of effective leaders, as leaders shape employee attitudes and behaviors and engage employees, which is an asset that

leads to increased organizational competitiveness and performance (Oh et al., 2018). The relationship between the leader and the employee will make or break an organization. When leaders encourage, empower, and motivate employees, engagement is increased, however, if leaders are negative, condescending and show no concern, then employees are disengaged. Leaders interacting with employees effectively and providing sufficient support are more effective in engaging employees (Parr et al., 2021). Furthermore, leadership is vital to employee engagement because they help to create a work environment that will engage employees and as a result organizations are highly productive and profitable.

In contrast to Kahn's EET, Thibault and Kelley (1959) stated SET is a reciprocity or an exchange of goods between a leader and an employee, also known as a transactional relationship. The basis of SET would be a cost-benefit relationship, meaning the benefit weighs more than the cost. The difference between EET and SET would be that employee engagement happens when meaningfulness, safety, and available resources are present (Kahn, 1990), whereas SET states that an employee may show disengagement when a leader or the organization disappoints an employee's expectations (Lin et al., 2019). Additionally, with SET, leaders will show interest in employees in exchange for the employee to produce and perform, which may not always be an equal transaction. Therefore, in EET, the leader encourages, motivates, and develops positive relationships with an employee, where with SET, the leader and employee go into a relationship to satisfy their own interests.

#### Alignment to Company Documents

During the interview process, many leaders were able to share with me the results of their Press Ganey engagement scores, and under the category of leadership there were several questions. The questions were; "The person I report to treats me with respect", "There is a climate of trust within my work unit", "I am satisfied with the recognition I receive for doing a good job", "I feel well supported by the check-ins my supervisor has with me (1-on-1, rounding/huddles/work meetings)", and "My work gives me a feeling of accomplishment". As a leader, supporting your employees is important and from Kahn's EET, these questions relate to the meaningful condition, which states that employees need to feel wanted and that their jobs matter to the department and organization. Shahid (2019) stated that when leaders are supportive, employees show better engagement in their work and the organization. The results overall showed that leaders in the patient access department were being supportive and encouraging to their employees, however, there was one question that leaders were able to see needs work. Creating a climate of trust is necessary to have engaged employees. Leaders can accomplish this goal when they openly communicate, provide feedback, and trust their employees. Yue et al. (2019) identified that when leaders are creating a positive work environment they must communicate and show transparency to achieve high levels of employee engagement. Additionally, leaders who make strides towards the improvement of their employees will see levels of engagement rise.

## Theme 3: Teamwork

The third theme that emerged from this study was teamwork. In business,

teamwork is very fundamental to organizations and consists of working together, but also includes the relationships that are developed while working together. Therefore, being a supportive leader assists in building and maintaining effective interpersonal relationships (Elsaied, 2019). Teamwork is a prevalent employee engagement strategy because it promotes a positive work environment, and employees are highly productive in a positive work environment. PH2 said, "Leaders are responsible for making the team more cohesive and providing a pleasant work environment." Employee engagement defines how committed employees are to the business and its success (Turner & Turner, 2020). PH2 also said,

You must feel engaged in what it is that you do and have an overall commitment to your team, the department, the environment that you work in. When leaders are developing an engaged team, one of the many goals they should achieve would be getting to know their employees and building a relationship.

#### PH5 said:

I always like to work with my employees and build those relationships. You want to come in the office and say good morning. You want to know about their likes and dislikes. Then when they withdraw emotionally you can recognize the change in their behavior. I feel like I'm able to spot the change if I know them as a person. One concept, leaders also must possess to build a successful team would be trust.

Therefore, the relationship you establish with your employees is a critical tactic to achieve when creating an engaged staff and team.

When leaders want a successful team, they must let the employees know they are there to help, encourage, and can be trusted. In McAuliffe et al. (2019) debated that when leaders have employees that perceive them as trustworthy, they will have an engaged workforce. Buil et al. (2019) argued that engaged employees exhibit higher trust in their organizations and better relationships with organizational leaders. PH8 stated that, "when you really get to know your employees such as their favorite movies or shows, similarities you have with them, and that you are leading them and not dictating to them, they are more engaged and perform not in quantity but quality." When leaders create an environment where employees feel supported, their engagement is positively impacted (Maximo et al., 2019). Overall, teamwork is the result of leaders building positive relationships and gaining their employees trust, therefore, teamwork is a positive leadership strategy that organizational leaders can utilize to engage employees.

With any group, working together as a team is the common goal for an organization. When employees work together, more work is accomplished, and the department is more productive. Developing a highly successful team happens when employees have a high sense of belonging and engagement. Transformational leaders, one of the many leadership styles is best known to promote team unity within the organization. Han et al. (2018) advised that transformational leaders can inspire team members to work toward shared goals which generally results in high team performance. Overall, to effectively achieve high productivity from a successful team, leaders must ensure that employees, have a sense of trust, a strong relationship with the leader and their coworkers, and empowerment to achieve employee engagement.

When leaders are creating a team and utilizing Kahn's EET, they must sincerely take the time to learn their employees, and how they think and operate. The leader must truly have commitment and loyalty from the employee, but they themselves must give the same if not more into the relationship. Teamwork is all about collaborating to produce a good or service, and when you have engaged employees, including the leaders, you have success. Other strategies, leaders can do to ensure that employees are engaged, and work together would be to have ice breakers so employees can get to know each other, communicate openly, listen to suggestions, and provide feedback. These strategies will let the employees know that there leader is supportive and cares about them. Providing feedback to employees through open, honest, and continuous communication may increase engagement (Beer, 2020). In EET, Kahn (1990) stated that when employees feel they are meaningful to the leader and the organization, they in turn are engaged and give all of themselves to their work. Therefore, when leaders provide a positive work environment and show concern for the employee, employees are invested and work as a team to satisfy the organization's vision and goals.

# Alignment to Company Documents

The Press Ganey engagement scores for the selected health care facility addressed teamwork with the following questions: "My coworkers' value individuals with different or diverse background" and "The person I report to treats all employees equitably regardless of their background." In a team setting, employees look to leaders to treat everyone is a fair and just manner. As a leader creating a positive work environment also sets the tone for employees to feel team oriented and invested in their work. Leaders who

promote an environment and culture of cooperation feel they also have a safe place to be innovative and a chance to be creative (Mansoor et al., 2021). The results from the engagement surveys illustrated that patient access leaders were performing well by creating a positive work environment. With EET, to ensure employees are engaged, leaders should consistently work towards the goal of creating a successful team by treating others fairly and equally.

# **Application to Professional Practice**

This study provided strategies organizational leaders utilized to increase employee engagement. Based on the study's findings, organizational leaders used strategies such as mentorship, leadership, and teamwork to increase employee engagement. Transformational leadership is a leadership style, by which leaders build successful organizations by influencing positive changes within the employees and the organization (Warrick, 2018). There are various leadership styles, and, in this study, I discussed transformational leadership which is different from transactional and laissezfaire leadership styles as it combines and uses the style best suited for the individual and not focusing on one individual approach.

From the findings of this study, one of the tactics organizational leaders can employ to increase employee engagement is by creating an environment of trust and developing relationships. An employee will recognize the leader's strategies when they show concern about the well-being of their employees. In recent studies, many employers are promoting that their employees focus on their mental health and encourages self-care. On average, employees are spending a substantial amount of time and effort at work

(Bartels et al., 2019), therefore, it is essential for organizational leaders to ensure that their team remains alert and safe. As a result of a positive work environment, transformational leaders can offer a clear and concise vision, inspiration, present intellectual challenges, and show a genuine interest in employees' needs (Chin et al., 2019; Northouse, 2018). Therefore, when leaders show their employees that they care and they have a sense of belonging, organizational goals are achieved, and productivity is increased by employees that are more invested and engaged in their work.

In contrast, employee productivity loss in the United States costs businesses approximately \$300 million a year, causing businesses to underperform (Bialowolski et al., 2020). The cost of disengaged employees can be overwhelming to a business's productivity and profit margins. Disengaged employees cause an adverse effect on organizational performance and negatively affect competitive advantage through the loss of productivity (Moletsane et al., 2019). The consequences of disengaged individuals can cause undesirable effects, such as productivity losses, decreased performance, and can negatively impact society (Nienaber & Martins, 2020).

The transformational leadership approach allows a leader to make the most of an employees' strengths and mentor them on their weaknesses. Furthermore, managers who adopt this leadership approach can facilitate the rewarding of employees for the achievement of organizational goals and provide corrective measures when faced with failures (Li et al., 2018). Researchers argued that leaders pursue transformational leadership to create a vision of change, provide resources, give individual support, and monitor improvement in the organization (Al Khajeh, 2018). Transformational leaders

use innovation, empowerment, staff development through training, and positive organizational culture (Chammas & Hernandez, 2019). Furthermore, in a transformational leadership, Kahn's EET is the foundation leaders use to assist them when creating strategies to engage employees.

In conclusion, successful employee engagement strategies help business leaders connect employees to the organization, improve their performance, and increase job satisfaction (Kahn, 1990). In EET, Kahn discussed the relationship between engagement and productivity and how leaders can have an influence on employees to be engaged. On the contrary, researchers also will use Kahn's EET to understand why employees become disengaged in the workplace (Rameshkumar, 2020). Kahn's EET continues to be a critical component for various business organizations, and when leaders can engage employees and keep them engaged, organizations can respond to social problems, and this can lead to positive social change.

### **Implications for Social Change**

The implication for positive social change helps organizational leaders promote an employees' professional growth and a progressive work environment. Businesses associate social change by the performance of employees as well as the organization's bottom line. Engaged employees lead to increased productivity and improved organizational performance (Othman et al., 2019). Research has shown there is a positive correlation between employee engagement and productivity (Choudhury et al., 2021). A solid workplace and great relational associations with colleagues are essential for representatives to be positively engaged (Majeed & Jamshed, 2021). The results from

this study might affect social change by providing an understanding of improved patient care through (a) providing quality health care, (b) providing outstanding customer service, and (c) reducing medical costs.

The importance of promoting the value and advancement of employees, leaders, and businesses influences positive social change. The insinuations for positive social change include the potential to improve patient care and social conditions within communities. Organizational leaders can support positive social change by steering employees in the direction of accomplishing the department's visions and goals, as well as improve patient care within the community.

#### **Recommendations for Action**

Organizational leaders should consider the necessary strategies to increase employee engagement. Employee engagement is an employees' obligation to the progression of their positions and the organization in which they work (Saks et al., 2022). How business leaders motivate, support, and appreciate their employees should vary daily to ensure employees are engaged. Businesses are beginning to comprehend the effects of carrying out employee engagement strategies on positive outcomes, including productivity, profitability, and customer satisfaction (Orgambídez & Almeida, 2020). I would make three recommendations following strategies which are based on the results of this study. The three recommendations are: (a) leaders should incorporate mentorship programs to promote employee and career growth, (b) leaders should encourage and promote positive work environments to ensure increased productivity and the achievement of organizational goals, and (c) leaders should support the development of

relationships to recognize the needs of diverse groups through teamwork. The suggested way organizations might distribute these strategies would be through literature, trainings, and interactive simulation.

The findings from this study will initially be distributed through the ProQuest/UMI dissertation database, which may benefit current and future researchers. I will seek additional chances to disseminate this study's findings through distributing articles in scholarly journals and other business-related publications. The emphasis on utilizing a wide assortment of communication channels to disseminate the outcomes is to help organizational leaders in grasping the significance of employee engagement to individual and organizational productivity.

#### **Recommendations for Further Research**

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies business leaders used to increase employee engagement in the healthcare industry in the greater Atlanta area. The study's targeted population consisted of eight health care leaders in a hospital in the greater Atlanta, Georgia area who had successfully implemented strategies to engage employees.

Future researchers can increase the strategies to engage employees by the awareness and application of adaptive leadership strategies. Future researchers may study the provision of supporting documents from the files or data sources to verify the interview data. The extension of research to a more extensive scope of organizations can assist with summing up the outcome findings (Jena et al., 2018). I would also recommend a study that would expand past the healthcare industry into other businesses and expand

the geographic location beyond the greater Atlanta, Georgia area to cover a larger population.

#### Reflections

Reflecting on my doctoral journey, the DBA program has been challenging.

Because I have multiple specializations (leadership and health care management) the process was long but gratifying. There were many days I wanted to quit and walk away from it all. I faced challenges with financial aid, working through a pandemic that heavily affected many, and as an essential worker, I felt an extra amount of grief and stress. By conducting this study, I was able to explore employee engagement strategies that organizational leaders use in the healthcare industry, when I conducted 8 interviews with patient access leaders and the review of Press Ganey engagement scores the participants shared during the interviews.

Personal bias was mitigated in this study because I did not have a personal relationship with the organizational leaders. During the research process, I kept an open mind and gained a newfound understanding of the various strategies, patient access leaders utilize to engage employees. While conducting this study, I learned more about strategies organizational leaders used to engage employees.

#### Conclusion

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies organizational leader use to increase employee engagement. Employee engagement promotes employees' positive work behaviors, which in turn produces higher organizational effectiveness and productivity (Mulievi & Tsuma, 2021). Semistructured

interviews via Zoom, Press Ganey engagement scores, and member checking were used to collect data and ensure my interpretation of the data was accurate. Data was collected from 8 patient access leaders in the healthcare field who are using various strategies to increase employee engagement. To encourage and increase employee engagement, healthcare leaders must focus on empowering and including employees, as well as improve methods on how to show value of their employees and recognize their needs. Overall, from this study, three themes emerged: mentorship, leadership, and teamwork.

The established literature on employee engagement can affect aspects of productivity, however, researchers also suggest that organizations suffer from employees that are disengaged. When leaders strive to increase employee engagement, there must be an understanding and implementation of the effective strategies utilized to engage employees. The findings of this study illustrated that employees are engaged when leaders implement a mentorship program, encourage, and motivate employees through positive relationships, and develops a positive work environment to promote teamwork. Furthermore, when patient access leaders apply these strategies, employees are productive, empowered, and organizations are profitable.

### References

- Abbara, A., & Ekzayez, A. (2021). Healthcare leadership in Syria during armed conflict and the pandemic. *BMJ Global Health*, 6(5), 1–3. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2021-005697">https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2021-005697</a>
- Abelha, D. M., da Costa Carneiro, P. C., & de Souza Costa Neves Cavazotte, F. (2018).

  Transformational leadership and job satisfaction: Assessing the influence of organizational contextual factors and individual characteristics. *Revista Brasileira de Gestao de Negocis*, 20(1), 516–522. <a href="https://doi.org/10.7819/rbgn.v0i0.3949">https://doi.org/10.7819/rbgn.v0i0.3949</a>
- Abid, G., Contreras, F., Ahmed, S., & Qazi, T. (2019). Contextual factors and organizational commitment: Examining the mediating role of thriving at work. Sustainability, 11(17), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11174686
- Adisa, T. A., Ogbonnaya, C., & Adekoya, O. D. (2021). Remote working and employee engagement: A qualitative study of British workers during the pandemic. *Information Technology & People*. 1–31. https://doi.org/10.1108/ITP-12-2020-0850
- Afrahi, B., Blenkinsopp, J., de Arroyabe, J. C. F., & Karim, M. S. (2022). Work disengagement: A review of the literature. *Human Resource Management Review*, 32(2), 100822. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2021.100822
- Ahmad, S. B. S., Mazhar, M. U., Bruland, A., Andersen, B. S., Langlo, J. A., & Torp, O. (2020). Labour productivity statistics: A reality check for the Norwegian construction industry. *International Journal of Construction Management*, 20(1), 39–52. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/15623599.2018.1462443">https://doi.org/10.1080/15623599.2018.1462443</a>

- Akgunduz, Y. (2015). The influence of self-esteem and role stress on job performance in hotel businesses, *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality*Management, 27(6), 1082–1099. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-09-2013-0421
- Alavi, S. T., Rabah, S., & Jones, A. (2021). Studying transactional and transformational leader and leadership in government and private organization in UAE.

  International Journal of Management, 12(4), 808–820.

  https://doi.org/10.34218/IJM.12.4.2021.068
- Ali, S. R. (2019). View of the effect of motivation in organizations. *International Journal of Social Science and Humanities Research*, 2(5), 8–17.

  <a href="http://ijojournals.com/index.php/ssh/article/view/139">http://ijojournals.com/index.php/ssh/article/view/139</a>
- Alilyyani, B., Wong, C., & Cummings, G. (2018). Antecedents, mediators, and outcomes of authentic leadership in healthcare: A systematic review. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*. 83, 34–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2018.04.001
- Al Khajeh, E. H. (2018). Impact of leadership styles on organizational performance. *Journal of Human Resources Management Research*, 2018, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.5171/2018.687849
- Alrawahi, S., Sellgren, S. F., Altouby, S., Alwahaibi, N., & Brommels, M. (2020). The application of Herzberg's two-factor theory of motivation to job satisfaction in clinical laboratories in Omani hospitals. *Heliyon*, 6(9), e04829.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e04829">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e04829</a>

- Al-Tkhayneh, K., Kot, S., & Shestak, V. (2019). Motivation and demotivation factors affecting productivity in public sector. *Administratie si Management Public*, *33*, 77–102. https://doi.org/10.24818/amp/2019.33-05
- Amankwaa, A., Gyensare, M. A., & Susomrith, P. (2019). Transformational leadership with innovative behavior. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 40(4), 402–420. https://doi.org/10.1108/lodj-10-2018-0358
- Amiri, E., Heidari, K., Khezri, A., Imani, A., & Faraji-Khiavi, F. (2017). A survey of job satisfaction among staff of Jundishapur medical teaching hospitals in Ahvaz; based on Herzberg's two-factor model. *Tasvir-I Salamat*, 8(1), 3–10. <a href="http://dohweb.tbzmed.ac.ir">http://dohweb.tbzmed.ac.ir</a>
- Anand, S., Vidyarthi, P., & Rolnicki, S. (2018). Leader-member exchange and organizational citizenship behaviors: Contextual effects of leader power distance and group task interdependence. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 29(4), 489–500. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2017.11.002
- Anitha, J. (2014). Determinants of employee engagement and their impact on employee performance. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance*Management, 63(3), 308–323. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-01-2013-0008
- Ann, S., & Blum, S. C. (2020). Motivating senior employees in the hospitality industry. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 32(1), 324–346. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijchm-08-2018-0685
- Anney, V. N. (2014). Ensuring the quality of the findings of qualitative research:

  Looking at trustworthiness criteria. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Educational*

Research and Policy Studies, 5(2). 272–281.

https://www.jeteraps.scholarlinkresearch.org

- Archibald, M., Ambagtsheer, R., Casey, M., & Lawless, M. (2019). Using zoom videoconferencing for qualitative data collection: Perceptions and experiences of researchers and participants. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18, 1–8. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919874596">https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919874596</a>
- Asif, M., Jameel, A., Hussain, A., Hwang, J., & Sahito, N. (2019). Linking transformational leadership with nurse-assessed adverse patient outcomes and the quality of care: assessing the role of job satisfaction and structural empowerment. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 16(13), 2381. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16132381">https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16132381</a>
- Aslam, M. Z., Omar, S., Nazri, M., Bustaman, H. A., & Yousif, M. M. M. (2022).

  Interpersonal leadership and job engagement: Testing the mediating role of deep acting, initiative climate and learning goal orientation. *Journal of Organizational Effectiveness: People and Performance*, 9(1), 130–148.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/JOEPP-07-2020-0130">https://doi.org/10.1108/JOEPP-07-2020-0130</a>
- Aspers, P., & Corte, U. (2019). What is qualitative in qualitative research. *Qualitative* sociology, 42, 139–160. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11133-019-9413-7">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11133-019-9413-7</a>
- Asrar-ul-Haq, M., & Kuchinke, K. P. (2016). Impact of leadership styles on employees' attitude towards their leader and performance: Empirical evidence from Pakistani banks. *Future Business Journal*, 2(1), 54–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fbj.2016.05.002

- Avolio, B. J., Bass, B. M., & Jung, D. (1999). Re-examining the components of transformational and transactional leadership using the multifactor leadership questionnaire. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 72(4), 441–462. https://doi.org/10.1348/096317999166789
- Babakus, E., Yavas, U., & Karatepe, O. M. (2017). Work engagement and turnover intentions: Correlates and customer orientation as a moderator. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 29(6), 1580–1598. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-11-2015-0649
- Bailey, C., Madden, A., Alfes, K., & Fletcher, L. (2017). The meaning, antecedents and outcomes of employee engagement: A narrative synthesis. *International Journal of Management Review*, *19*(1), 31–53. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/ijmr.12077">https://doi.org/10.1111/ijmr.12077</a>
- Bakker, A. B., Demerouti, E., & Sanz-Vergel, A. (2022). Job demands—resources theory: Ten years later. *Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior*, 10, 25–53. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-120920-053933
- Bakker, A. B., Hakanen, J. J., Demerouti, E., & Xanthopoulou, D. (2007). Job resource boost work engagement, particularly when job demands are high. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 99(2), 274–284. https://doi.org/10.10370022-0663.99.2.274
- Banks, G. C., Gooty, J., Ross, R. L., Williams, C. E., & Harrington, N. T. (2018).

  Construct redundancy in leader behaviors: A review and agenda for the future. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 29(1), 236–251.

## https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2017.12.005

- Bartels, A. L., Peterson, S. J., & Reina, C. S. (2019). Understanding well-being at work:

  Development and validation of the eudaimonic workplace wellbeing scale. *PLOS One*, *14*(4), e0215957. <a href="https://doi:0.1371/journal.pone.0215957">https://doi:0.1371/journal.pone.0215957</a>
- Bass, B. M. (1985). Leadership: Good, Better, Best. *Organizational Dynamics*, *13*(3), 26–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/0090-2616(85)90028-2
- Bass, B. M. (1990). From transactional to transformational leadership: Learning to share the vision. *Organizational Dynamics*, *18*(3), 19–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/0090-2616(90)90061-S
- Bass, B. M. (1998). *Transformational leadership: Industrial, military, and educational impact*. Lawrence Earlbaum Associates, Publishers.
- Bass, B. M. (1999). Two decades of research and development in transformational leadership. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 8(1), 9–32. https://doi.org/10.1080/135943299398410
- Bassett ). Does, Ner & drig y dnot i @a (2005) heavy have staying power? Journal of Management Development, 24(10), 929–943, https://doi.org/10.1108/02621710510627064
- Bastemeijer, C. M., Boosman, H., van Ewijk, H., Verweij, L. M., Voogt, L., & Hazelzet, J. A. (2019). Patient experiences: A systematic review of quality improvement interventions in a hospital setting. *Patient Related Outcome Measures*, 157–169. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2147/PROM.S201737">https://doi.org/10.2147/PROM.S201737</a>
- Becker's Hospital Review. (2016, June 21). Changing healthcare means changing

organizational culture: 3 health system leaders weigh in.

https:www.beckerhospitalreview.com/hospital-management-

administration/changing-healthcare-means-changing-organizational-culture-3-health-system-leaders-weigh-in.html

Beer, M. (2020). Why honest conversations are transformative. *Organizational Change* and *Development*, 28, 211–238.

https://doi.org/10.1108/s0897- 3016202000000028008

- Bell, E., Bryman, A., & Harley, B. (2018). *Business Research Methods* (5th ed.). Oxford University Press.
- Bellows, M., Kovacs Burns, K., Jackson, K., Surgeoner, B., & Gallivan, J. (2015).

  Meaningful and effective patient engagement: What matters most to stakeholders.

  Patient Experience Journal, 2(1), 18–28.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.35680/2372-0247.1069">https://doi.org/10.35680/2372-0247.1069</a>
- Bialowolski, P., McNeely, E., VanderWeele, T. J., & Weziak-Bialowolska, D. (2020). Ill health and distraction at work: Costs and drivers for productivity loss. *PLOS ONE*, *15*(3), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0230562
- Bian, X., Sun, Y., Zuo, Z., Xi, J., Xiao, Y., Wang, D., & Xu, G. (2019). Transactional leadership and employee safety behavior: Impact of safety climate and psychological empowerment. *Social Behavior and Personality: An International Journal*, 47(6), 1–9. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.7295">https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.7295</a>
- Bianchi, R., Schonfeld, I. S., & Laurent, E. (2019). Burnout: Moving beyond the status quo. *International journal of stress management*, 26(1), 36–45.

## https://doi.org/10.1037/str0000088

Birimoglu Okuyan, C., & Begen, M. A. (2022). Working from home during the COVID -

19 pandemic, its effects on health, and recommendations: The pandemic and beyond. *Perspectives in Psychiatric Care*, *58*(1), 173–179. https://doi.org/10.1111/ppc.12847

- Bishop, L., & Kuula-Luumi, A. (2017). Revisiting qualitative data reuse: A decade on. *Sage Open*, 7(1), 1–15. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244016685136">https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244016685136</a>
- Blau, P. (1964). Exchange and power in social life. Wiley.
- Bleiker, J., Morgan-Trimmer, S., Knapp, K., & Hopkins, S. (2019). Navigating the maze:

  Qualitative research methodologies and their philosophical
  foundations. *Radiography*, 25, S4–S8.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radi.2019.06.008">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radi.2019.06.008</a>
- Boamah, S. A., Spence Laschinger, H. K., & Wong, C. (2018). Effect of transformational leadership on job satisfaction and patient safety outcomes.

  \*Nursing Outlook, 66(2), 180–189. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.outlook.2017.10.004">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.outlook.2017.10.004</a>
- Boddy, C. R. (2016). Sample size for qualitative research. *Qualitative Market Research*, 19(4), 426–432. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/QMR-06-2016-0053">https://doi.org/10.1108/QMR-06-2016-0053</a>
- Book, L., Gatling, A., & Kim, J. (2019). The effects of leadership satisfaction on employee engagement, loyalty, and retention in the hospitality industry. *Journal of Human Resources in Hospitality & Tourism*, 18(3), 368–393. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/15332845.2019.1599787">https://doi.org/10.1080/15332845.2019.1599787</a>

- Borah, N., & Barua, M. (2018). Employee engagement: A critical review of literature.

  \*\*Journal of Organization & Human Behavior, 7(4), 22–30.\*\*

  https://publishingindia.com/johb/
- Brear, M. (2018). Process and outcomes of a recursive dialogic member checking approach: A project ethnography. *Qualitative Health Research*, 29, 944–957. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732318812448
- Breevaart, K., & Bakker, A. B. (2018). Daily job demands and employee work engagement: The role of daily transformational leadership behavior. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 23(3), 338–349.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000082">https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000082</a>
- Breevaart, K., & Zacher, H. (2019). Main and interactive effects of weekly transformational and laissez-faire leadership on followers' trust in the leader and leader effectiveness. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 92(2), 384–409. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/joop.12253">https://doi.org/10.1111/joop.12253</a>
- Brennan, P. F., & Bakken, S. (2015). Nursing needs big data and big data needs nursing:

  Nursing needs big data. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 47(5), 477–484.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/jnu.12159">https://doi.org/10.1111/jnu.12159</a>
- Bruning, P. F., & Campion, M. A. (2019). Exploring job crafting: Diagnosing and responding to the ways employees adjust their jobs. *Business Horizons*, 62(5), 625–635. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2019.05.003
- Brunow, S., & Nijkamp, P. (2018). The impact of a culturally diverse workforce on firms' revenues and productivity: An empirical investigation on

- Germany. *International Regional Science Review*, *41*(1), 62–85. https://doi.org/10.1177/0160017616642820
- Budrienė, D., & Diskienė, D. (2020). Employee engagement: types, levels, and relationship with practice of HRM. *Malaysian e commerce journal*, 4(2), 42–47. https://doi.org/10.26480/mecj.02.2020.42.47
- Buil, I., Martínez, E., & Matute, J. (2019). Transformational leadership and employee performance: The role of identification, engagement, and proactive personality. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 77, 64–75.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2018.06.014">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2018.06.014</a>
- Burns, J. M. (1978). Leadership. Harper & Row.
- Bussin, M., & Mouton, H. (2019). Effectiveness of employer branding on staff retention and compensation expectations. *South African Journal of Economic and Management Sciences*, 22(1), 1–8. <a href="https://doi.org/10.4102/sajems.v22i1.2412">https://doi.org/10.4102/sajems.v22i1.2412</a>
- Byrd, M. Y. (2023). HRD Practice: Who Is Doing the Work?. *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, 25(1), 3–4. https://doi.org/10.1177/15234223221140162
- Byun, G., Dai, Y., Lee, S., & Kang, S. (2017). Leader trust, competence, LMX, and member performance: A moderated mediation framework. *Psychological Reports*, 120(6), 1137–1159. https://doi.org/10.1177/0033294117716465
- Cairney, P., & St Denny, E. (2015). What is qualitative research (Bloomsbury).

  International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 18(1), 117–125.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2014.957434
- Cairns-Lee, H., Lawley, J., & Tosey, P. (2022). Enhancing researcher reflexivity about

- the influence of leading questions in interviews. *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, 58(1), 164–188. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/00218863211037446">https://doi.org/10.1177/00218863211037446</a>
- Campbell, J. L., Quincy, C., Osserman, J., & Pedersen, O. K. (2013). Coding in-depth semistructured interviews: Problems of unitization and intercoder reliability and agreement. *Sociological Methods & Research*, 42(3), 294–320. https://doi.org/10.1177/0049124113500475
- Campos-García, I., & Zúñiga-Vicente, J. Á. (2019). The impact of a leader's demographic and professional characteristics on employee motivation: Do they really matter?. *Employee Relations*, *41*(1), 119–141.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/ER-10-2017-0253">https://doi.org/10.1108/ER-10-2017-0253</a>
- Caniëls, M. C. J., Semeijn, J. H., & Renders, I. H. M. (2018). Mind the mindset! The interaction of proactive personality, transformational leadership, and growth mindset for engagement at work. *Career Development International*, 23(1), 48–66. https://doi.org/10.1108/CDI-11-2016-0194
- Caretta, M. A. (2016). Member checking: A feminist participatory analysis of the use of preliminary results pamphlets in cross-cultural, cross-language research.

  \*Qualitative Research\*, 16(3), 305–318. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1177/1468794115606495">http://doi.org/10.1177/1468794115606495</a>
- Carmeli, A., & Hoffer, J. (2009). "High-quality relationships, psychological safety, and learning from failures in work organizations", *Journal of Organizational Behavior: The International Journal of Industrial, Occupational and Organizational Psychological Behavior, 30*(6), 709–729.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/job.565">https://doi.org/10.1002/job.565</a>

- Carollo, L., & Solari, L. (2019). Discourses of professionalism in front-line service work:

  Insights from a case study in an Italian Bank. *Work, Employment & Society*,

  33(5), 829–845. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0950017019846413">https://doi.org/10.1177/0950017019846413</a>
- Castro, E. M., Van Regenmortel, T., Vanhaecht, K., Sermeus, W., & Van Hecke, A. (2016). Patient empowerment, patient participation and patient-centeredness in hospital care: A concept analysis based on a literature review. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 99(12), 1923–1939. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2016.07.026">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2016.07.026</a>
- Cengiz, M., Karatas, O. F., Koparir, E., Yavuzer, S., Ali, C., Yavuzer, H., Kirat, E., Karter, Y., & Ozen, M. (2015). Differential expression of hypertension-associated microRNAs in the plasma of patients with white coat hypertension. *Medicine*, *94*(13), e693. https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.0000000000000000093
- Chammas, C. B., & Hernandez, J. M. (2019). Comparing transformational and instrumental leadership: The influence of different leadership styles on individual employee and financial performance in Brazilian startups. *Innovation & Management Review, 16*(2), 143–160.

  https://doi.org/10.1108/INMR-08-2018-0064
- Chang-E, L., Chen, Y., He, W., & Huang, J. (2019). Supervisor incivility and millennial employee creativity: A moderated mediation model. Social Behavior & Personality: *An International Journal*, 47(9), 1–11.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.8365">https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.8365</a>
- Chaudhary, R., & Akhouri, A. (2019). CRS perceptions and employee creativity:

Examining serial meditation effects of meaningfulness and work engagement. Social Responsibility Journal, 15(1), 61–74. https://doi.org/10.1108/SRJ-01-2018-0018

- Chawla, P. (2019). Impact of employer branding on employee engagement in business process outsourcing (BPO) sector in India: Mediating effect of person organization fit. *Industrial and Commercial Training*, 52(1), 35–49.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/ICT-06-2019-0063">https://doi.org/10.1108/ICT-06-2019-0063</a>
- Chen, S.-C., & Liu, N.-T. (2019). When and how vicarious abusive supervision leads to bystanders' supervisor-directed deviance: A moderated-mediation model. *Personnel Review*, 48(7), 1734–1755.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/pr-09-2018-0368">https://doi.org/10.1108/pr-09-2018-0368</a>
- Chen, T., Li, F., & Leung, K. (2016). When does supervisor support encourage innovative behavior? Opposite moderating effects of general self-efficacy and internal locus of control: Supervisor support and innovative behavior. *Personnel Psychology*, 69(1), 123–158.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12104">https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12104</a>
- Chin, T. L., Yap Peng Lok, S., & Kee Peng Kong, P. (2019). Does transformational leadership influence employee engagement. *Global Business & Management Research*, 11(2). 92–97.
- Choudhury, S., Das Mohapatra, A. K., & Mohanty, M. K. (2021). Factors predicting employee engagement in Indian manufacturing sector. *International Journal of Services and Operations Management*, 38(1), 92–109.

## https://doi.org/10.1504/ijsom.2021.112520

- Colon, A., Gillihan, R., & Motaparthi, K. (2020). Factors contributing to burnout in dermatologists, *Clinics in Dermatology*, *38*(3), 321–327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clindermatol.2020.02.002
- Cooper-Thomas, H. D., & Morrison, R. L. (2018). Give and take: Needed updates to social exchange theory. *Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, 11(3), 493–498. https://doi.org/10.1017/iop.2018.101
- Cope, D. G. (2014). Methods and meanings: Credibility and trustworthiness of qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 41(1), 89–91. https://doi.org/10.1188/14.ONF.89-91
- Dansereau, F., Graen, G. B., & Haga, W. (1975). A vertical dyad linkage approach to leadership within formal organizations: A longitudinal investigation of the role making process. *Organizational Behavior and Human Performance*, *13*(1), 46–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/0030-5073(75)90005-7
- Darvishmotevali, M., Arasli, H., & Kilic, H. (2017). Effect of job insecurity on frontline employee's performance: Looking through the lens of psychological strains and leverages. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 29(6), 1724–1744. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-12-2015-0683
- Dehghan-Nayeri, N., Khakbazan, Z., Ghafoori, F., & Nabavi, S. M. (2017).

  Sexual dysfunction levels in Iranian women suffering from multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders*, 12, 49–53.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msard.2017.01.005">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msard.2017.01.005</a>

- DeJonckheere, M., & Vaughn, L. M. (2019). Semistructured interviewing in primary care research: A balance of relationship and rigour. *Family Medicine and Community health*, 7(2), e000057. https://doi.org/10.1136/fmch-2018-000057
- Dello Russo, S., Mascia, D., & Morandi, F. (2018). Individual perceptions of HR practices, HRM strength and appropriateness of care: A meso, multilevel approach. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 29(2), 286–310. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2016.1165276">https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2016.1165276</a>
- Demerouti, E., Bakker, A. B., Nachreiner, F., & Schaufeli, W. B. (2001). The job demands-resource model of burnout. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 86(3), 499–512. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.83.3.499">https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.83.3.499</a>
- Denzin, N. K. (2012). Triangulation 2.0. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 6(2), 80–88. https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689812437186
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2011). *The SAGE handbook of qualitative research*.

  Sage Publications.
- Dhanpat, N., Modau, F. D., Lugisani, P., Mabojane, R., & Phiri, M. (2018). Exploring employee retention and intention to leave within a call center. *SA Journal of Human Resource Management*, *16*(1), 1–13.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.4102/sajhrm.v16i0.905">https://doi.org/10.4102/sajhrm.v16i0.905</a>
- Diebig, M., & Bormann, K. C. (2020). The dynamic relationship between laissez-faire leadership and day-level stress: A role theory perspective. *German Journal of Human Resource Management*, *34*(3), 324–344. https://doi.org/10.1177/2397002219900177

- Diehn, E. W., & Tomey-Welsh, E. (2018). Mentoring and gender: Perception is not reality, *Career Development International*, 24(4), 346–359. https://doi.org/10.1108/CDI-11-2017-0198
- Dienesch, R. M., & Liden, R. C. (1986). Leader-Member exchange model of leadership: A critique and further development. *Academy of Management Review*, 11(3), 618–634. <a href="https://doi.org/10.5465/AMR.1986.4306242">https://doi.org/10.5465/AMR.1986.4306242</a>
- Donkor, F., & Zhou, D. (2020). Organizational commitment influences on the relationship between transactional and laissez- faire leadership styles and employee performance in the Ghanaian public service environment. *Journal of Psychology in Africa*, 30(1), 30–36.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/14330237.2020.1712808
- Doody, O., & Noonan, M. (2013). Preparing and conducting interviews to collect data.

  Nurse Researcher, 20(5), 28–32. https://www.nurseresearcher.co.uk
- Dwork, C., Feldman, V., Hardt, M., Pitassi, T., Reingold, O., & Roth, A. (2015). The reusable holdout: Preserving validity in adaptive data analysis. *Science*, 349(6248), 636–638. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaa9375
- Dworkin, S. L. (2012). Sample size policy for qualitative studies using indepth interviews. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, *41*(6), 1319–1320. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-012-0016-6
- Edelbroek, R., Peters, P., & Blomme, R. J. (2019). Engaging in open innovation:

  The mediating role of work engagement in the relationship between transformational and transactional leadership and the quality of the open

- innovation process as perceived by employees. *Journal of General Management*, 45(1), 5–17. https://doi.org/10.1177/0306307019844633
- Edmunds, M. (2019). Promoting consumer engagement in health and health care. *Consumer Informatics and Digital Health*, *1*, 3–24. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-96906-0\_1
- Eken, I., Özturgut, O., & Craven, A. E. (2014). Leadership styles and cultural intelligence. *Journal of Leadership, Accountability and Ethics*, 11(3), 154–165.
- Eldor, L., Harpaz, I., & Westman, M. (2020). The work/nonwork spillover: The enrichment role of work engagement. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 27(1), 21–34. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051816647362
- Eldor, L., & Vigoda-Gadot, E. (2017). The nature of employee engagement: Rethinking the employee-organization relationship. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 28(3), 526–552. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2016.1180312
- Elo, S., Kääriäinen, M., Kanste, O., Pölkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngäs, H. (2014).

  Qualitative content analysis: A focus on trustworthiness. *SAGE Open*,

  4(1), 215824401452263. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244014522633">https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244014522633</a>
- Elsaied, M. M. (2019). Supportive leadership proactive personality and employee voice behavior: The mediating role of psychological safety. *American Journal of Business*, *34*(1), 2-18. https://doi.org/10.1108/AJB-01-2017-0004
- Ennis, M. C., Gong, T., & Okpozo, A. Z. (2018). Examining the mediating roles of affective and normative commitment in the relationship between transformational

- leadership practices and turnover intention of government employees. *International Journal of Public Administration*, 41, 203–215.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/01900692.2016.1256894">https://doi.org/10.1080/01900692.2016.1256894</a>
- Estel, V., Schulte, E.-M., Spurk, D., & Kauffeld, S. (2019). LMX differentiation is good for some and bad for others: A multilevel analysis of effects of LMX differentiation in innovation teams. *Cogent Psychology*, *6*(1), 1614306. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311908.2019.1614306
- Etikan, I. (2016). Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, 5(1), 1–4. <a href="https://doi.org/10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11">https://doi.org/10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11</a>
- Ewing, M., Men, L. R., & O'Neil, J. (2019). Using social media to engage employees:

  Insights from internal communication managers. *International Journal of Strategic Communication*, *13*(2), 110–132.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/1553118X.2019.1575830">https://doi.org/10.1080/1553118X.2019.1575830</a>
- Fagerholm, N., Raymond, C. M., Olafsson, A. S., Brown, G., Rinne, T., Hasanzadeh, K., Broberg, A., & Kyttä, M. (2021). A methodological framework for analysis of participatory mapping data in research, planning, and management. *International Journal of Geographical Information Science*, *35*(9), 1848–1875. https://doi.org/10.1080/13658816.2020.1869747
- Falco, A., Girardi, D., Dal Corso, L., Yıldırım, M., & Converso, D. (2021). The perceived risk of being infected at work: An application of the job demands—resources model to workplace safety during the COVID-19 outbreak. *PLOS*

- One, 16(9), e0257197. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0257197
- Feeney, J. R., Gellatly, I. R., Goffin, R. D., & Inness, M. (2020). Organizational attachment. *Journal of Personnel Psychology*, 19(3), 113–124. https://doi.org/10.1027/1866-5888/a000252
- Fetterman, D. M. (2019). Ethnography: Step-by-step. Sage Publications.
- Fischer, S., Hyder, S., & Walker, A. (2020). The effect of employee affective and cognitive trust in leadership on organisational citizenship behaviour and organisational commitment: Meta-analytic findings and implications for trust research. *Australian Journal of Management*, *45*(4), 662–679.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0312896219899450">https://doi.org/10.1177/0312896219899450</a>
- Fletcher, L. (2019). How can personal development lead to increased engagement?

  The roles of meaningfulness and perceived line manager relations. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, *30*(7), 1203–1226.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2016.1184177">https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2016.1184177</a>
- Foster, T., & Hill, J. J. (2019). Mentoring and career satisfaction among emerging nurse scholars. *International Journal of Evidence-Based Coaching & Mentoring*, 17(2), 20–35. https://doi.org/10.24384/43ej-fq85
- Fusch, P., & Ness, L. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(9), 1408–1416. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2015.2281
- Gemeda, H. K., & Lee, J. (2020). Leadership styles, work engagement and outcomes among information and communications technology professionals: A cross-

- national study. *Heliyon*, *6*(4), e03699. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e03699
- Getachew, D. S., & Zhou, E. (2018). The influences of transformational leadership on collective efficacy: The moderating role of perceived organizational support.

  \*International Journal of Organizational Innovation, 10(4), 7–15.
- Ghazawy, E. R., Mahfouz, E. M., Mohammed, E. S., & Refaei, S. A. (2021). Nurses' work engagement and its impact on the job outcomes. *International Journal of Healthcare Management*, *14*(2), 320–327. https://doi.org/10.1080/20479700.2019.1644725
- Ghosh, R., Shuck, B., Cumberland, D., & D'Mello, J. (2019). Building psychological capital and employee engagement: Is formal mentoring a useful strategic human resource development intervention? *Performance Improvement Quarterly*, 32(1), 37–54. https://doi.org/10.1002/piq.21285
- Gibson, S., Benson, O., & Brand, S. L. (2013). Talking about suicide: Confidentiality and anonymity in qualitative research. *Nursing Ethics*, 20(1), 18–29. https://doi.org/10.1177/0969733012452684
- Gibson, W., Webb, H., & vom Lehn, D. (2014). Analytic affordance: Transcripts as conventionalized systems in discourse studies. *Sociology*, *48*(4), 780–794. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038038514532876
- Giddens, J. (2018). Transformational leadership: What every nursing dean should know.

  \*\*Journal of Professional Nursing, 34(2), 117–121.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.profnurs.2017.10.004

- Gishu, T., Weldetsadik, A. Y., & Tekleab, A. M. (2019). Patients' perception of quality of nursing care; A tertiary center experience from Ethiopia. *BMC Nursing*, 18(1), 1–6. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-019-0361-z">https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-019-0361-z</a>
- Goldstein, K. M., Vogt, D., Hamilton, A., Frayne, S. M., Gierisch, J., Blakeney, J., Sadler, A., Bean-Mayberry, B. M., Carney, D., DiLeone, B., Fox, A. B., Klap, R., Yee, E., Romodan, Y., Strehlow, H., Yosef, J., & Yano, E. M. (2018). Practice-based research networks add value to evidence-based quality improvement. *Healthcare*, 6(2), 128–134.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hjdsi.2017.06.008
- Grady, C. (2019). The continued complexities of paying research participants. *The American Journal of Bioethics*. *19*(9), 5–7.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/15265161.2019.1643654">https://doi.org/10.1080/15265161.2019.1643654</a>
- Graen, G. B., & Uhl-Bien, M. (1995). Relationship-based approach to leadership: Development of leader-member exchange (LMX) theory of leadership over 25 years: Applying a multi-level multi-domain perspective. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 6(2), 219–247. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/1048-9843(95)90036-5">https://doi.org/10.1016/1048-9843(95)90036-5</a>
- Granot, E., Brashear, T. G., & Cesar Motta, P. (2012). A structural guide to in-depth interviewing in business and industrial marketing research. *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, 27(7), 547–553.

  https://doi.org/10.1108/08858621211257310
- Groves, K. S. (2020). Testing a moderated mediation model of transformational leadership, values, and organization change. *Journal of*

- *Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 27(1), 35–48. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051816662614
- Guest, G., Namey, E., & Chen, M. (2020). A simple method to assess and report thematic saturation in qualitative research. *PloS one*, *15*(5), e0232076. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232076
- Gupta, M., & Shukla, K. (2018). An empirical clarification on the assessment of engagement at work. *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, 20(1), 44–57. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1523422317741692">https://doi.org/10.1177/1523422317741692</a>
- Gupta, U. (2013). Informed consent in clinical research: Revisiting few concepts and areas. *Perspectives in Clinical Research*, *4*(1), 26–32. https://doi.org/10.4103/2229-3485.106373
- Gutland, C. (2018). Husserlian phenomenology as a kind of introspection. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *9*, 896. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00896
- Haddon, J. (2018). The impact of employees' well-being on performance in the workplace. *Strategic HR Review*, 17(2), 72–75. https://doi.org/10.1108/shr-01-2018-0009
- Hadi, M. A., & José Closs, S. (2015). Ensuring rigor and trustworthiness of qualitative research in clinical pharmacy. *International Journal of Clinical Pharmacy*, 38, 641–646. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11096-015-0237-6
- Håkansson Eklund, J., Holmström, I. K., Kumlin, T., Kaminsky, E., Skoglund, K., Höglander, J., Sundler, A. J., Conden, E., & Summer Merenius, M. (2019). Same same or different? A review of reviews of person-centred and patient-centred

-performance v

- care. Patient Education and Counseling, (1), 3–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2018.08.029
- Halkias, D., & Neubert, M. (2020). Extension of theory in leadership and management studies using the multiple case study design. *International Leadership Journal*, 12(2), 48–73. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3586256
- Hamilton Skurak, H., Malinen, S., Näswall, K., & Kuntz, J. C. (2021). Employee wellbeing: The role of psychological detachment on the relationship between engagement and work–life conflict. *Economic and Industrial Democracy*, 42(1), 116–141. https://doi.org/10.1177/0143831X17750473
- Hammarberg, K., Kirkman, M., & de Lacey, S. (2016). Qualitative research methods:

  When to use them and how to judge them. *Human Reproduction*, *31*(3), 498–501.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dev334">https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dev334</a>
- Hameduddin, T., & Engbers, T. (2022). Leadership and public service motivation: A systematic synthesis. *International Public Management Journal*, 25(1), 86–119. https://doi.org/10.1080/10967494.2021.1884150
- Han, S.-H., Oh, E. G., & Kang, S. P. (2020). The link between transformational leadership and work-related performance: moderated-mediating roles of meaningfulness and job characteristics. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 41(4), 519–533. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/lodj-04-2019-0181">https://doi.org/10.1108/lodj-04-2019-0181</a>
- Han, J. H., Liao, H., Taylor, M. S., & Kim, S. (2018). Effects of high systems on transformational leadership and team performance: Investigating the moderating roles of organizational orientations. *Human Resource Management*,

- 57(5), 1065–1082. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21886">https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21886</a>
- Hannah, S. T., Perez, A. L. U., Lester, P. B., & Quick, J. C. (2020).
  Bolstering workplace psychological well-being through transactional and transformational leadership. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 27(3), 222–240. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051820933623
- Hansen, N. (2018). Just what is it that makes Travis's examples so different, so appealing? *Oxford Scholarship Online*. https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780198783916.003.0006
- Hao, P., He, W., & Long, L.-R. (2018). Why and when empowering leadership has different effects on employee work performance: The pivotal roles of passion for work and role breadth self-efficacy. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 25(1), 85–100. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051817707517
- Haque, A., Fernando, M., & Caputi, P. (2021)."Responsible leadership and employee outcomes: A systematic literature review, integration, and propositions", *Asia-Pacific Journal of Business Administration*, *13*(3), 383–408.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/APJBA-11-2019-0243">https://doi.org/10.1108/APJBA-11-2019-0243</a>
- Haque, A., Fernando, M., & Caputi, P. (2019). Responsible leadership, affective commitment and intention to quit: An individual level analysis. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 40(1), 45–64.
  https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-12-2017-0397
- Harandi, S. R., & Abdolvand, N. (2018). Investigating the effect of online and offline workplace communication networks on employees' job performance: Considering

- the role of culture. *Journal of Global Information Technology Management*, 21(1), 26–44. https://doi.org/10.1080/1097198x.2018.1423839
- Harber, G. G., & McMaster, C. C. (2018). Adapting servant leadership to follower maturity: A dynamic leadership approach for a diver environment. *Servant Leadership: Theory & Practice*, *5*(1). 69–83.

  <a href="https://csuepress.columbusstate.edu/sltp/vol5/iss1/5">https://csuepress.columbusstate.edu/sltp/vol5/iss1/5</a>
- Harvey, L. (2015). Beyond member-checking: A dialogic approach to the research interview. *International Journal of Research and Method in Education*, 38(1), 23–38. https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727x.2014.914487
- Haynie, J. J., Flynn, C. B., & Baur, J. E. (2019). The organizational justice jobs engagement relationship: How social exchange and identity explain this effect. 

  \*Journal of Managerial Issues, 31(1), 28–45.\*

  https://www.pittstate.edu/econ/jmi.html
- Heath, J., Williamson, H., Williams, L., & Harcourt, D. (2018). "It's just more personal":

  Using multiple methods of qualitative data collection to facilitate participation in research focusing on sensitive subjects. *Applied Nursing Research*, 43, 30–35.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apnr.2018.06.015">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apnr.2018.06.015</a></a>
- Heisler, W., & Bandow, D. (2018). Retaining and engaging older workers: A solution to worker shortages in the U.S. *Business Horizons*, 61(3), 421–430. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2018.01.008
- Hejjas, K., Miller, G., & Scarles, C. (2019). "It's Like Hating Puppies!" Employee disengagement and corporate social responsibility. *Journal of Business Ethics*,

- 157(2), 319–337. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-018-3791-8
- Hennink, M. M., Kaiser, B. N., & Marconi, V. C. (2017). Code saturation versus meaning saturation: How many interviews are enough? *Qualitative Health Research*, 27(4), 591–608. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316665344
- Hentrich, S., Zimber, A., Abrade, S. F., Gregersen, S., Nienhaus, A., & Petermann, F. (2017). Relationships between transformational leadership and health:

  The mediating role of perceived job demands and occupational self-efficacy. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 24(1), 34–61.

  https://doi.org/10.1037/str0000027
- Herman, H. M., Troth, A. C., Ashkanasy, N. M., & Collins, A. L. (2018). Affect and leader-member exchange in the new millennium: A state-of-art review and guiding framework. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 29(1), 135–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2017.10.002
- Herzberg, F., Mausner, B., & Snyderman, B. B. (1959). The motivation to work. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315124827
- Houghton, C., Casey, D., Shaw, D., & Murphy, K. (2013). Rigor in qualitative case-study research. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(4), 12–17. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr2013.03.20.4.12.e326
- Houghton, C., Murphy, K., Shaw, D., & Casey, D. (2015). Qualitative case study data analysis: An example from practice. *Nurse Researcher*, 22(5), 8–12. <a href="https://doi.org/10.7748/nr.22.5.8.e1307">https://doi.org/10.7748/nr.22.5.8.e1307</a>
- Hu, Z., & Qin, J. (2018). Generalizability of causal inference in observational studies

- under retrospective convenience sampling: Generalizability of causal inference in observational studies under retrospective convenience sampling. *Statistics in Medicine*, *37*(19), 2874–2883. https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.7808
- Huyghebaert, T., Gillet, N., Lahiani, F.-J., Dubois-Fleury, A., & Fouquereau, E. (2018).
  Psychological safety climate as a human resource development target: Effects on workers functioning through need satisfaction and thwarting. *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, 20(2), 169–181.
  https://doi.org/10.1177/1523422318756955
- Iivari, N. (2018). Using member checking in interpretive research practice: A hermeneutic analysis of informants' interpretation of their organizational realities, Information Technology and People, 31, 111–133.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/ITP-07-2016-0168">https://doi.org/10.1108/ITP-07-2016-0168</a>
- Irvine, A., Drew, P., & Sainsbury, R. (2013). 'Am I not answering your questions properly?' Clarification, adequacy, and responsiveness in semi-structured telephone and face-to-face interviews. *Qualitative Research*, *13*(1), 87–106. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794112439086
- Ismail, F., Arumugan, N., Kadir, A. A., & Alhosani, A. A. (2021). Impact of leadership styles toward employee engagement among Malaysian civil defense force.

  \*International Journal of Business and Society, 22(3), 1188–1210.

  https://doi.org/10.33736/ijbs.4294.2021
- Jeanson, S., & Michinov, E. (2020). What is the key to researchers' job satisfaction?

  One response is professional identification mediated by work

- engagement. *Current Psychology*, *39*(2), 518–527. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-017-9778-2
- Jena, L. K., Pradhan, S., & Panigrahy, N. P. (2018). Pursuit of organisational trust: Role of employee engagement, psychological well-being, and transformational leadership. *Asia Pacific Management Review*, 23(3), 227–234.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmrv.2017.11.001">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmrv.2017.11.001</a>
- Jensen, U. T., Andersen, L. B., Bro, L. L., Bøllingtoft, A., Eriksen, T. L. M., Holten, A. L., Jacobsen, C. B., Ladenburg, J., Nielsen, P. A., Salomonsen, H. H.,
  Westergård-Nielsen, N., & Würtz, A. (2019). Conceptualizing and measuring transformational and transactional leadership. *Administration & Society*, 51(1), 3–33. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0095399716667157">https://doi.org/10.1177/0095399716667157</a>
- Jensen, M. C. (2017). Value maximization, stakeholder theory and the corporate objective function. In J. Andriof, S. Waddock, B. Husted, & S. S. Rahman (Eds.), *Unfolding stakeholder thinking*. (pp. 65–84). Routledge.
- Jha, N., Potnuru, R. K. G., Sareen, P., & Shaju, S. (2019). Employee voice, engagement and organizational effectiveness: a mediated model. *European Journal of Training and Development*, 43(7/8), 699–718.

  https://doi.org/10.1108/EJTD-10-2018-0097
- Jiang, L., Bohle, S. L., & Roche, M. (2019). Contingent reward transactional leaders as "Good Parents": Examining the mediation role of attachment insecurity and the moderation role of meaningful work. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, *34*(4), 519–537. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-018-9553-x

- John, B., & Chadha, D. (2018). Importance of employee engagement in banking sector.

  \*International Journal of Basic and Applied Research, 8, 1171–1183.

  \*https://www.pragatipublication.com\*
- Johnson, P. (2015). Evaluating qualitative research: Past, present, and future. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management: An International Journal*, 10(4), 320–324. https://doi.org/10.1108/QROM-07-2015-1303
- Johnson, S. L. (2019). Impact, growth, capacity-building of mixed methods research in the health sciences. *American journal of pharmaceutical education*, 83(2),1–4. <a href="https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe7403">https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe7403</a>
- Jokisaari, M., & Vuori, J. (2018). Leaders' resources and newcomer socialization: the importance of delegation. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, *33*(2), 161–175. https://doi.org/10.1108/jmp-09-2016-0274
- Joo, B. K., Yoon, S. K., & Galbraith, D. (2022). The effects of organizational trust and empowering leadership on group conflict: psychological safety as a mediator. *Organization Management Journal*. 1–13.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/OMJ-07-2021-1308">https://doi.org/10.1108/OMJ-07-2021-1308</a>
- Joo, B.-K., Lim, D. H., & Kim, S. (2016). Enhancing work engagement: The roles of psychological capital, authentic leadership, and work empowerment. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, *37*(8), 1117–1134. https://doi.org/10.1108/lodj-01-2015-0005
- Joubert, M., & Roodt, G. (2019). Conceptualizing and measuring employee engagement as a role-related, multi-level construct. *Acta Commercii*, 19(1), 1–17.

## https://doi.org/10.4102/ac.v19i1.605

- Joudaki, H., Rashidian, A., Minaei-Bidgoli, B., Mahmoodi, M., Geraili, B., Nasiri, M., & Arab, M. (2014). Using data mining to detect health care fraud and abuse:

  A review of literature. *Global Journal of Health Science*, 7(1), 194–202.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.5539/gjhs.v7n1p194">https://doi.org/10.5539/gjhs.v7n1p194</a>
- Kahn, W. A. (1990). Psychological conditions of personal engagement and disengagement at work. Academy of Management Journal, 33(4), 692–724. https://doi.org/10.2307/256287
- Kahn, W. A. (1992). To be fully there: Psychological presence at work. *Human Relations*, 45(4), 321–349. https://doi.org/10.1177/001872679204500402
- Kanwal, I., Lodhi, R. N., & Kashif, M. (2019). Leadership styles and workplace ostracism among frontline employees. *Management Research Review*, 42(8), 991–1013. https://doi.org/10.1108/mrr-08-2018-0320
- Khalaf, R. K. A., Hmoud, H. Y., & Obeidat, B. (2019). Reviewing the mediating role of job satisfaction on the effect of employee engagement on organizational performance. *Journal of Social Sciences*, 8(1), 7–23.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.25255/jss.2019.8.1.7.23">https://doi.org/10.25255/jss.2019.8.1.7.23</a>
- Khodakarami, N., & Dirani, K. (2020). Drivers of employee engagement: Differences by work area and gender. *Industrial and Commercial Training*, *52*(1), 81–91. https://doi.org/10.1108/ICT-06-2019-0060
- Khuwaja, U., Ahmed, K., Abid, G., & Adeel, A. (2020). Leadership and employee attitudes: The mediating role of perception of organizational politics. *Cogent*

- Business & Management, 7(1), 1720066.
- https://doi.org/10.1080/23311975.2020.1720066
- Kim, M., & Beehr, T. A. (2020). Thriving on demand: Challenging work results in employee flourishing through appraisals and resources. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 27(2), 111–125. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/str0000135">https://doi.org/10.1037/str0000135</a>
- Kim, B., & Park, M. J. (2018). Effect of personal factors to use ICTs on elearning adoption: Comparison between learner and instructor in developing countries. *Information Technology for Development*, 24(4), 706–732. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/02681102.2017.1312244">https://doi.org/10.1080/02681102.2017.1312244</a>
- Kleine, A. K., Rudolph, C. W., & Zacher, H. (2019). Thriving at work: A meta analysis. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 40(9-10), 973–999. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2375
- Koch, L. C., Niesz, T., & McCarthy, H. (2014). Understanding and reporting qualitative Research: An analytical review and recommendations for submitting authors. *Rehabilitation Counseling Bulletin*, *57*(3), 131–143. https://doi.org/10.1177/0034355213502549
- Kowalewski, T., & Ruschoff, B. (2019). Engagement and exhaustion in healthcare: A network approach. *Career Development International*, 24(4), 383–394. https://doi.org/10.1108/CDI-01-2019-0021
- Krisnanda, P. H., & Surya, I. B. (2019). Effect of emotional and spiritual intelligence on transformational leadership and impact on employee performance. *International Research Journal of Management, IT and Social Sciences*, 6(3), 70–82.

# https://doi.org/10.21744/irjmis.v6n3.634

- Kwame, A., & Petrucka, P. M. (2021). A literature-based study of patient-centered care and communication in nurse-patient interactions: Barriers, facilitators, and the way forward. *BMC nursing*, 20(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-021-00684-2
- Lam, L. W., Xu, A. J., & Loi, R. (2018). Is emotional engagement possible in emotionally demanding jobs? The role of leader-member exchange (LMX). *Journal of Personnel Psychology*, *17*(1), 42–52. https://doi.org/10.1027/1866-5888/a000194
- Lamar, D., & Laney, B. (2017). How to keep your employees happy and productive.

  <a href="http://www.reliableplant.com/Read/18833/how-to-keepyour-employees-happy-productive">http://www.reliableplant.com/Read/18833/how-to-keepyour-employees-happy-productive</a>
- Langat, G. K., Linge, T. K., & Sikalieh, D. (2019). Influence of inspirational motivation on employee job performance in the insurance industry in Kenya. *International Journal of Research in Business and Social Science*. (2147-4478), 8(6), 01–07. <a href="https://doi.org/10.20525/ijrbs.v8i6.488">https://doi.org/10.20525/ijrbs.v8i6.488</a>
- Leão, P., & Santos, R. S. (2021). Moving research on international new ventures forward:

  A systematic review on case studies. *Internext: Revista Electrônica de Negócios Internacionais Da ESPM*, 16(2), 127–151.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.18568/internext.v16i2.6">https://doi.org/10.18568/internext.v16i2.6</a>
- Lebron, M. J., Shkoler, O., Rabenu, E., & Tabak, F. (2019). Leader-and Team-Member exchanges and their relationships with organizational and interpersonal

- counterproductive work behaviors: moderation by envy and group size in Israel and USA. *Revista de Psicología del Trabajo y de las Organizaciones*, *35*(3), 145–156. <a href="https://doi.org/10.5093/jwop2019a19">https://doi.org/10.5093/jwop2019a19</a>
- Lee, E., Kang, M., Kim, Y., & Yang, S. U. (2021). Exploring the interrelationship and roles of employee–organization relationship outcomes between symmetrical internal communication and employee job engagement. *Corporate Communications: An International Journal*, 27(2), 264–283.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/CCIJ-12-2020-0167">https://doi.org/10.1108/CCIJ-12-2020-0167</a>
- Lee, A., Thomas, G., Martin, R., & Guillaume, Y. (2019). Leader-member exchange (LMX) ambivalence and task performance: The cross-domain buffering role of social support. *Journal of Management*, 45(5), 1927–1957. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206317741190
- Lee, A., Willis, S., & Tian, A. W. (2018). Empowering leadership: A meta -analytic examination of incremental contribution, mediation, and moderation. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *39*(3), 306–325. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2220
- Lee, J. J., Patterson, P. G., & Ngo, L. V. (2017). In pursuit of service productivity and customer satisfaction: The role of resources. *European Journal of Marketing*, 51(11/12), 1836–1855. https://doi.org/10.1108/ejm-07-2016-0385
- Lemon, L. L. (2019). The employee experience: How employees make meaning of employee engagement. *Journal of Public Relations Research*, *31*(5-6), 176–199. https://doi.org/10.1080/1062726X.2019.1704288
- Leung, C., Lucas, A., Brindley, P., Anderson, S., Park, J., Vergis, A., & Gillman, L. M.

- (2018). Followership: A review of the literature in healthcare and beyond. *Journal of Critical Care*, 46, 99–104. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcrc.2018.05.001">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcrc.2018.05.001</a>
- Leuz, C. (2022). Towards a design-based approach to accounting research. *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 74(2-3), 101550.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacceco.2022.101550">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacceco.2022.101550</a>
- Lewin, K., Lippitt, R., & White, R. K. (1939). Patterns of aggressive behavior in experimentally created "Social Climates". *The Journal of Social Psychology*, 10(2), 269–299. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224545.1939.9713366
- Liao, Z., Liu, W., Li, X., & Song, Z. (2019). Give and take: An episodic perspective on leader-member exchange. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 104(1), 34–51. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000371
- Liao, E., Wong, Y. S. N., & Kong, H. (2022). Inherent or context-dependent? Untangling the dynamic nature of work passion from a latent growth modeling approach. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *138*, 103770.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2022.103770">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2022.103770</a>
- Li, H., Sajjad, N., Wang, Q., Muhammad Ali, A., Khaqan, Z., & Amina, S. (2019a).

  Influence of transformational leadership on employees' innovative work behavior in sustainable organizations: Test of mediation and moderation processes. *Sustainability*, 11(6), 1–21. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/su11061594">https://doi.org/10.3390/su11061594</a>
- Li, Y., Castano, G., & Li, Y. (2018). Linking leadership styles to work engagement: The role of psychological capital among Chinese knowledge workers. *Chinese Management Studies*, 12(2), 433–452.

## https://doi.org/10.1108/CMS-04-2017-0108

- Li, Y., Sawhney, R., & Tortorella, G. L. (2019b). Empirical analysis of factors impacting turnover intention among manufacturing workers. *International Journal of Business and Management*, *14*(4), 1–18. <a href="https://doi.org/10.5539/ijbm.v14n4p1">https://doi.org/10.5539/ijbm.v14n4p1</a>
- Lin, S. H., Scott, B. A., & Matta, F. K. (2019). The dark side of transformational leader behaviors for leaders themselves: A conservation of resources perspective. *Academy of Management Journal*, 62(5), 1556–1582. <a href="https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2016.1255">https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2016.1255</a>
- Lin, S. Y., Shanafelt, T. D., & Asch, S. M. (2018). Reimagining clinical documentation with artificial intelligence. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, *93*(5), 563–565. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp.2018.02.016
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalist inquiry. Sage Publications
- Lindgren, B. M., Lundman, B., & Graneheim, U. H. (2020). Abstraction and interpretation during the qualitative content analysis process. *International journal of nursing studies*, *108*, 103632. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2020.103632
- Lloyd, R., & Mertens, D. (2018). Expecting more out of expectancy theory: History urges inclusion of the social context. *International Management Review*, *14*(1), 24–37. https://www.usimr.org/
- Loh, J. (2015). Inquiry into issues of trustworthiness and quality in narrative studies: A perspective. *The Qualitative Report*, 18(33), 1–15.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2013.1477">https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2013.1477</a>

- Lo, M. C., Abang Azlan, M., Ramayah, T., & Wang, Y. C. (2015). Examining the effects of leadership, market orientation and leader member exchange (LMX) on organizational performance. *Engineering Economics*, 26(4). 409–421. <a href="https://doi.org/10.5755/j01.ee.26.4.7656">https://doi.org/10.5755/j01.ee.26.4.7656</a>
- Lopez, A., & Torres-Fernandez, I. (2019). Exploring the experiences of supervisors and supervisees who engaged in bilingual supervision. *The Journal of Counselor Preparation and Supervision*, *12*(1), 1–30.

  <a href="https://repository.wcsu.edu/jcps/vol12/iss1/10">https://repository.wcsu.edu/jcps/vol12/iss1/10</a>
- Lown, B. A., Shin, A., & Jones, R. N. (2019). Can organizational leaders sustain compassionate, patient-centered care and mitigate burnout? *Journal of Healthcare Management*, 64(6), 398–412. https://doi.org/10.1097/JHM-D-18-00023
- MacInnis, D. J., Morwitz, V. G., Botti, S., Hoffman, D. L., Kozinets, R. V., Lehmann, D. R., Lynch, J. G., Jr., & Pechmann, C. (2020). Creating boundary-breaking marketing-relevant consumer research. *Journal of Marketing*, 84(2), 1–23. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0022242919889876">https://doi.org/10.1177/0022242919889876</a>
- Mackay, M. M., Allen, J. A., & Landis, R. S. (2017). Investigating the incremental validity of employee engagement in the prediction of employee effectiveness: A meta-analytic path analysis. *Human Resource Management Review*, 27(1), 108–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2016.03.002
- Madan, S. (2017). Moving from employee satisfaction to employee engagement.

  \*International Journal of Research in Commerce and Management, 8(6), 46–50.

  \*https://ijrcm.org.in/article\_info.php?article\_id=7685

- Madill, A., & Sullivan, P. (2018). Mirrors, portraits, and member checking: Managing difficult moments of knowledge exchange in the social sciences. *Qualitative Psychology*, 5(3), 321–339. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000089">https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000089</a>
- Majeed, N., & Jamshed, S. (2021). Nursing turnover intentions: The role of leader emotional intelligence and team culture. *Journal of nursing management*, 29(2), 229–239. https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.13144
- Majid, U., & Vanstone, M. (2018). Appraising qualitative research for evidence syntheses: A compendium of quality appraisal tools. *Qualitative health* research, 28(13), 2115–2131. https://doi.org/10.1177/104973231878535
- Majumdar, A., & Kumar, S. (2021). Organisational and personal predictors of work engagement in India. *British Journal of Guidance & Counselling*, 49(1), 104–114. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/03069885.2020.1785392">https://doi.org/10.1080/03069885.2020.1785392</a>
- Mani, S., & Mishra, M. (2021). Employee engagement constructs: "CARE" model of engagement–need to look beyond the obvious. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 42(3), 453–466. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-08-2020-0358
- Mansoor, A., Wahab, S. A., & Jahan, S. (2021). Stimulation of innovative behavior through the inclusive leaders and engaged workers. *Business: Theory and Practice*, 22(2), 249–255. https://doi.org/10.3846/btp.2021.13363
- Manzoor, F., Wei, L., Nurunnabi, M., Subhan, Q. A., Shah, S. I. A., & Fallatah, S. (2019). The impact of transformational leadership on job performance and CSR as mediator in SMEs. *Sustainability*, *11*(2), 436. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/su11020436">https://doi.org/10.3390/su11020436</a>

- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Mascareño, J., Rietzschel, E., & Wisse, B. (2020). Leader-Member Exchange (LMX) and innovation: A test of competing hypotheses. *Creativity and Innovation Management*, 29(3), 495–511. https://doi.org/10.1111/caim.12390
- Matamonasa-Bennett, A. (2015). A disease of the outside people: Native American men's perceptions of intimate partner violence. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 39(1), 20–36. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0361684314543783">https://doi.org/10.1177/0361684314543783</a>
- Maximo, N., Stander, M. W., & Coxen, L. (2019). Authentic leadership and work engagement: The indirect effects of psychological safety and trust in supervisors. SA Journal of Industrial Psychology, 45(2019), 1–11.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.4102/sajip.v45i0.1612">https://doi.org/10.4102/sajip.v45i0.1612</a>
- McAuliffe, N., Bostain, N. S., & Witchel, A. D. (2019). The relationship between authentic leadership, trust, and engagement in library personnel. *Journal of Library Administration*, 59, 129–148.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/01930826.2018.1562822">https://doi.org/10.1080/01930826.2018.1562822</a>
- McDermid, F., Peters, K., Jackson, D., & Daly, J. (2014). Conducting qualitative research in the context of pre-existing peer and collegial relationships. *Nurse Researcher*, 21(5), 28–33. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr.21.5.28.e1232
- McGinley, S. P., Wei, W., & Gao, L. (2019). The effect of anticipated emotional labor on hotel employees' professional mobility. *Journal of Hospitality Marketing & Management*, 28(4), 491–512. https://doi.org/10.1080/19368623.2019.1532372

- McIntosh, M. J., & Morse, J. M. (2015). Situating and constructing diversity in semistructured interviews. *Global Qualitative Nursing Research*, 2, 233339361559767. https://doi.org/10.1177/2333393615597674
- McKim, C. A. (2017). The value of mixed methods research: A mixed methods Study. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 11(2), 202–222. https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689815607096
- Megheirkouni, M., Amaugo, A., & Jallo, S. (2018). Transformational and transactional leadership and skills approach: Insights on stadium management. *International Journal of Public Leadership*, 14(4), 245–259. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/ijpl-06-2018-0029">https://doi.org/10.1108/ijpl-06-2018-0029</a>
- Merlo, K. L., Wiegand, K. E., Shaughnessy, S. P., Kuykendall, L. E., & Weiss, H. M. (2020). A qualitative study of daydreaming episodes at work. *Journal of Business & Psychology*, 35(2), 203–222. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-018-9611-4">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-018-9611-4</a>
- Mikalauskas, A., Benetis, R., Širvinskas, E., Andrejaitienė, J., Kinduris, Š., Macas, A., & Padaiga, Ž. (2018). Burnout among anesthetists and intensive care physicians. *Open Medicine*, *13*(1), 105–112.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1515/med-2018-0017">https://doi.org/10.1515/med-2018-0017</a>
- Mishra, S., & Dey, A. K. (2021). Wish to craft a qualitative case study research? *South Asian Journal of Business & Management Cases*, 10(3), 239–242. https://doi.org/10.1177/22779779211052145
- Mohajan, H. K. (2018). Qualitative research methodology in social sciences and related subjects. *Journal of Economic Development, Environment and People*, 7(1), 23–

- 48. https://doi.org/10.26458/jedep.v7i1.571
- Moletsane, M., Tefera, O., & Migiro, S. (2019). The relationship between employee engagement and organizational productivity of sugar industry in South Africa:

  The employees' perspective. *African Journal of Business & Economic Research*,

  14(1), 113–134. https://doi.org/10.31920/1750-4562/2019/v14n1a6
- Moon, K., Brewer, T. D., Januchowski-Hartley, S. R., Adams, V. M., & Blackman, D. A. (2016). A guideline to improve qualitative social science publishing in ecology and conservation journals. *Ecology and Society*, 21(3), 1–20. <a href="https://doi.org/10.5751/es-08663-210317">https://doi.org/10.5751/es-08663-210317</a>
- Moon, K.-K., & Park, J. (2019). Leadership styles and turnover behavior in the US federal government: Does span of control matter? *International Public Management Journal*, 22(3), 417–443. https://doi.org/10.1080/10967494.2018.155776
- Moon, T. W., Youn, N., Hur, W. M., & Kim, K. M. (2020). Does employees' spirituality enhance job performance? The mediating roles of intrinsic motivation and job crafting. *Current Psychology*, *39*, 1618–1634.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-018-9864-0">https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-018-9864-0</a>
- Montano, D., Reeske, A., Franke, F., & Huffmeier, J. (2017). Leadership, followers' mental health and job performance in organizations: A comprehensive meta-analysis from an occupational health perspective. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 38(3), 327–350. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2124">https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2124</a>
- Morgan, H. (2022). Conducting a Qualitative Document Analysis. *Qualitative*

- report, 27(1), 64–77. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2022.5044
- Morse, J. M. (2015). Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25(9), 1212–1222. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315588501
- Morton, S., Michaelides, R., Roca, T., & Wagner, H. (2019). Increasing employee engagement in organizational citizenship behaviors within continuous improvement programs in manufacturing: The HR link. *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management*, 66(4), 650–662.

  https://doi.org/10.1109/tem.2018.2854414
- Moser, A., & Korstjens, I. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research.

  Part 3: Sampling, data collection and analysis. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1), 9–18. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375091">https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375091</a>
- Mostafa, A. M. S., & Bottomley, P. A. (2020). Self-sacrificial leadership and employee behaviors: An examination of the role of organizational social capital. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *161*(3), 641–652. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-018-3964-5">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-018-3964-5</a>
- Mostert, E. (2018). An alternative approach for socio-hydrology: Case study research. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences Discussions*, 22(1), 317–329.

  https://doi.org/10.5194/hess-22-317-2018
- Motyka, B. (2018). Employee engagement and performance: A systematic literature

  Review. *International Journal of Management and Economics*, 54(3), 227–244.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.2478/ijme-2018-0018">https://doi.org/10.2478/ijme-2018-0018</a>

- Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412995658
- Muliati, M., Dollah, S., & Baa, S. (2022). Content-based language teaching (CBLT) in ESP Courses in Indonesian higher education: A case study. *Indonesian TESOL Journal*, 4(2), 100–117. <a href="https://doi.org/10.24256/itj.v4i2.2497">https://doi.org/10.24256/itj.v4i2.2497</a>
- Mulievi, N. R., & Tsuma, E. (2021). Relationship between leadership and employee engagement in organizations today, a focus on Vihiga County government: A scoping review. *International Journal of Multidisciplinary and Current Research*, 9, 132–141. https://doi.org/10.14741/ijmcr/v.9.2.5
- Munn, J. E., & Branch, R. (2018). Air Force and civilian leaders' experiences integrating civilian information technology certification training into the military information technology certification process. *Journal of Information Technology & Economic Development*, 9(1). 1–22.
- Munthe-Kaas, H. M., Glenton, C., Booth, A., Noyes, J., & Lewin, S. (2019). Systematic mapping of existing tools to appraise methodological strengths and limitations of qualitative research: First stage in the development of the CAMELOT tool. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 19(1), 1–13.

  https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-019-0728-6
- Muswazi, M., & Nhamo, E. (2013). Note taking: A lesson for novice qualitative researchers. *Journal of Research and Method in Education*, 2(3), 13–17. <a href="https://www.iosrjournals.org">https://www.iosrjournals.org</a>
- Muturi, N. (2016). Community perspectives on communication strategies for alcohol

- abuse prevention in rural central Kenya. *Journal of Health Communication*, 21(3), 309–317. https://doi.org/10.1080/10810730.2015.1064496
- Nandi, A., & Platt, L. (2017). Are there differences in responses to social identity questions in face-to-face versus telephone interviews? Results of an experiment on a longitudinal survey. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 20(2), 151–166. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2016.1165495
- Nasir, S. Z., & Mahmood, N. (2018). A study of effect of employee retention on organizational competence. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 8(4), 408–415.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.6007/IJARBSS/v8-i4/4022">https://doi.org/10.6007/IJARBSS/v8-i4/4022</a>
- National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and

  Behavioral Research. (1979). *The Belmont Report: Ethical principles and*guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research. Washington, DC:

  U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

  <a href="https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/Belmont.html">https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/Belmont.html</a>
- Navia, J. M. A., Plazas, E. R., & Diaz, Y. C. (2019). Leadership and social responsibility from the perspective of gender. *Problems and Perspectives in Management*, 17(2), 303–312. https://doi.org/10.21511.ppm.17(2).2019.23
- Neuman, D. (2014). Qualitative research in educational communications and technology: A brief introduction to principles and procedures. *Journal of Computing in Higher Education*, 26(1), 69–86.

  https://doi.org/10.1007/s12528-014-9078-x

- Nienaber, H., & Martins, N. (2020). Exploratory study: Determine which dimensions enhance the levels of employee engagement to improve organizational effectiveness. *TQM Journal*, 32(3), 475–495.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/TQM-05-2019-0151">https://doi.org/10.1108/TQM-05-2019-0151</a>
- Nimri, M., Bdair, A., & Al Bitar, H. (2015). Applying the expectancy theory to explain the motivation of public sector employees in Jordan. *Middle East Journal of Business*, 10(3), 70–82. https://doi.org/10.5742/mejb.2015.92714
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence Based Nursing*, *18*(2), 34–35. https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2015-102054
- Northouse, P. G. (2018). *Introduction to leadership: Concepts and practice*. Sage Publications.
- Noyes, J., Booth, A., Moore, G., Flemming, K., Tunçalp, Ö., & Shakibazadeh, E. (2019). Synthesizing quantitative and qualitative evidence to inform guidelines on complex interventions: Clarifying the purposes, designs and outlining some methods. *BMJ Global Health*, *4*(Suppl 1), e000893. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2018-000893
- Nunan, D. (2020). Building and maintaining trust in research. *International Journal of Market Research*, 62(4), 393–395. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1470785320941425">https://doi.org/10.1177/1470785320941425</a>
- Obuobisa-Darko, T. (2020). Leaders' behavior as a determinant of employee performance in Ghana: The mediating role of employee engagement. *Public Organization Review*, 20, 597–611. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11115-019-00460-6">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11115-019-00460-6</a>

- O'Connor, E. P., & Crowley-Henry, M. (2019). Exploring the relationship between exclusive talent management, perceived organizational justice and employee engagement: Bridging the literature. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *156*(4), 903–917. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-017-3543-1">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-017-3543-1</a>
- Oh, J., Cho, D., & Lim, D. H. (2018). Authentic leadership and work engagement: The mediating effect of practicing core values. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 39(2), 276–290.
  https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-02-2016-0030
- Ohunakin, F., Adeniji, A. A., Oludayo, O. A., Osibanjo, A. O., & Oduyoye, O. O. (2019). Employees' retention in Nigeria's hospitality industry: The role of transformational leadership style and job satisfaction. *Journal of Human Resources in Hospitality & Tourism*, 18(4), 441–470. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/15332845.2019.1626795">https://doi.org/10.1080/15332845.2019.1626795</a>
- Olafsen, A. H., Deci, E. L., & Halvari, H. (2018). Basic psychological needs and work motivation: A longitudinal test of directionality. *Motivation and emotion*, 42, 178–189. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-017-9646-2
- Orgambídez, A., & Almeida, H. (2020). Supervisor support and affective organizational commitment: The mediator role of work engagement. *Western journal of nursing research*, 42(3), 187-193. https://doi.org/10.1177/0193945919852426
- Osborne, S., & Hammoud, M. S. (2017). Effective employee engagement in the workplace. *International Journal of Applied Management and Technology*, 16(1), 50–67. <a href="https://doi.org/10.5590/ijamt.2017.16.1.04">https://doi.org/10.5590/ijamt.2017.16.1.04</a>

- Ospina, S. M., Esteve, M., & Lee, S. (2018). Assessing qualitative studies in public administration research. *Public Administration Review*, 78(4), 593–605. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.12837">https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.12837</a>
- Othman, R. B., Rapi, R. B. M., Alias, N. E. B., Jahya, A. B., & Loon, K. W. (2019).

  Factors affecting employee engagement: A study among employees in the

  Malaysian construction industry. *International Journal of Academic Research in*Business and Social Sciences, 9(7), 784–797.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.6007/ijarbss/v9-i7/6178">https://doi.org/10.6007/ijarbss/v9-i7/6178</a>
- Ozsoy, E. (2019). An empirical test of Herzberg's two-factor motivation theory.

  \*Marketing and Management of Innovations\*, 1, 11–20.

  https://doi.org/10.21272/mmi.2019.1-01
- Pahi, M. H., & Hamid, K. A. (2016). The magic of destructive leadership: Laissez-Faire leadership and commitment to serve quality. *International Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 10(4), 602–609. <a href="https://www.econjournals.com">https://www.econjournals.com</a>
- Palinkas, L. A., Mendon, S. J., & Hamilton, A. B. (2019). Innovations in mixed methods evaluations. *Annual review of public health*, 40, 423–442. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-040218-044215
- Paolucci, N., Dimas, I. D., Zappalà, S., Lourenço, P. R., & Rebelo, T. (2018).

  Transformational leadership and team effectiveness: The mediating role of affective team commitment. *Revista de Psicología del Trabajo y de las Organizaciones*, 34(3), 135–144. https://doi.org/10.5093/jwop2018a1
- Park, S., Johnson, K. R., & Chaudhuri, S. (2019). Promoting work engagement in the

- hotel sector: Review and analysis. *Management Research Review*, 42(8), 971–990. https://doi.org/10.1108/MRR-03-2018-0126
- Park, T., & Pierce, B. (2020). Impacts of transformational leadership on turnover intention of child welfare workers. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 108, 104624. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.104624">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.104624</a>

Parr, J. M., Teo, S., & Koziol

-McLain, J. (202

of

- a model of leadership relationships, work engagement, and patient outcomes. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 77(1), 207–220. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.14583
- Parveen, M., & Adeinat, I. (2019). Transformational leadership: does it really decrease work-related stress?. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 40(8), 860–876. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-01-2019-0023">https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-01-2019-0023</a>
- Pascoe Leahy, C. (2022). The afterlife of interviews: explicit ethics and subtle ethics in sensitive or distressing qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, 22(5), 777–794. https://doi.org/10.1177/14687941211012924
- Patel, R. S., Sekhri, S., Bhimanadham, N. N., Imran, S., & Hossain, S. (2019). A review on strategies to manage physician burnout. *Cureus*, 11(6). e4805. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.4805
- Patton, S. J., Miller, F. A., Abrahamyan, L., & Rac, V. E. (2018). Expanding the clinical role of community pharmacy: A qualitative ethnographic study of medication reviews in Ontario, Canada. *Health Policy*, 122(3), 256–262. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2017.10.007">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2017.10.007</a>

- Pérez-Fuentes, M. D. C., Molero Jurado, M. D. M., Martos Martínez, Á., & Gázquez Linares, J. J. (2019). Analysis of the risk and protective roles of work-related and individual variables in burnout syndrome in nurses. *Sustainability*, *11*(20), 1–17. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/su11205745">https://doi.org/10.3390/su11205745</a>
- Petty, N. J., Thomson, O. P., & Stew, G. (2012). Ready for a paradigm shift? Part 1: Introducing the philosophy of qualitative research. *Manual Therapy*, 17(4), 267–274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.math.2012.03.006
- Pietrzykowski, T., & Smilowska, K. (2021). The reality of informed consent: Empirical studies on patient comprehension—systematic review. *Trials*, 22, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13063-020-04969-w
- Pietsch, A. S., & Lessmann, S. (2018). Topic modeling for analyzing open-ended survey responses. *Journal of Business Analytics*, 1(2), 93–116. https://doi.org/10.1080/2573234X.2019.1590131
- Pishgooie, A. H., Atashzadeh-Shoorideh, F., Falcó- Pegueroles, A., & Lotfi, Z. (2019).

  Correlation between nursing managers' leadership styles and nurses' job stress and anticipated turnover. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 27(3), 527–534.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12707">https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12707</a>
- Popping, R. (2015). Analyzing open-ended questions by means of text analysis procedures. *Bulletin of Sociological Methodology/Bulletin de Méthodologie Sociologique*, 128(1), 23–39. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0759106315597389">https://doi.org/10.1177/0759106315597389</a>
- Porter, M. E., & Lee, T. H. (2013). The big idea: The strategy that will fix health care.

- Harvard Business Review.
- Pradhan, S., Jena, L. K., & Bhattacharyya, P. (2018). Transformational leadership and contextual performance: Role of integrity among Indian IT professionals. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance*Management, 67(2), 445–462. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/ijppm-08-2016-0186">https://doi.org/10.1108/ijppm-08-2016-0186</a>
- Przytuła, S., Strzelec, G., & Krysińska-Kościańska, K. (2020). Re-vision of future trends in human resource management (HRM) after COVID-19. *Journal of Intercultural Management*, *12*(4), 70–90.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.2478/joim-2020-0052">https://doi.org/10.2478/joim-2020-0052</a>
- Puni, A., Hilton, S. K., & Quao, B. (2021). The interaction effect of transactional-transformational leadership on employee commitment in a developing country. *Management Research Review*, 44(3), 399–417.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/MRR-03-2020-0153">https://doi.org/10.1108/MRR-03-2020-0153</a>
- Rabourn, K. E., BrckaLorenz, A., & Shoup, R. (2018). Reimagining student engagement:

  How nontraditional adult learners engage in traditional postsecondary

  environments. *The Journal of Continuing Higher Education*, 66(1), 22–33.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/07377363.2018.1415635">https://doi.org/10.1080/07377363.2018.1415635</a>
- Rafiq, M., Wu, W., Chin, T., & Nasir, M. (2019). The psychological mechanism linking employee work engagement and turnover intention: A moderated mediation study. *Work*, 62(4), 615–628. https://doi.org/10.3233/wor-192894
- Rai, A. (2018). Differential relationship of challenge and hindrance demands with employee engagement: The moderating effect of job resources. *International*

- *Journal of Sociology and Social Policy, 38*(9/10), 887–906. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijssp-12-2017-0174
- Raj, R., & Srivastava, K. L. (2017). Transformational leadership and innovativeness: The mediating role of organizational learning. *Journal of Management Research*, 16(4), 201–219. <a href="https://www.sapub.com">https://www.sapub.com</a>
- Rajgopal, S. (2021). Integrating practice into accounting research. *Management Science*, 67(9), 5430–5454. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.2020.3590
- Rameshkumar, M. (2020). Employee engagement as an antecedent of organizational commitment–A study on Indian seafaring officers. *The Asian Journal of Shipping and Logistics*, *36*(3), 105–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajsl.2019.11.003
- Ranji Jafroodi, N., & Nasrollahi Moghaddam, P. (2020). The impact of perceived social responsibility on emotional commitment based on the mediating role of employee-organization compatibility, organizational identity and perceived organizational support. *Journal for Management and Development*Process, 33(3), 71–93. https://doi.org/10.52547/jmdp.33.3.71
- Rasool, S. F., Wang, M., Tang, M., Saeed, A., & Iqbal, J. (2021). How toxic workplace environment effects the employee engagement: The mediating role of organizational support and employee wellbeing. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(5), 1–17.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18052294">https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18052294</a></a>
- Rather, R. A. (2019). Consequences of consumer engagement in service marketing:

  An empirical exploration. *Journal of Global Marketing*, 32(2), 116–135.

## https://doi.org/10.1080/08911762.2018.1454995

- Ree, E., & Wiig, S. (2020). Linking transformational leadership, patient safety culture and work engagement in home care services. *Nursing Open*, 7(1), 256–264. https://doi.org/10.1002/nop2.386
- Renz, S. M., Carrington, J. M., & Badger, T. A. (2018). Two strategies for qualitative content analysis: An intra-method approach to triangulation. *Qualitative Health Research*, 28, 842–831. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732317753586
- Reuben, S., & Bobat, S. (2014). Constructing racial hierarchies of skill Experiencing affirmative action in a South African organization: A qualitative review. *SA Journal of Industrial Psychology*, 40(1), 1–12.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.4102/sajip.v40i1.1158">https://doi.org/10.4102/sajip.v40i1.1158</a>
- Ribeiro, N., Duarte, A. P., & Filipe, R. (2018). How authentic leadership promotes individual performance: mediating role of organizational citizenship behavior and creativity. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, 67(9), 1585–1607. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-11-2017-0318">https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-11-2017-0318</a>
- Riera, A., Ocasio, A., Tiyyagura, G., Krumeich, L., Ragins, K., Thomas, A., Trevino, S., & Vaca, F. E. (2015). Latino caregiver experiences with asthma health communication. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25(1), 16–26. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732314549474
- Rifa'l, M. N., Sukidjo, S., & Efendi, R. (2019). The performance of employees influenced by leadership styles and compensation. *International Journal of Multicultural and Multireligious Understanding*, 6(6), 581–587.

## https://doi.org/10.18415/ijmme.v616.1243

- Riyanto, S., Endri, E., & Herlisha, N. (2021). Effect of work motivation and job satisfaction on employee performance: Mediating role of employee engagement. *Problems and Perspectives in Management*, 19(3), 162–174. <a href="http://doi.org/10.21511/ppm.19(3).2021.14">http://doi.org/10.21511/ppm.19(3).2021.14</a>
- Robert, V., & Vandenberghe, C. (2021). Laissez-faire leadership and affective commitment: The roles of leader-member exchange and subordinate relational self-concept. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, *36*, 533–551. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-020-09700-9
- Roberts, A., Storm, M., & Flynn, S. (2019). Workplace mentoring of degree apprentices:

  Developing principles for practice. *Higher Education, Skills, and Work-Based Learning, 10*(2), 211–224. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1108/HESWBL-10-2018-0108">http://doi.org/10.1108/HESWBL-10-2018-0108</a>
- Roberts, R. E. (2020). Qualitative Interview Questions: Guidance for Novice Researchers. *Qualitative Report*, 25(9). 3185–3203
- Roessler, R., Li, J., Rumrill, P. D., Jr., & Li, H. (2019). Applying the conservation of resources theory to the psychological stress experienced by a random sample of Americans with multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Applied Rehabilitation Counseling*, 50(1), 24–40. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1891/0047-2220.50.1.24">https://doi.org/10.1891/0047-2220.50.1.24</a>
- Roller, M. (2019). A quality approach to qualitative content analysis: Similarities and differences compared to other qualitative methods. *Forum: Qualitative social research*, 20(3). <a href="https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-20.3.3385">https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-20.3.3385</a>
- Roulston, K., & Shelton, S. A. (2015). Reconceptualizing bias in teaching qualitative

- research methods. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 21(4), 332–342. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800414563803
- Runfola, A., Perna, A., Baraldi, E., & Gregori, G. L. (2017). The use of qualitative case studies in top business and management journals: A quantitative analysis of recent patterns. *European Management Journal*, *35*(1), 116–127.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2016.04.001">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2016.04.001</a>
- Saeed, M., & Mughal, Y. H. (2019). Role of transactional leadership style upon performance: Mediating role of culture. *Journal of Managerial Sciences*, *13*(1), 47–57.
- Sahu, S., Pathardikar, A., & Kumar, A. (2018). Transformational leadership and turnover:

  Mediating effects of employee engagement, employer branding, and
  psychological attachment. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*,

  39(1), 82–99. https://doi.org/10.1108/lodj-12-2014-0243
- Saks, A. M. (2021). Caring human resources management and employee engagement. *Human Resource Management Review*, *32*(3), 100835 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2021.100835
- Saks, A. M., Gruman, J. A., & Zhang, Q. (2022). Organization engagement: a review and comparison to job engagement. *Journal of Organizational Effectiveness: People and Performance*, 9(1), 20–49. https://doi.org/10.1108/JOEPP-12-2020-0253
- Saks, A. M., & Gruman, J. A. (2014). What do we really know about employee engagement? *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, 25(2), 155–182. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/hrdq.21187">https://doi.org/10.1002/hrdq.21187</a>

- Saleh, U., O'Connor, T., Al-Subhi, H., Alkattan, R., Al-Harbi, S., & Patton, D. (2018).

  The impact of nurse managers' leadership styles on ward staff. *British Journal of Nursing*, 27(4), 197–203. <a href="https://doi.org/10.12968/bjon.2018.27.4.197">https://doi.org/10.12968/bjon.2018.27.4.197</a>
- Samanta, I., & Lamprakis, A. (2018). Modern leadership types and outcomes: The case of Greek public sector. *Management Journal of Contemporary Management Issues*, 23(1), 173–191. https://doi.org/10.30924/mjcmi/2018.23.1.173
- Schaufeli, W. (2021). Engaging leadership: How to promote work engagement? *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*, 754556. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.754556
- Schaufeli, W. B., Salanova, M., González-Romá, V., & Bakker, A. B. (2002). The measurement of engagement and burnout: A two sample confirmatory factor analytic approach. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, *3*(1), 71–92. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1015630930326
- Schein, E., & Bennis, W. (1965). *Personal and Organizational Change via Group Methods*. Wiley.
- Schmidt, B., Schneider, M., Seeger, P., van Vianen, A., Loerbroks, A., & Herr, R. M. (2019). A comparison of job stress models: associations with employee well-being, absenteeism, presenteeism, and resulting costs. *Journal of occupational and environmental medicine*, 61(7), 535–544.
- Schneider, B., Yost, A. B., Kropp, A., Kind, C., & Lam, H. (2018). Workforce engagement: What it is, what drives it, and why it matters for organizational

https://doi.org/10.1097/JOM.000000000001582

- performance. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *39*(4), 462–480. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2244
- Schroeder, S., & Modaff, D. P. (2018). Exploring employee engagement through communication. *Qualitative Research Reports in Communication*, 19(1), 35–43. <a href="https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/17459435.2018.1468807">https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/17459435.2018.1468807</a>
- Segura Anaya, L. H., Alsadoon, A., Costadopoulos, N., & Prasad, P. W. C. (2018). Ethical implications of user perceptions of wearable devices. *Science and engineering ethics*, 24, 1–28. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11948-017-9872-8
- Segun-Adeniran, C. D. (2015). Leadership styles and job productivity of university library staff: Interrogating the nexus. *Library Philosophy and Practice*.
- Sekhar, C., Patwardhan, M., & Vyas, V. (2018). Linking work engagement to job performance through flexible human resource management. *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, 20(1), 72–87. https://doi.org/10.1177/1523422317743250
- Seljemo, C., Viksveen, P., & Ree, E. (2020). The role of transformational leadership, job demands and job resources for patient safety culture in Norwegian nursing homes: A cross-sectional study. *BMC Health Services Research*, 20(1), 1–8. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-020-05671-y">https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-020-05671-y</a>
- Selvarajan, T. T., Singh, B., & Solansky, S. (2018). Performance appraisal fairness, leader member exchange and motivation to improve performance: A study of US and Mexican employees. *Journal of Business Research*, 85, 142–154. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2017.11.043">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2017.11.043</a>

- Seymour, M. A. W., & Geldenhuys, D. J. (2018). The impact of team dialogue sessions on employee engagement in an information and communication technology company. *SA Journal of Human Resource Management*, *16*, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajhrm.v16i0.987
- Shahid, A. (2019). The employee engagement framework: high impact drivers and outcomes. *Journal of Management Research*, 11(2), 45.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.5296/jmr.v11i2.14612">https://doi.org/10.5296/jmr.v11i2.14612</a>
- Sharma, G. (2017). Pros and cons of different sampling techniques. *International Journal of Applied Research*, *3*(7), 749–752. <a href="https://www.allresearchjournal.com">https://www.allresearchjournal.com</a>
- Shaw, D., & Satalkar, P. (2018). Researchers' interpretations of research integrity: A qualitative study. *Accountability in Research*, 25(2), 79–93. https://doi.org/10.1080/08989621.2017.1413940
- Shawver, Z., Griffith, J. D., Adams, L. T., Evans, J. V., Benchoff, B., & Sargent, R. (2016). An examination of the WHOQOL-BREF using four popular data collection methods. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *55*, 446–454. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.09.030
- Shen, H., & Jiang, H. (2019). Engaged at work? An employee engagement model in public relations. *Journal of Public Relations Research*, *31*(1-2), 32–49. https://doi.org/10.1080/1062726x.2019.1585855
- Shuck, B., & Reio, T. G., Jr. (2011). The employee engagement landscape and HRD:

  How do we link theory and scholarship to current practice? *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, 13(4), 419–428.

## https://doi.org/10.1177/1523422311431153

- Shrestha, R. (2019). Employee engagement and organizational performance of public enterprises in Nepal. *International Research Journal of Management Science*, 4, 118–138. https://doi.org/10.3126/irjms.v4i0.27889
- Siddiqui, D. A., & Sahar, N.-u. (2019). The impact of training & development and communication on employee engagement. A study of banking sector. *Business Management and Strategy*, 10(1), 23–40.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.5296/bms.v10i1.14592">https://doi.org/10.5296/bms.v10i1.14592</a>
- Sil, A., & Das, N. (2017). Informed consent process: Foundation of the researcher-participant bond. *Indian Journal of Dermatology*, 62(4), 380–386. https://doi.org/10.4103/ijd.ijd\_272\_17
- Sim, J., Saunders, B., Waterfield, J., & Kingstone, T. (2018). Can sample size in qualitative research be determined a priori? *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 21(5), 619–634.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2018.1454643
- Singh, N., Benmamoun, M., Meyr, E., & Arikan, R. H. (2021). Verifying rigor: analyzing qualitative research in international marketing. *International marketing* review, 38(6), 1289–1307. https://doi.org/10.1108/IMR-03-2020-0040
- Siraj, N., Hágen, I., Cahyadi, A., Tangl, A., & Desalegn, G. (2022). Linking leadership to employee's performance: The mediating role of human resource management. *Economies*, 10(5), 1–21.

https://doi.org/10.3390/economies10050111

- Siswanto, S., Maulidiyah, Z., & Masyhuri, M. (2021). Employee engagement and motivation as mediators between the linkage of reward with employee performance. *The Journal of Asian Finance, Economics and Business*, 8(2), 625–633. <a href="https://doi.org/10.13106/jafeb.2021.">https://doi.org/10.13106/jafeb.2021.</a>
- Skelton, A. R., Nattress, D., & Dwyer, R. J. (2019). Predicting manufacturing employee turnover intentions. *Journal of Economics, Finance and Administrative Science*, 25(49), 101–117. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEFAS-07-2018-0069
- Skogstad, A., Hetland, J., Glasø, L., & Einarsen, S. (2014). Is avoidant leadership a root cause of subordinate stress? Longitudinal relationships between laissez-faire leadership and role ambiguity. *Work & Stress*, 28(4), 323–341. https://doi.org/10.1080/02678373.2014.957362
- Smith, B. (2018). Generalizability in qualitative research:
  Misunderstandings, opportunities and recommendations for the sport and exercise sciences. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, 10(1), 137–149.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676x.2017.1393221
- So, K. K. F., Wei, W., & Martin, D. (2021). Understanding customer engagement and social media activities in tourism: A latent profile analysis and cross-validation. *Journal of Business Research*, 129, 474–483.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.05.054">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.05.054</a>
- St. Onge, J. L., & Parnell, R. B. (2015). Patient-centered care and patient safety: A model for nurse educators. *Teaching and Learning in Nursing*, 10(1), 39–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.teln.2014.08.002

- Sun, L., & Bunchapattanasakda, C. (2019). Employee engagement: A literature review. *International Journal of Human Resource Studies*, 9(1), 63–80. <a href="https://doi.org/10.5296/ijhrs.v9i1.14167">https://doi.org/10.5296/ijhrs.v9i1.14167</a>
- Swensen, S. J., Dilling, J. A., Mc Carty, P. M., Bolton, J. W., & Harper, C. M. (2013).

  The business case for health-care quality improvement. *Journal of Patient Safety*, 9(1), 44–52. https://doi.org/10.1097/pts.0b013e3182753e33
- Tabassum, S., Pereira, F. S., Fernandes, S., & Gama, J. (2018). Social network analysis:

  An overview. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Data Mining and Knowledge*Discovery, 8(5), e1256. https://doi.org/10.1002/widm.1256
- Tarkang Mary, M. E. M., & Ozturen, A. (2019). Sustainable ethical leadership and employee outcomes in the hotel industry in Cameroon. *Sustainability*, 11(8), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11082245
- Tavory, I. (2020). Interviews and inference: Making sense of interview data in qualitative research. *Qualitative Sociology*, *43*(4), 449–465.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11133-020-09464-x">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11133-020-09464-x</a>
- Taylor, B. C., Barley, W. C., Brummans, B. H. J. M., Ellingson, L. L., Ganesh, S., Herrmann, A. F., Rice, R. M., & Tracy, S. J. (2021). Revisiting ethnography in organizational communication studies. *Management Communication Quarterly*, 35(4), 623–652. https://doi.org/10.1177/08933189211026700
- Theron, P. M. (2015). Coding and data analysis during qualitative empirical research in practical theology. *In die Skriflig/In Luce Verbi*, 49(3), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.4102/ids.v49i3.1880

- Thibault, J. W., & Kelley, H. H. (1959). *The Social Psychology of Groups*. John Wiley and Sons.
- Thiele, T., Pope, D., Singleton, A., & Stanistreet, D. (2018). Exploring the use of mixed methods in research and evaluation of widening participation interventions:
   Guidance for practitioners. Widening Participation and Lifelong Learning, 20(4), 7–38. https://doi.org/10.5456/wpll.20a.7
- Thomas, S. J. (2015). Exploring strategies for retaining information technology professionals: A case study (Doctoral study). Retrieved from ProQuest Digital Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3681815)
- Turner, P. (2020). The psychology of work and employee engagement. In Employee

  Engagement in Contemporary Organizations (pp. 113–140). Palgrave Macmillan,

  Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-36387-1\_
- Turner, P., & Turner, P. (2020). Measuring employee engagement. *Employee*engagement in contemporary organizations: Maintaining high productivity and
  sustained competitiveness, 193–222.
- Tyrer, S., & Heyman, B. (2016). Sampling in epidemiological research: Issues, hazards and pitfalls. *BJ Psych Bulletin*, 40(2), 57–60. https://doi.org/10.1192/pb.bp.114.050203
- Ugwu, F. O., & Onyishi, I. E. (2018). Linking perceived organizational frustration to work engagement: The moderating roles of sense of calling and psychological meaningfulness. *Journal of Career Assessment*, 26(2), 220–239. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1069072717692735">https://doi.org/10.1177/1069072717692735</a>

- Uhl-Bien, M., Carsten, M., Huang, L., & Maslyn, J. (2022). What do managers value in the leader-member exchange (LMX) relationship? Identification and measurement of the manager's perspective of LMX (MLMX). *Journal of Business Research*, 148, 225–240.
- U.S. Department of Labor. (2022). *Job openings and Labor turnover. February* 2022. https://www.bls.gov/jlt
- Vanclay, F. (2020). Reflections on Social Impact Assessment in the 21st century. *Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal*, 38(2), 126–131.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/14615517.2019.1685807">https://doi.org/10.1080/14615517.2019.1685807</a>
- Van der Merwe, L. (2015). The first experiences of music students with Dalcroze-inspired activities: A phenomenological study. *Psychology of Music*, *43*(3), 390–406. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0305735613513485">https://doi.org/10.1177/0305735613513485</a>
- Vaswani, N. (2018). Learning from failure: Are practitioner researchers the answer when conducting research on sensitive topics with vulnerable children and young people? *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 21(4), 499–512. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2018.1434866">https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2018.1434866</a>
- Vaughn, V. M., Saint, S., Krein, S. L., Forman, J. H., Meddings, J., Ameling, J., Winter, S., Townsend, W., & Chopra, V. (2019). Characteristics of healthcare organizations struggling to improve quality: Results from a systematic review of qualitative studies. *BMJ Quality & Safety*, 28(1), 74–84.
  https://doi:10.1136/bmjqs-2017-007573
- Vazquez, C. E. (2019). Successful work cultures: Recommendations for leaders

- in healthcare. *Leadership in Health Services*, *32*(2), 296–308. https://doi.org/10.1108/lhs-08-2018-0038
- Vogl, S. (2013). Telephone versus face-to-face interviews: Mode effect on semistructured interviews with children. *Sociological Methodology*, 43(1), 133– 177. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0081175012465967">https://doi.org/10.1177/0081175012465967</a>
- Vromen, A. (2018). Qualitative methods. *Theory and methods in political science*. Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Vroom, V. H. (1964). Work and motivation. Wiley Publication.
- Vu, H. M. (2020). Employee empowerment and empowering leadership: A literature review. *Technium: Romanian Journal of Applied Sciences and Technology*, 2(7), 20–28. <a href="https://doi.org/10.47577/technium.v2i7.1653">https://doi.org/10.47577/technium.v2i7.1653</a>
- Wagner, B., & Koob, C. (2022). The relationship between leader-member exchange and work engagement in social work: A mediation analysis of job resources. *Heliyon*, 8(1), e08793. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2022.e08793">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2022.e08793</a>
- Walden University. (2022). Research Ethics Review Process by IRB.

  <a href="https://academicguides.waldenu.edu/research-center/research-ethics/reviewprocess">https://academicguides.waldenu.edu/research-center/research-ethics/reviewprocess</a>
- Waltz, L. A., Muñoz, L., Weber Johnson, H., & Rodriguez, T. (2020). Exploring job satisfaction and workplace engagement in millennial nurses. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 28(3), 673–681. https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12981
- Wang, Y., Kung, L., & Byrd, T. A. (2018). Big data analytics: Understanding its capabilities and potential benefits for healthcare organizations. *Technological*

- Forecasting and Social Change, 126, 3–13.
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2015.12.019
- Warrick, D. (2018). The need for transformational leader that understand organization development fundamentals. *OD Practitioner*, 50(4), 33–40
- Webb, J., Williams, V., Gall, M., & Dowling, S. (2020). Misfitting the research process:

  Shaping qualitative research "in the field" to fit people living with

  dementia. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 19, 1–11.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919895926
- Whittemore, R., Chase, S. K., & Mandle, C. L. (2001). Validity in qualitative research.

  \*Qualitative Health Research, 11(4), 522–537.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/104973201129119299
- Wieneke, K. C., Schaepe, K. S., Egginton, J. S., Jenkins, S. M., Block, N. C., Riley, B.
  A., Sifuentes, L. E., & Clark, M. M. (2019). The supervisor's perceived role in Employee wellbeing: Results from the mayo clinic. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 33(2), 300–311. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0890117118784860">https://doi.org/10.1177/0890117118784860</a>
- Williams, P. (2020). The 'Collaborative personal statement': A more inclusive method of data-gathering than audio recording interviews with vulnerable people. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, *35*(4), 466–481. https://doi.org/10.1080/08856257.2019.1706256
- Williams, D. F., Chen-Bowers, N., Lankford, T., & Wolff, M. B. (2019). Designing an organizational profile to inform leadership of employee well-being.

  <a href="https://archive.hshsl.umaryland.edu/handle/10713/8849">https://archive.hshsl.umaryland.edu/handle/10713/8849</a>

- Wolcott, H. F. (1987). On ethnographic intent. *Interpretive ethnography of education: At home and abroad*, Psychology Press.
- Wolff, B. (2019). The truth about employee disengagement. *Professional Safety*, 64(2), 13–14. <a href="https://www.asse.org/professional-safety/">https://www.asse.org/professional-safety/</a>
- Wong, S. I., & Giessner, S. R. (2018). The thin line between empowering and laissez-faire leadership: An expectancy-match perspective. *Journal of Management*, 44(2), 757–783. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206315574597">https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206315574597</a>
- Woods, M., Paulus, T., Atkins, D. P., & Macklin, R. (2016). Advancing qualitative research using qualitative data analysis software (QDAS)? Reviewing potential versus practice in published studies using ATLAS.ti and NVivo, 1994–2013. Social Science Computer Review, 34(5), 597-617.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0894439315596311">https://doi.org/10.1177/0894439315596311</a>
- Worthy, K., Dawson, R. M., & Tavakoli, A. S. (2020). Relationships among nursing deans' leadership styles and faculty job satisfaction levels. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 59(2), 68–75. https://doi.org/10.3928/01484834-20200122-03
- Xie, Z., Wu, N., Yue, T., Jie, J., Hou, G., & Fu, A. (2020). How leader-member exchange affects creative performance: An examination from the perspective of self-determination theory. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11, 573793.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.573793">https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.573793</a></a>
- Xu, F., & Wang, X. (2019). Transactional leadership and dynamic capabilities:

  The mediating effect of regulatory focus. *Management Decision*, *57*(9), 2284–2306. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/md-11-2017-1151">https://doi.org/10.1108/md-11-2017-1151</a>

Yadav, L. K., Kumar, A., & Mishra, S. (2020). Can organizations leverage employer branding to gain employee engagement and reduce turnover intention?
An empirical study with organizational trust as a mediator. *Vision: The Journal of Business Perspective*, 24(4), 496–505.
https://doi.org/10.1177/0972262920943774

Yamin, M. A. Y. (2020). Examining the role of transformational leadership and entrepreneurial orientation on employee retention with moderating role of competitive. *Management Science Letters*, 313–326. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2019.8.039

- Yeong, M. L., Ismail, R., Ismail, N. H., & Hamzah, M. I. (2018). Interview protocol refinement: Fine-tuning qualitative research interview questions for multi-racial populations in Malaysia. *The Qualitative Report*, 23(11), 2700–2713. <a href="https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol23/iss11/7/">https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol23/iss11/7/</a>
- Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case study research and applications: Design and methods* (6th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Yue, C. A., Men, L. R., & Ferguson, M. A. (2019). Bridging transformational leadership, transparent communication, and employee openness to change: The mediating role of trust. *Public relations review*, 45(3), 101779.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2019.04.012">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2019.04.012</a>
- Zaech, S., & Baldegger, U. (2017). Leadership in start-ups. *International Small Business Journal: Researching Entrepreneurship*, 35(2), 157–177. https://doi.org/10.1177/0266242616676883

- Zak, P. J. (2018). The neuroscience of high-trust organizations. *Consulting Psychology Journal: Practice and Research*, 70(1), 45–58.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/cpb0000076">https://doi.org/10.1037/cpb0000076</a>
- Zareen, M., Razzaq, K., & Mujtaba, B. G. (2015). Impact of transactional, transformational and laissez-faire leadership styles on motivation: A quantitative study of banking employees in Pakistan. *Public Organization Review*, *15*(4), 531–549. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11115-014-0287-6">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11115-014-0287-6</a>
- Zeidan, S., & Itani, N. (2020). Cultivating employee engagement in organizations:

  Development of a conceptual framework. *Central European Management Journal*, 28(1), 99–118. <a href="https://doi.org/10.7206/cemj.2658-0845.18">https://doi.org/10.7206/cemj.2658-0845.18</a>
- Zhang, Q., Hu, H., & Wang, C. (2020). Negative mood and employee voice:

  The moderating role of leadership. *Social Behavior and Personality: An International Journal*, 48(1), 1–10. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.8514">https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.8514</a>
- Zhenyuan, W., Liuxu, C., Yongjia, D., & Jianghong, D. U. (2018). Supervisory mentoring and newcomers' work engagement: The mediating role of basic psychological need satisfaction. *Social Behavior and Personality: An International Journal*, 46(10), 1745–1760. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.7609">https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.7609</a>
- Zolot, J. (2017). A worsening opioid epidemic prompts action. *AJN*, *American Journal of Nursing*, 117(10), 1. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1097/01.NAJ.0000525858.52569.e6">https://doi.org/10.1097/01.NAJ.0000525858.52569.e6</a>.

### Appendix A: Interview Protocol

- 1. Introduce and provide participant(s) with a brief overview about myself.
- 2. Provide participant(s) with a consent form.
- 3. Give an overview of the consent form and respond to any questions.
- 4. Ask for consent to record the interview.
- 5. Turn on audio device to start session recording.
- 6. Provide each participate (s) with their coding identifier: Note the date and time of the interview.
- 7. Start interview beginning with question #1 continuing to final question.
- 8. Conclude the interview by thanking participants and indicate appreciation for their time.
- 9. Schedule an appointment for member checking.
- 10. Provide my contact information for additional questions or concerns.
- 11. Thank the participate (s) for their valued input in the study.

**End Interview Protocol**